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Financial Highlights
A 5 41k 22

KEY FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE FEMHERB

Year ended 31 March
HZE3A31MBLEE

Consolidated Income Statement A WE X 2024 2023 Change
2024 & 2023 F ) %
(restated)®
(ge&E5)e
Revenue (HK$'000) WA (FHETT) 53,676 86,880 (33,204) (382)
Gross profit (HK$'000) ERN(FHETT) 18,100 7,827 10,273 1313
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRETISRLAT (B1B),
(HK$'000) & A (FATT) (8,529) 8,676 (17,205) (1983)
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to 7R & 7 KA &) f& 3R
equity holders of the Company FEAh (E518), @ F
(HK$'000) (F#&mT) (7,448) 8,676 (16,124) (185.8)
Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) BREAREERF,
per share (HK$) (B8 (BT) (0.01) 0.01 (0.02) (200.0)

As at 31 March

R3A31H
Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position FEMBRRE 2024 2023 Change
2024 F 2023 F b2 %
(restated)®
(gg&EH))o
Net assets (HK$'000) BEFE(FAET) 112,792 78,288 34,504 441
Cash and cash equivalents ReEMERBRE (FET)

(HKS'000) 37,884 41,261 (3,377) (8.2)
Shareholders’ equity (HK$'000) RERER (FET) 96,308 78,288 18,020 230
KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS FEMB LR

2024 2023 Change
2024 £ 20234 b=k )
Gross profit margin® EREO 33.7% 9.0% 247
percentage points
24718 B 9B
Return on equity? RERE SR, (8.9)% 11.1% (20)
percentage points
20 & & 73 B
Current ratio (times)® MENL R (fF)0 3.0 47
Gearing ratio® BRBENHER® 0.4 0.03
0] Gross profit margin represents gross profit divided by revenue of the Group. ©) FEFEERERMEF B AA ©

2) Return on equity is defined as the ratio of profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders of the )
Company to total equity attributable to equity holders of the Company.

(3) Current ratio is defined as the ratio of total current assets to total current liabilities. (3)

) Gearing ratio represents total borrowings and convertible bond, including current and 4)
non-current portion, divided by total equity.

(5) Certain amounts are restated as per note 3 to the consolidated financial statements. (5)

MRRE @ ERAT AL RIRREEEF,(BE)
BAAR R BB R G g 2 LR -

@%m%ﬁiﬁﬁ@ﬁé%@@u%ﬁﬁ%@%z
%

EARBBELERERREAERAIBBES (BER
RIEMEN AP ) B A KB RE AR o

ETeHEERESAMBMRMEITUNES -
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

The Board hereby reports the results of Affluent Partners Holdings Limited (the
“Company’) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended
31 March 2024 (“FY24"). During FY24, the consolidated loss attributable to
equity holders of the Company was HK$7.4 million (year ended 31 March 2023
("FY23"): profit of HK$8.7 million). The loss of the Group for FY24 amounted to
HKS$8.5 million (FY23: profit of HK$8.7 million) representing a substantial
increase in loss of 197.7% as compared with the profit in FY23. The basic loss
per share was HK$0.01 (FY23: earnings per share of HK$0.01), representing a
substantial decrease of 200% as compared with that in FY23. The loss of the
Group for the FY24 was mainly due to the decrease in reversal of allowances
for expected credit losses on trade receivables and other receivables, the
increase in administrative expenses and after offset the increase in gross profits.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Pearls and Jewellery Business Segment

The Group is one of the world’s largest merchants, purchasers and processors
of pearls, with its customers spanning through 50 countries and regions
around the globe. Leveraging its own competitive advantages, which include
the close and stable relationship with customers and suppliers, the Group has
offered vertically integrated product chain and built a renowned reputation in
the pearl and jewellery industry.

The segmental revenue generated from the Pearls and Jewellery Business
Segment decreased from HK$85.2 million in FY23 to HK$50.3 million in FY24.
For FY23, the return on capital of pearls and jewellery products was 6.7% (FY23:
(2.0)%).

The Group has been looking into various materials for its jewellery design to
enrich the product collection in its pearls and jewellery business. Since last
year, the Group had purchased some jade products and planned to launch the
jade products to boost more sales and broaden the customers’ base. The
Group targets to sell the jade products to mainland China and other Asian
countries as the demand for jade products in those markets is still higher than
that in the western market.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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While the Board considers the market sentiment is continuously improving,
nevertheless, the Group will continue to strictly control costs and improve
operation efficiency and productivity in a bid to stay competitive. The Group
will continue to actively participate in various important jewellery and gem
fairs around the world when the market is recovering in order to maintain its
diversified customer base. Moreover, the Group is cooperating with a local
brand to explore the fine jewellery market. Such contribution will be happened
in the coming year.

Strategic Investment and Financial Services Segment

During FY24, the Group maintained the co-working space investment business
through the Strategic Investment and Financial Services Segment. This
segment has been in operation and its objectives include as well as other
potential investment opportunities.

Since the downturn of the economy, it has adversely affected the operation of
the co-working business, which has in turn affected the demand of co-working
space, as well as the average rental income of co-working space. In order to
reduce losses, the management of co-working business has downsized the co-
working space network in Hong Kong and the Group has disposed one
ordinary share representing entire issued ordinary share of a subsidiary which
held the relevant investment, to an independent third party, at a consideration
of HK$1, on 29 July 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Skincare Solutions Business, Research and Development
Services and Brand Marketing and Consulting Services Segment

On 29 June 2023, the Company, the vendor (the “Vendor”), the ultimate
beneficial owner of the Vendor and the guarantors entered into the sale and
purchase agreement (the “Sale and Purchase Agreement”), pursuant to
which the Vendor has conditionally agreed to sell and the Group has
conditionally agreed to acquire the sale of 100% shareholding in Tonnett Julis
Holdings Limited (the “Target Company”) and a group of companies (the
“Target Group") (the "Acquisition”). The Target Group is principally engaged
in providing scientific and pharmaceutical research and development services
and skincare solutions through self-transformed skincare brand and mid-to-
high-end functional skincare products. The Target Group is also engaged in
brand marketing and consulting service. The consideration of the Acquisition is
HKS$42.0 million, which has been satisfied as to (i) HK$10.5 million by the
allotment and issue of the consideration shares by the Company; and (ii)
HK$31.5 million by the issue of the convertible bond by the Company. The
consideration shares comprising 39,954,338 shares, represent approximately
6.25% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of the Sale and
Purchase Agreement. Upon full conversion of the convertible bond,
119,863,013 conversion shares will be issued, which represent approximately
18.75% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of the Sale
and Purchase Agreement. Pursuant to the Sale and Purchase Agreement, the
Vendor and the guarantors jointly and irrevocably guarantee to the Company
that the aggregate audited consolidated net profit for the two years ending 31
December 2024 shall not be less than HK$21.05 million.

On 8 February 2024, an extraordinary general meeting of the Company was
convened and the Shareholders approved the Acquisition and the transactions
contemplated thereunder, including the issue of the consideration shares, the
convertible bond and the conversion shares.
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On 9 February 2024, all conditions precedent set out in the Sale and Purchase
Agreement had been fulfilled and the completion took place in accordance
with the terms and conditions of the Sale and Purchase Agreement. During
FY24, upon the completion, the Company indirectly owns the entire issued
share capital of the Target Company. As such, the Target Company has become
an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and the financial results
of the Target Group will be consolidated into the Group's financial statements.
Pursuant to the Sale and Purchase Agreement, the Company (i) has allotted
and issued the 39,954,338 consideration shares at the issue price of HK$0.69
per consideration Share to the Vendor which was the closing share price at the
date of issue; and (i) has issued the convertible bond to the Vendor in the
principal amount of HK$31.5 million entitling the Vendor to convert into
maximum number of 119,863,013 conversion shares at the conversion price of
HK$0.2628 per conversion share (subject to adjustment) to satisfy the
consideration under the Acquisition.

Details of the Acquisition were disclosed in the Company's announcements
dated 11 August 2022, 10 November 2022, 29 June 2023,30 November 2023, 2
January 2024, 8 February 2024 and 9 February 2024 and the circular of the
Company dated 25 January 2024.

During FY24, the Target Group contributed revenue and results to the Group
from its skincare solutions business, research and development services and
brand marketing and consulting services business segment.

LITIGATION

As at the reporting date, the group was not involved in any other material
litigation or arbitration.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had no financial guarantee.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

PROSPECTS

Overall speaking, although the Group'’s revenue in the Pearls and Jewellery
Products segment was increased during FY23, based on the Group’s current
observation and estimation, the overall downtrend is expected to be carried
forward to a certain extent for coming years due to the change of consumption
pattern caused by the downturn. As such, the Group has introduced jade
products as materials for its jewellery products and looking for opportunities to
cooperate with others to broaden and diversify its customer base. In addition,
the Group is cooperating with another local brand to explore the fine jewellery
market. The Group has, from time to time, been looking for opportunities to
leverage its management expertise to expand its existing business to further
uncover the potential market of its ultimate female consumers.

The Group will further use its resources as a listed company to add value to the
acquisition project to increase its profitability and return. Meanwhile, the Group
will continue enhancing the development of the pearls and jewellery business,
actively participating in various important jewellery and gem fairs around the
world and optimising operation efficiency and productivity to stay competitive.

Further, during the year, the Group has completed the acquisition of the Target
Group that is principally engaged in providing scientific and pharmaceutical
research and development services, skincare solutions through self-
transformed skincare brand and mid-to-high-end functional skincare products,
as well as brand marketing and consulting services.

The Group considers that the skincare market has immense potential and there
is a product crossover between the Group's pearl products and the Target
Group's skincare products, one of the synergies being processing pearls to
become one of the ingredients in skincare products. Given the sales and
distribution of pearls and jewellery products by the Group and the sales and
distribution of skincare products by the Target Group, both primarily focus on
the female consumer market, there may bring along potential collaboration
and cross-selling opportunities which will be mutually beneficial to both
parties. The Directors believe that the Acquisition gives the Group an
opportunity to expand its existing business both vertically by using the Group's
existing pearl products as raw materials for skincare products and horizontally
by widening its range of female consumer products extending from pearl and
jewellery to skincare products.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in purchasing, processing, designing,
production and wholesale distribution of pearls and jewellery products and
operation of strategic investment and financial services, in addition with the
new principal activities engaged in the provision of skincare solutions through
self-transformed skincare brand and mid-to-high end functional skincare
products; and the provision of scientific and pharmaceutical research and
development services and the provision of branding marketing and consulting
services, which are acquired during the year.

Revenue and Gross Profit

Revenue decreased to HK$53.7 million for FY24 (FY23: HK$86.9 million),
comprised sales of pearl and jewellery of HK$50.3 million (FY23: HKS$85.2
million) and interest income on strategic investment and financial services of
HKSnil million (FY23: HK$1.7 million), and newly acquired business of skincare
solutions and scientific and pharmaceutical research and development services
and branding marketing and consulting services of HK$3.4 million (FY23: Nil).

Gross profit increased by HK$10.3 million to HK$18.1 million (FY23: HK$7.8
million). The gross profit margin during FY24 is increased mainly due to the
reversal of provision for impairment loss on inventories upon sales of those
inventories.

Selling and Administrative Expenses (the “S&A
expenses”)

S&A expenses mainly comprised selling expenses of HK$1.2 million (FY23:
HKS0.4 million) and administrative expenses of HK$27.4 million (FY23: HK$16.2
million). S&A expenses increased by HK$12.0 million or 72.3% to HK$28.6
million (FY23: HKS$16.6 million) in FY24. S&A expenses was increased during
FY24 mainly due to expenses incurred by the newly acquired business, the
professional fee for the Acquisition and the increase in salaries.
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(Loss) profit Attributable to Equity Holders of the
Company

The loss attributable to equity holders of the Company substantially increased
by HKS$16.1 million or 185.1% to HK$7.4 million in FY24 (FY23: profit of HKS$8.7
million) and the total comprehensive loss of the Group for FY24 was HK$10.6
million (FY23: total comprehensive income of HK$9.6 million) was mainly due
to decrease in the reversal of allowance for expected credit losses on trade
receivables and other receivables, net and the increase in administrative
expenses and after offset the increase in gross profit during the year as
compared to FY23.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

During the year, the Group funded its operations through a combination of
cash generated from operations, equity attributable to equity holders of the
Company, proceeds from borrowings and the issue of new shares and
convertible bond. As at 31 March 2024, the Group's total equity was HK$112.8
million (2023: HK$78.3 million), representing an increase of 44.1% from last
year.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of HK$37.9
million (31 March 2023: HK$41.3 million). Cash and cash equivalents were
mainly denominated in United States dollars, Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi.
The Group's net current assets were HK$80.3 million (31 March 2023: HK$77.8
million). The current ratio, represented by the total current assets divided by
the total current liabilities, was 3.0 (31 March 2023: 4.7).

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had outstanding borrowings of HK$4 million
(31 March 2023: HK$2 million) which is at interest rate of 6% per annum and is
scheduled to be repayable on 11 December 2024. With the available cash and
cash equivalents and cash generated from operations, the Group has adequate
financial resources to meet the anticipated future liquidity requirements and
capital expenditure commitment.
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Capital Structure

As at 31 March 2024, the total number of issued shares of the Company was
679,252,266 (31 March 2023: 639,297,928) of HKS0.02 each (the “Shares”) and
its issued share capital was HK$13,585,045 (31 March 2023: HK$12,785,959).

On 9 February 2024, the Company issued an aggregate of 39,954,338 ordinary
Shares to the Vendor, being part of the consideration for acquisition of 100%
shareholding in the Target Company. The issued price per consideration Shares
was HKS$0.69 which was the closing share price at the date of issue.

Save as disclosed above, there was no movements in either the Company's
authorised or issued share capital during the year under review.

Capital Commitments

At the end of the reporting periods, the Group had no significant commitments
outstanding, except for capital commitment for certain property, plant and
equipment of approximately HK$2,898,000.

MAJOR TRANSACTION

On 29 June 2023, the Company, the vendor (the “Vendor”), the ultimate
beneficial owner of the Vendor and the guarantors entered into the sale and
purchase agreement (the “Sale and Purchase Agreement’), pursuant to
which the Vendor has conditionally agreed to sell and the Group has
conditionally agreed to acquire the sale of a group of companies (the “Target
Group’) (the “Acquisition”). The Target Group is principally engaged in
providing scientific and pharmaceutical research and development services
and skincare solutions through self-transformed skincare brand and mid-to-
high-end functional skincare products. The Target Group is also engaged in
broad marketing and consulting service. The consideration of the Acquisition is
HK$42.0 million, which has been satisfied as to (i) HK$10.5 million by the
allotment and issue of the consideration shares by the Company; and (ii)
HK$31.5 million by the issue of the convertible bond by the Company. The
consideration shares comprising 39,954,338 Shares, represent approximately
6.25% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of the Sale and
Purchase Agreement. Upon full conversion of the convertible bond,
119,863,013 conversion shares will be issued, which represent approximately
18.75% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of the Sale
and Purchase Agreement. Pursuant to the Sale and Purchase Agreement, the
Vendor and the guarantors jointly and irrevocably guarantee to the Company
that the aggregate audited consolidated net profit for the two years ending 31
December 2024 shall not be less than HK$21.05 million.
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On 8 February 2024, an extraordinary general meeting of the Company was
convened and the Shareholders approved the Acquisition and the transactions
contemplated thereunder, including the issue of the consideration shares, the
convertible bond and the conversion shares.

On 9 February 2024, all conditions precedent set out in the Sale and Purchase
Agreement had been fulfilled and the completion took place in accordance
with the terms and conditions of the Sale and Purchase Agreement. Upon
Completion, the Company indirectly owns the entire issued share capital of the
Target Company. As such, the Target Company has become an indirectly
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and the financial results of the Target
Group will be consolidated into the Group’s financial statements. Pursuant to
the Sale and Purchase Agreement, the Company (i) has allotted and issued the
39,954,338 consideration Shares at the issue price of HK$0.69 per consideration
Share to the Vendor which was the closing share price at the date of issue; and
(i) has issued the convertible bond to the Vendor in the principal amount of
HK$31.5 million entitling the Vendor to convert into maximum number of
119,863,013 conversion shares at the conversion price of HK$0.2628 per
conversion share (subject to adjustment) to satisfy the consideration under the
Acquisition.

Details of the Acquisition were disclosed in the Company’s announcements
dated 11 August 2022, 10 November 2022, 29 June 2023, 30 November 2023, 2
January 2024, 8 February 2024 and 9 February 2024 and the circular of the
Company dated 25 January 2024.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries

Other than the above as disclosed in the section headed "MAJOR
TRANSACTION”, the Group did not have any material acquisition or disposal of
subsidiaries during FY23 and FY24.

Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates

The Group principally operates its businesses in Hong Kong and the PRC. The
Group is exposed to foreign exchange fluctuations from various currencies,
such as United States dollars and Renminbi, which were the major foreign
currencies transacted by the Group during FY23 and FY24.

Since Hong Kong dollars remain pegged to the United States dollars within a
defined range, the Group is not exposed to any significant foreign exchange
risk against the United States dollars. The Group has subsidiaries operating in
the PRC, in which most of their transactions, including revenue, expenses and
other financing activities, are denominated in Renminbi.
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The Group manages its foreign currency risk against other currencies by closely
monitoring the movement of the foreign currency rates and may use hedging
derivative, such as foreign currency forward contract, to manage its foreign
currency risk as appropriate.

Human Resources

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had a total workforce of 89 (31 March 2023: 30),
of whom 15 (31 March 2023: 17) were based in Hong Kong. The total staff
costs, including Directors’ emoluments and mandatory provident fund, was
approximately HKS$15.1 million in 2024 (2023: HK$10.1 million). Employees were
remunerated on the basis of their performance and experience. Remuneration
packages, including salary and year-end discretionary bonus, were determined
by reference to market conditions and individual performance.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s management reviews the Group's internal reporting in order to
assess performance and allocate resources. They have determined the
operating segments based on these reports. The Group is principally engaged
in purchasing, processing, designing, production and wholesale distribution of
pearls and jewellery products, the operation of strategic investment and
financial services, and the new added principal activities engaged in the
provision of scientific and pharmaceutical research and development service,
sales of functional skincare products and provision of skincare related
consultation services and provision of brand marketing and consulting services.
Accordingly, the Group has identified three operating segments — sales of
pearls and jewellery products segment; strategic investment and financial
services segment; and skincare solution, research and development services
and brand marketing and consulting services segment.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Cheung Sze Ming, aged 55, was appointed as an executive director,
company secretary and the chief financial officer of the Company on 1 April
2018. He is also an executive director and the chief financial officer of Far East
Holdings International Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 0036) since 17 February 2023, and an independent
non-executive director of Ocean Line Port Development Limited, a company
listed on the Growth Enterprise Market (GEM) Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 8502) since November 2020. Mr. Cheung is also an independent
non-executive director of (i) Great Wall Terroir Holdings Limited (stock code:
524) and (i) Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 1536), which are
both listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Cheung holds a Bachelor Degree in Accountancy from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Cheung has accumulated over 30 years’ working
experience from an international audit firm and public listed companies. He
had spent about 8 years in the international audit firm and was an audit
manager before he left the firm. Thereafter, Mr. Cheung has held different
senior positions in various public listed companies. He was an executive
director and chief financial officer of Dingyi Group Investment Limited (stock
code: 508), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, from October 2011 to March 2018.

Mr. Dong Peng, aged 36, was appointed as an executive director of the
Company on 27 October 2023. Mr. Dong occupied management roles in the
fields of corporate communications and marketing in Shanghai and Shenzhen
prior to joining the Company. Mr. Dong has been an investor relationship
director at Shanghai Dao Zhi Information Technology Co., Limited ( - & %5 %0
=2 BRI B BR A 7)) since August 2022 and was a senior consultant of
marketing department of Yunrui (Shenzhen) Information Technology Co.,
Limited (£ (R YN = B BHE B BR A @&)) from July 2020 to July 2022. He
had served as a military officer in China for 5 years prior to working in the
private sector.

Dr. Su Yaoyao, aged 41, was appointed as an executive director of the
Company on 26 March 2024. Dr. Su has been the general manager of Beijing
Baijing Biotechnology Company Limited (3t A& £ W R E R A F))
since March 2022 and was the general manager of Hangzhou Qingda Kerui
Biological Technology Co, Ltd. (471 )& A %t It & #1 £ £ B BR 2 7)) from
September 2018 to March 2022. Dr. Su graduated from Southeast University
with a bachelor’s degree in public health and PhD degree in public health in
2006 and 2012 respectively.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhu Yongjun, aged 57, was appointed as a non-executive director of the
Company on 9 September 2022. Mr. Zhu obtained his undergraduate from
Hunan University in 1989 and a master degree of business administration in
Peking University in the People’s Republic of China in 2005. Currently, Mr. Zhu
is the chairman of the board and an executive director of China Water Industry
Group Limited (Stock code: 1129) and New Concepts Holdings Limited (Stock
code: 2221) which are both listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
Also, from May 2014 to March 2020, Mr. Zhu was the chairman of the board of
Josab Water Solutions AB, a company incorporated under the laws of Sweden,
whose shares are listed on the Spotlight Stock Market, a stock exchange in
Sweden. Mr. Zhu started his environmental protection career in 2001. From
July 2007 to February 2009, Mr. Zhu was an executive director of Softpower
International Limited (Stock code: 380) which is listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. From May 2008 to March 2013, Mr. Zhu was an executive
Director of EverChina Int'l Holdings Company Limited (Stock Code: 202) which
is listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. From January 2009 to May
2015, he was also the chairman of the board of Heilongjiang Interchina Water
Treatment Company Limited (Stock Code: 600187) which is listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange.

Mr. Cheng Chi Kin, aged 56, has resigned from his role as Chairman and was
re-designated as a non-executive Director with effect from 26 March 2024. Mr.
Cheng was appointed as an executive director and the Chairman of the Board
of the Company on 27 September 2019 and 18 October 2019 respectively. He
obtained a Degree in Business Studies from University of Glamorgan in 1992
and a Master Degree in Business Administration from Cardiff Business School in
1993. He is a fellow member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of International
Accountants. He is also a Chartered Marketer of The Chartered Institute of
Marketing and a member of Institute of Management Accountants. He has
over 28 years of working experience in merger and acquisition, finance and
accounting, banking, asset management and funds operations in various
industries including real estate developments, infrastructure developments,
real estate investment trusts (REITS), securities investments and natural
resources industries. Mr. Cheng is currently an independent non-executive
director of Asiasec Properties Limited (stock code: 271), the shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Cheng was an executive director and the chief executive officer of China
Uptown Group Company Limited (stock code: 2330) from June 2022 to March
2024 and an executive director and chairman of DeTai New Energy Group
Limited (stock code: 559) from August 2021 to March 2024, the shares of both
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Cheng was an
executive director of Ming Lam Holdings Limited (formerly known as Sino
Haijing Holdings Limited) (stock code: 1106), the shares of which are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from February 2017 to August 2018. He
was also a non-executive director of IRC Limited (stock code: 1029), the shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from February
2017 to March 2020.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, aged 59, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 14 January 2022. Mr. Wong holds a Degree of Master of
Arts in International Accounting from City University of Hong Kong and a
Master's Degree of Corporate Governance from Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. He is an associate member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. Mr. Wong has extensive experience in taxation, accounting,
financing, audit field and public listed companies for many years. Mr. Wong is
currently an executive director and chairman of DeTai New Energy Group
Limited (stock code: 559), a company whose shares are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Wong is also an independent non-executive
director of (i) China Water Industry Group Limited (stock code: 1129) and (ii)
Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 1536), both companies are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Wong is also an
independent non-executive director of Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited
(stock code: 8081), a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange. Mr.
Wong was an independent non-executive director of Worldgate Global
Logistics Ltd (stock code: 8292) from June 2016 to June 2023, a company listed
on the GEM of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Chang Chunyu, aged 42, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 17 November 2022. Mr. Chang holds a PhD Degree of
Polymer Chemistry and Physics and a Bachelor's Degree of Applied Chemistry
from Wuhan University. He is a professor in College of Chemistry and Molecular
Sciences at Wuhan University. His research interests include polymer hydrogel,
nanocellulose functional materials and high-strength orthopedic medical
materials.

Mr. Lee Ka Leung Daniel, aged 65, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 29 November 2023. Mr. Lee is a certified public
accountant with practising certificate. He is the fellow member of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. Mr. Lee was the founder and managing partner of K. L. Lee &
Partners C.P.A. Limited and KLL Associates CPA Limited which were merged
with BDO Limited, Hong Kong member firm of the international accounting
network BDO in 2005. Mr. Lee retired from BDO Limited as partner in 2023. Mr.
Lee was a member of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
Hainan Committee (8 & B 1% Z& & ) during the period from 2013-2022.

Mr. Lee was an independent non-executive director of China Credit Holdings
Limited (currently named as Zensun Enterprises Limited), a company listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 185) during the period from 1994 to 2006 and
China Gas Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 384) during the period from 1997 to 2003.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Group recognises the importance of achieving the highest standard of
corporate governance consistent with the needs and requirements of its
businesses and the best interests of all of its stakeholders, and the Board is fully
committed to doing so. The Board believes that high standards of corporate
governance provide a framework and solid foundation for the Group to
manage business risks, enhance transparency, achieve high standard of
accountability and protect stakeholders' interests.

The Group has adopted a corporate governance statement of policy which
provides guidance on the application of the corporate governance principles
on the Group, with reference to the Corporate Governance Code (the "CG
Code’) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with all code
provisions as set out in the CG Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2024
and, where appropriate, the applicable recommended best practices of the CG
Code, except for the deviations disclosed below.

1. There is currently no officer carrying the title of Chief Executive Officer
("CEQ") up to the date of this report. In the absence of a CEO, the duties
of the CEO have been/will continue to be collectively undertaken by all
executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Sze Ming, Mr. Dong Peng and
Dr. Su Yaoyao. In the opinion of the Directors, the present arrangement
is effective and efficient.

2. Under code provision C.5.3 of the CG Code, notice of at least 14 days
should be given of a regular board meeting to all Directors an
opportunity to attend. During the year ended 31 March 2024, certain
regular Board meetings were convened with less than 14 days' notice to
enable the Directors to react timely and make expeditious decisions in
respect of transactions which were of significance to the Group’s
business. As a result, the aforesaid regular Board meetings were held
with a shorter notice period than required with no objection by all the
Directors. The Board will do its best endeavours to meet the requirement
of code provision C.5.3 of the CG Code in future.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”) as the code of conduct for dealing in securities of
the Company by the Directors. All Directors have confirmed, upon specific
enquiries made by the Company, that they have complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2024.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the overall management of the Group, which
includes leadership and control of the Company and oversees the Group's
businesses, strategic decisions, internal control, risk management and
performances. The management team is delegated with the authority and
responsibility by the Board for the day-to-day management of the Group. The
delegated functions and work tasks are periodically reviewed. Major corporate
matters that are specifically delegated by the Board to the management
include (1) the preparation of interim and annual reports and announcements
for the Board's approval before publishing; (2) implementation of adequate
systems of internal controls and risk management procedures; and (3)
compliance with relevant statutory and regulatory requirements and rules and
regulations. It is the responsibility of the Board to determine the appropriate
corporate governance practices applicable to the Company’s circumstances
and to ensure processes and procedures are in place to achieve the Company’s
corporate governance objectives.

The Board has maintained the necessary balance of skills and experience
appropriate for the business requirements and objectives of the Group and for
the exercise of independent judgement. The Directors with various professional
qualifications, experience and related financial management expertise have
contributed to the effective direction of the Company and provided adequate
checks and balances to safeguard to the interests of both the Group and the
shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”). Hence, the Board believes
that the current Board composition satisfies the balance of expertise, skills and
experience to the corporate governance requirements of the Group as well as
the ongoing development and management of its business activities.

The Board currently comprises three executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheung
Sze Ming, Mr. Dong Peng and Dr. Su Yaoyao, two non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Zhu Yongjun and Mr. Cheng Chi Kin and three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Mr. Chang Chunyu and
Mr. Lee Ka Leung Daniel.

The biographies of the Directors are set out in “Profile of Directors” on pages 15
to 17 of this annual report.
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The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy as well as the
operation and financial performance of the Company, and to review and
approve the Company’s interim and annual results. During the year ended 31
March 2024, 9 Board meetings were held and the attendance of each Director
at the Board meetings is set out in the section headed “Board and Committees
Meetings” of this report.

Under code provision C.5.3 of the CG Code, notice of at least 14 days should be
given of a regular board meeting to all directors an opportunity to attend.
During the year ended 31 March 2024, certain regular Board meetings were
convened with less than 14 days’ notice to enable the Directors to react timely
and make expeditious decisions in respect of transactions which were of
significance to the Group's business. As a result, the aforesaid regular Board
meetings were held with a shorter notice period than required with no
objection by the Directors. The Board will do its best endeavours to meet the
requirement of code provision C.5.3 of the CG Code in future. The Company
Secretary prepares the agenda for meetings to comply with all applicable rules
and regulations. The agenda and the accompanying Board papers are normally
sent to the Directors at least three days before the intended date of a Board
meeting. Draft minutes of each Board meeting are circulated to the Directors
for their comments before being approved. All minutes are kept by the
Company Secretary and are open for inspection at any reasonable time on
reasonable notice by any Director.

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles”), all
Directors appointed to fill a causal vacancy shall hold office only until the next
following general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-
election at the meeting. At each annual general meeting, one third of the
Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years.

Save as disclosed in the “Profile of Directors” set out on pages 15 to 17 of this
annual report, the Directors do not have material financial, business or other
relationships with one another.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Company has not had a designated chief executive officer and the
Chairman and the day-to-day management of the Group's business is handled
by the executive Directors collectively. The executive Directors are collectively
accountable to the Board for the overall implementation of the Company's
strategies and the co-ordination of overall business operations.

There is currently no officer carrying the title of CEO up to the date of this
annual report. In the absence of a CEQ, the duties of the CEO have been/will
continue to be collectively undertaken by all executive Directors, namely Mr.
Cheung Sze Ming, Mr. Dong Peng and Dr. Su Yaoyao. In the opinion of the
Directors, the present arrangement is effective and efficient.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All Directors, including non-executive Directors, appointed to fill a casual
vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting after their appointment
and be subject to re-election at that meeting; and those Directors appointed
by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the
next following annual general meeting of the Company and be eligible for re-
election.

Moreover, all non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) are appointed for an initial term of one year, which are renewable
automatically for successive terms of one year from the day immediately after
the expiry of the current terms of their respective appointments, subject to
expiration on the earlier of either (i) the conclusion of the annual general
meeting of the Company in the year of the third anniversary of the
appointment or re-election of that Director; or (i) the expiration of the period
within which the annual general meeting of the Company is required to be
held in the year of the third anniversary of the appointment or re-election of
that Director; or (iii) earlier determination in accordance with the Articles and/
or any applicable laws and regulations.
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has complied with the requirements under Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2)
and 3.10A of the Listing Rules. The Company has received confirmation of
independence from all three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Mr. Chang Chunyu and Mr. Lee Ka Leung Daniel in
accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Board has reviewed the independence of all independent non-executive
Directors and concluded that all of them are independent within the definition
of the Listing Rules. Furthermore, the Board is not aware of the occurrence of
any events which would cause it to believe that the independence of any of
the independent non-executive Directors has been impaired up to the date of
this report.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy’) in
October 2014 which was amended in December 2018. The Board Diversity
Policy sets out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The Company
recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board and sees
increasing diversity at Board level as an essential element in supporting the
attainment of the Company's strategic objectives and sustainable
development.

The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the consideration of a
number of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background and professional experience. The Company will also
take into consideration its own business model and specific needs from time
to time. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard to the benefits
of diversity on the Board.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises eight Directors, amongst
them, three are independent non-executive Directors, thereby promoting
critical review and control of the management process. The Board is also
characterized by significant diversity, whether considered in terms of age,
professional experience, skills and knowledge.

Appointment of Directors is based on meritocracy and the Board Diversity
Policy is among the criteria used in selecting members to join the Board.
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In order to achieve Board Diversity, the Company would put further emphasis
on gender balance and gender equality in future recruitments and
identification of potential candidate(s). The Nomination Committee will discuss
and agree annually on the measurable objectives, and recommend
candidate(s) to the Board for adoption. The Company decided to appoint at
least one female director on or before 31 December 2024. The Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, candidate(s) will be considered
against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board.

During the year, in respect of gender diversity at the workforce level (including
senior management), the female employee is about 52%. The Company always
strives to achieve and enhance gender diversity (in terms of gender ratio)
across all levels of the workforce so far as reasonably practicable.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

An Audit Committee has been established by the Board with specific written
terms of reference and all members of the Audit Committee are independent
non-executive Directors. Pursuant to its terms of reference, the Audit
Committee is authorised to commit the Company funds in order to obtain
advice from outside legal counsel, accountants, investigatory services or other
expert advice. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee detailing the
authority and responsibilities of the Audit Committee are available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Mr. Chang Chunyu and Mr. Lee Ka Leung
Daniel. Mr. Lee Ka Leung Daniel is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Audit Committee held 2 meetings
to review the interim and the annual results, internal control review report and
risk assessment report before their submission to the Board. The attendance of
each member of the Audit Committee is set out in the section headed “Board
and Committees Meetings” of this report.

The audit committee of the Company, which comprises three independent
non-executive Directors of the Company, has reviewed with the management
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed
the internal control, risk management and financial reporting matters including
the review of the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2024.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

A Remuneration Committee has been established by the Board with specific
written terms of reference and the majority of the members of the
Remuneration Committee are independent non-executive Directors. The terms
of reference of the Remuneration Committee detailing the authority and
responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are available on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Remuneration Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Mr. Chang Chunyu and Mr. Lee Ka
Leung Daniel, a non-executive Director, namely Mr. Zhu Yongjun and two
executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Sze Ming and Dr. Su Yaoyao. Mr. Wong
Siu Keung, Joe is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Remuneration Committee held 4
meetings to review and recommend the proposed emolument of a new
executive Director and the proposed adjustment to the emolument of an
executive Director. The attendance of each member of the Remuneration
Committee is set out in the section headed “Board and Committees Meetings”
of this report.

Details of the amount of Directors’ emoluments for the year ended 31 March
2024 are set out in note 43(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

A Nomination Committee has been established by the Board with specific
terms of reference. The Nomination Committee is responsible for, amongst
other things, identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members, considering the reappointment of the Directors and succession
planning for Directors and making recommendations to the Board in respect
of the aforesaid matters. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
detailing the authority and responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Nomination Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Mr. Chang Chunyu and Mr. Lee Ka
Leung Daniel, a non-executive Director, namely Mr. Zhu Yongjun and two
executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Sze Ming and Dr. Su Yaoyao. Mr. Wong
Siu Keung, Joe is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.
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The Board adopted a Director nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”)
on 21 December 2018 to formally set out the criteria and process on the
selection, nomination and appointment of Directors. According to the
Nomination Policy, the ultimate responsibility for selection and appointment of
Directors rests with the entire Board or the Shareholders in general meeting as
the case may be. The Board has delegated the relevant screening and
evaluation process to the Nomination Committee, which identifies suitable
candidates for directorships and recommends them to the Board. In assessing
the suitability of the proposed candidate(s), the Nomination Committee takes
into consideration the candidates’ character, integrity, personal attributes
including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge, experience and
expertise that are relevant to the Company’s business and corporate strategy,
and the ability to provide insights and practical wisdom based on those
attributes, his commitment to devoting adequate time to discharge duties as a
Board member, fulfilment of the independence requirements as set out in the
Listing Rules (for independent non-executive Directors) and diversity on the
Board. After reaching its decision, the Nomination Committee nominates the
relevant candidate(s) to the Board for approval of appointment. The Board will
make recommendation to Shareholders in respect of the proposed re-election
of Directors at general meeting.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Nomination Committee held 4
meetings to review the structure, size and composition of the Board; to assess
the independence of all independent non-executive Directors; to recommend
to the Board on the nomination of retiring Directors for re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Company; and to recommend the proposed
appointment of a new executive Director, a member of the Nomination
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee; and to
recommend the proposed appointment of the Chairman. The attendance of
each member of the Nomination Committee is set out in the section headed
“Board and Committees Meetings” of this report.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all Directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the board
remains informed and relevant.

Upon appointment, new Directors receive a comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction package covering business operations, policy and
procedures of the Company as well as the general, statutory and regulatory
obligations of being a Director to ensure that they are sufficiently aware of their
responsibilities under the Listing Rules and other relevant regulatory
requirements.

The Directors, on an ongoing basis, receive amendments to or updates on the
relevant laws, rules and regulations. In addition, the Company encourages the
Directors to enrol in a wide range of professional development courses and
seminars relating to the Listing Rules, Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and
corporate governance practices so that they can continuously improve their
relevant knowledge and skills.

All Directors have participated in continuous professional development and
provided a record of training they received for the year ended 31 March 2024
to the Company. The Company has also continuously updated the Directors
on the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements, to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness
of good corporate governance practices.

The participation by each Director in continuous professional development for
the year ended 31 March 2024 is set out below:
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Reading materials relating
to rules and/or attending
trainings and seminars

MEEERAAZMBR
Name of Director EEHA REEEIRAEE
Mr. Cheung Sze Ming RETBUE & v/
Mr. Dong Peng (appointed on 27 October 2023) FEE LA (2023910 27 HER(E) 7
Dr. Su Yaoyao (appointed on 26 March 2024) FREE LT (R204F3 206 HEZT) v/
Mr. Zhu Yongjun KBELEE v
Mr. Cheng Chi Kin (re-designated on 26 March 2024)  BB-F B2 4t A4 (FA 2024 4F 3 A 26 B EFT) v
Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe FHIKR A v/
Mr. Chang Chunyu BEMNLE v/
Mr. Lee Ka Leung Daniel FRBEE
(appointed on 29 November 2023) (R 2023F 11 H29HEZE) v/
Mr. Chiu Sin Nang, Kenny (resigned on 10 May 2023)  #8&#25E 4 (7R 202345 A 10 B ¥ F) v
Mr. Leung Alex (retired on 30 August 2023) ZIER S A (PR 2023 F 8 A 30 HIRE) v
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BOARD AND COMMITTEES MEETINGS

The individual attendance records of each Director at the general meetings
and the meetings of the Board and various Committees during the year ended
31 March 2024 are set out below:

e SEleE

EHGLAZTHRTTHR

HE24F3A3IBEFE &85 HER
BARE EFGgRSZECgR2@ERNEE
SEREFINT ¢

Audit Remuneration Nomination

General Board Committee Committee Committee
meetings meetings meetings meetings meetings
EEZ® ENZE® FMZEe® REZET
Name of Director EEgg BRAE =L =L =L =L
Mr. Cheung Sze Ming KB AE 2/2 9/9 - - -
Mr. Dong Peng (Note 1) EWE LA (M) 1/1 4/4 - - -
Dr. Su Yaoyao (Note 2) HEEE LT (i2) - - - - -
Mr. Zhu Yongjun REERAE 2/2 9/9 - 4/4 4/4
Mr. Cheng Chi Kin (Note 3) 7B A (FiiFE3) 22 9/9 - 4/4 4/4
Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe BhmEE 22 8/9 2/2 4/4 4/4
Mr. Chang Chunyu BEMELE 2/2 9/9 2/2 4/4 4/4
Mr. Lee Ka Leung Daniel (Note 4) FRB&A (H5E4) 1/1 2/2 - 1/1 1/1
Mr. Chiu Sin Nang, Kenny (Note 5) EE RS A (fifaEs) - - - - -
Mr. Leung Alex (Note 6) RIS A (Histe) /1 4/4 - - -
Notes: 5T -

(6)

Mr. Dong Peng was appointed as an executive Director on 27 October 2023.

Dr. Su Yaoyao was appointed as an executive Director on 26 March 2024.

Mr. Cheng Chi Kin has resigned as Chairman and re-designated as a non-executive Director
on 26 March 2024.

Mr. Lee Ka Leung Daniel was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 29
November 2023.

Mr. Chiu Sin Nang, Kenny resigned as an independent non-executive Director on 10 May
2023.

Mr. Leung Alex retired as an executive Director on 30 August 2023.

Apart from formal meetings, matters requiring Board approval were arranged
by means of circulation of written resolutions.

m B AR 2023F 1027 AEZ T AHITES -
@) BRI TN 202453 A6 AREEANITES -

3) B FER S A B R 20243 A 26 H BT EFE RS I
EAIERTES -

(4) ERBEER203F 1 A0BEZTABELIEHR
TEE -

=\

(5) ERE AN 2023 F 5 10 ABHIB IEMITES -

©) R 20238 A0 B REATES -

BRERSHN REESRHENEENEH
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Board is responsible for overseeing the preparation of financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2024 which gives a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Group as at 31 March 2024, and of the results and cash flows for
year then ended. In preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2024, the Board has selected appropriate accounting policies, applied
them consistently in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards which are pertinent to its operations and relevant to the financial
statements, made judgements and estimates that are prudent and reasonable,
and ensured the preparation of the financial statements on the going concern
basis.

The Group endeavours to present a balanced, clear and comprehensible
assessment of the Group's performance, position and prospects. The interim
and annual results of the Company are announced in a timely manner within
the limit of two months and three months, respectively, after the end of the
relevant periods in accordance with the Listing Rules.

The Directors have acknowledged their responsibility for preparing all
information and representation contained in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the services provided by the Company’s
auditor, Moore CPA Limited (formerly known as Moore Stephens CPA Limited),
to the Group and associated remuneration were as follows:

i) 5 B % B

EEe AR EEREHE204F3H31HLE
FEZHBRE WEEQAFHRBRALEE
MR2024F3A3NB 2 EBMRAARB E%B
EFEZ2EERBEERE - RFEREZE 2024
FIANALFEZUBRREG EECD
BIEAHEIERE  BEEELEREERE
W RFAE BT B REENERER
ZESHBR  EHBEREEZ HE &E
A WIERIEFBECEEERRMIE®RE -

AEBEHRINARERE R RATR
T BMEkEEAE ARBZRH RS
FRECHERBREMRUDO AN EEBEARER
BMEANR=EAZRMARKEASE -

EECAR HEEEEHREIFIRNER
2Q024F3ANHIEFE 2 ARBGZE BT IEIR
KA AE B R K -

12 SR B 4
BE2004F3ANBILEFE  ARAFZ2ZH

BAEREE G EBMBR AR RASE
B 2 RS M ARREBN 2 a0 T

Fees paid/payable

Services Rendered Frigfit 2 R3S e ENER
HKS$'000
FAET
Audit of financial statements EIZ B IRER 1,600
Other non-audit services H b IEEAZ RIS 656
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board acknowledges that it has overall responsibility for the design and
implementation of internal controls and risk management which covers
financial reporting, operations, compliance and risk management of the
Company, as well as continuous monitoring the effectiveness of such internal
controls and risk management. The Board has delegated such responsibility to
the management of the Company. The management, under the supervision of
the Board, has established an on-going process for identifying, evaluating and
managing significant risks faced by the Group.

The Audit Committee reviews the internal controls and risk management that
are significant to the Group on an on-going basis. The Audit Committee also
considers the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of
the Group’s accounting and financial reporting function, as well as their
training programmes and budgets.

In light of the size and scale of the Group's businesses, the Company does not
establish a separate internal audit department. The Group has engaged an
independent professional firm to conduct a review of the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control and risk management systems annually. The
independent professional firm engaged has performed a review of the
effectiveness of the internal control and risk management systems covering
the period from 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2024. The review covered all key
controls and based on inquiry, observation and analytical review procedures
supplemented by testing of transactions, reports and reconciliation. The overall
opinion on the internal control and risk management systems of the Group are
satisfactory.

The Board is satisfied that the internal control system in place covering all
material controls including financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management functions for the year under review and up to the date of
issuance of the annual report is reasonably effective and adequate.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Cheung Sze Ming, the Company Secretary is a full-time employee of the
Company. Mr. Cheung is responsible for advising the Board on corporate
governance matters. Mr. Cheung confirmed that he had taken no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training for the year under review and has
complied with the training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

e SEleE

PNl B e J B A B

EEoMABHYRARAITRIBELE RE R
EEZEEE& BIEARRXB IS AR
E-ABREERERE S HE: I[%i@%ié’?%;xi?

NEEERABREREZKY -EFEEEAA
NEIERERZRAZERE HEFEEET
EEEBECHUMRERF  ABA - FERE
BAREMEY cEXRER

ERREQRFERER
EEEARZANEZELEARER -BEXEE
%DT%J?EK%E@%&WFE%&H&A“FE
ZER BIEERERESRHN UKE
ITHEXZBIREREHEBRERSRRE

EERME AN EEM

ERAEEEBZKNRBE  AQR &
BB EE AEEEZEB IR
ES/N 7:%@%1%&&% MREKEEZR
BZBEREETRT AEEZENBLE
ES/N TE¥T2023¢4H HZE 20243 A31H
HREZATERRREREE RS2 A WIEE

TR BRRIBREMAIRER TE
REXZAH - RERYERMBRZER
BREkofiedRERF AKREABEELE

$EIE%/}L T /\ %E°

EZgEM REBEFEAREEARAFRT
HAM REANEERCREMAEARE
T BRPE KEREREEANERE
B WEBSEMEARKREH -

AT

NAMERSHELERARRZRES - K
EEABERCEEAEERAEESRMHER -

RELRER {&B’\@EEEVWETE S
1S{E/ N Z HEEREZ - W E BT EWR

BIZE 32016 2 FIFRE o



Affluent Partners Holdings Limited SEZBR AR QA

Corporate Governance Report
AR

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary
General Meeting

Pursuant to the Articles, registered Shareholders holding not less than one-
tenth (10%) of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company (the "EGM Requisitionists”) can deposit
a written request to convene an extraordinary general meeting ("EGM") to the
Board at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at Room 906,
9/F, Wings Building, 110-116 Queen'’s Road Central, Central, Hong Kong. The
EGM Requisitionists must state in their request(s) the objects of the EGM and
such request(s) must be signed by all the EGM Requisitionists and may consist
of several documents in like form, each signed by one or more of the EGM
Requisitionists.

The Company'’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong will
verify the EGM Requisitionists’ particulars in the EGM Requisitionists’ request.
Promptly after their confirmation that the EGM Requisitionists’ request is in
order, the Company Secretary will arrange with the Board to convene an EGM
by serving sufficient notice to all the registered Shareholders in accordance
with all the relevant statutory and regulatory requirements. On the contrary, if
the EGM Requisitionists’ request is verified not in order, the EGM Requisitionists
will be advised of the outcome and a EGM will not be convened as requested.

The EGM Requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one-tenth of
the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene an EGM if within
twenty-one (21) days of the deposit of the EGM Requisitionists’ request, the
Board does not proceed duly to convene an EGM provided that any EGM so
convened is held within two (2) months from the date of the original EGM
Requisitionists’ request. An EGM so convened by the EGM Requisitionists shall
be convened in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which
meetings are to be convened by the Company.

Jie 5 A A
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Procedures for Shareholders to Put Forward Proposals at
a General Meeting

There are no provisions in the Articles or the laws of the Cayman Islands for
Shareholders to move new resolutions at general meetings. Shareholders who
wish to move a resolution may request the Company to convene a general
meeting in accordance with the procedures set out in the preceding
paragraph. Shareholders can also send enquiries and proposals putting forward
for Shareholders’ consideration at Shareholders’ meetings to the Board in
writing to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong as shown
below or directly by raising questions at the general meeting of the Company.

Room 906, 9/F,

Wings Building,

110-116 Queen’s Road Central,
Central,

Hong Kong

Shareholders’ Enquiries and Proposals

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to the
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor
Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong, or call its customer service hotline at (852) 2980 1333.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general meetings
of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The public are welcomed to give their comments and make enquiries through
the Company’s website and by means of emails to the investor relations
department (email address: ir@affluent-partners.com). The management
always provides prompt responses to any such enquiries. During the year
ended 31 March 2024, there were no changes in the Company’s memorandum
and articles of association. An up-to-date consolidated version of the
Company’'s memorandum and articles of association is available on the
Company's website.

During the Year, the Company has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of our shareholders communication policy, it is concluded that
the policy has been effectively implemented.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) in December
2018. The Group considers stable and sustainable returns to the Shareholders
to be its goal. In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall take into
account, inter alia, the operating results, cash flow, financial condition and
capital requirements of the Group and the interests of the Shareholders as a
whole. The Company'’s distribution of dividends shall also be subject to any
restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and the Articles
of Association of the Company as well as all applicable laws, rules and
regulations.

The Dividend Policy allows the Board to declare special dividends from time to
time in addition to the interim and/or annual dividends. There is no guarantee
that any particular amount of dividends will be distributed for any specific
periods. The Dividend Policy will be reviewed from time to time.

By Order of the Board
Cheung Sze Ming
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 31 July 2024
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The Directors herein present their report together with the audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. During the year, the Group
was principally engaged in the purchasing, processing, designing, production
and wholesale distribution of pearls and jewellery products, operation of
strategic investment and financial services, provision of scientific and
pharmaceutical research and development service, sales of functional skincare
products and provision of skincare related consultation services and provision
of brand marketing and consulting services.

The principal activities of the Company's subsidiaries are set out in note 40 to
the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year ended 31 March 2024 by
operating segment is set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group and a discussion on the Group's future
business development during the year ended 31 March 2024 are provided in
the Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 5 to 14 of this annual
report.

Financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group are shown in
note 6 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 115 to 132 of this
annual report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using financial key
performance indicators is provided in the Financial Highlights on page 4 of this
annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with the relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on its principal activities and the
risk of non-compliance with such laws and regulations could lead to litigation,
investigations or disputes, resulting in additional costs being incurred, civil
and/or criminal proceedings and reputational damage.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group is committed to promoting an environmentally conscious work
place and aims and places significant emphasis on minimising our
environmental impact and to create a more sustainable future for future
generations.

Further discussion on the Group’s environmental issues and policies will be
contained in the Company’s Environmental, Social and Governance Report for
the year ended 31 March 2024 which will be published in due course.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in the
consolidated income statement on page 58 of this annual report. The Board
does not recommend the payment of final dividend for the year ended 31
March 2024.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the Year are set out
in the section of “Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity” in the
consolidated financial statements on page 62 of this Annual Report.

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2024 are set out in Note 42(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

At 31 March 2024, the Company had reserves available for distribution in
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Law (2020 Revision) of the
Cayman Islands amounted to HK$35,502,000 (2023: HK$3,480,000) which
represented the retained earnings/accumulated losses and share premium.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Save for disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” on pages 37

to 40 of this annual report, the Company did not enter into any equity-linked
agreements during the year ended 31 March 2024.

SHARES ISSUED IN THE YEAR

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set out in note
31 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A five-year financial summary of the Group is set out on page 200.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 March 2024 and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Cheung Sze Ming

Mr. Dong Peng (appointed on 27 October 2023)
Dr. Su Yaoyao (appointed on 26 March 2024)
Mr. Leung Alex (retired on 30 August 2023)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Zhu Yongjun
Mr. Cheng Chi Kin (re-designated on 26 March 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe
Mr. Chang Chunyu
Mr. Lee Ka Leung Daniel (appointed on 29 November 2023)

In accordance with Article 84 of the Articles, at each annual general meeting
one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general
meeting at least once every three years. Accordingly, Mr. Cheung Sze Ming and
Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe shall retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

In accordance with Article 83(3) of the Articles, Mr. Dong Peng, and Dr. Su
Yaoyao who were appointed as executive Directors and Mr. Lee Ka Leung
Daniel who was appointed as an independent non-executive Director as an
addition to the Board, shall hold office only until the next following annual
general meeting of the Company. Mr. Dong Peng, Mr. Lee Ka Leung Daniel and
Dr. Su Yaoyao, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENT

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under Article 164(1) of the Articles, the Directors shall be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or
any of them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed
duty, in their respective offices, provided that this indemnity shall not extend
to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attached to any
of them. Such permitted indemnity provision is currently in force and was in
force throughout the year end 31 March 2024,

The Company has also taken out and maintained directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance policy throughout the year, which indemnifies against costs, charges,
losses, expenses and liabilities that may be incurred by the Directors in the
execution and discharge of their duties.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 15to 17.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 43 to the consolidated financial statements, no other
contract of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries or its
holding companies was a party and in which a Director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year ended 31 March 2024.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company has been entered into or
existed during the year ended 31 March 2024.

COMPETING BUSINESSES

As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors have any interests in a
business which competes or may compete with the business of the Group or
have any other conflict of interests with the Group during the year ended 31
March 2024.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)
on 17 October 2014. As at the date of this report, the total number of shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all share options to be granted under
the Share Option Scheme (the “Options”) shall not in aggregate exceed
16,969,496 shares, being 10% of the total number of shares in issue at the date
of approval of the refreshed scheme mandate limit at the annual general
meeting of the Company on 28 September 2018 and taken in the effect of the
Share Consolidation. Under the Share Option Scheme, the Board may offer to
grant an option to any of the directors, officers, employees (including, without
limitation, those employed for a fixed term) and contract consultants (including
executive and non-executive consultants) of any member of the Group as
determined by the Board. The total number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all Options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme or any other share option schemes adopted by the Company
(and to which the provisions of chapter 17 of the Listing Rules are applicable)
must not exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in issue from time to time.
No Options may be granted under any schemes of the Company if this will
result in the limit being exceeded. The total number of shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the Options granted to each eligible participant
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding Options) under the Share
Option Scheme in any 12 month period must not exceed 1% of the shares of
the Company in issue.
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The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives to the
eligible participants to contribute to the Group and to enable the Group to
recruit and retain high-calibre employees and attract resources that are
valuable to the Group. The Board may, at its discretion, grant Options to the
eligible participants to subscribe for the shares of the Company at an exercise
price and subject to the other terms of the Share Option Scheme.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years
commencing on the adoption of the Share Option Scheme. Subject to certain
restrictions contained in the Share Option Scheme, Options may be exercised
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme and the terms of
grant thereof at any time during the applicable option period, which is not
more than 10 years from the date of grant of Options. There is no general
requirement on the minimum period for which Options must be held or the
performance targets which must be achieved before Options can be exercised
under the terms of the Share Option Scheme. However, at the time of granting
any Option, the Board may, on a case by case basis, make such grant subject to
such conditions, restrictions or limitations including (without limitation) those
in relation to the minimum period of the Options to be held and/or the
performance targets to be achieved as the Board may determine in its absolute
discretion.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, 2,161,458 Options were lapsed and no
Options were granted, exercised or cancelled. As at the date of this report, the
maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of Options yet
to be granted under the Share Option Scheme is 63,929,792, representing
approximately 9.4% of the total number of shares in issue of the Company (i.e.
679,252,266 shares).
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The movements in the Options granted under the Share Option Scheme & Z2024F3A31 B It FE » B IF A A

during the year ended 31 March 2024 are shown below: B BREEBIN TR
Number of Options
BREHE
At Granted Exercised  Cancelled Lapsed At Exercise
Name or category of 1 April during during during during 31 March Date of grant Validity period price of
participants 2023 the Year the Year the Year the Year 2024 of Options of Options Options
2023 F R FR FR FR  R2024%F B
SREZHEHER 4818 2R 217 2aEH BAX 38318 BREBRERH BRESXH TEE
HKS
BT
per share
52
Executive Directors
HITES
Mr. Leung Alex 103,083 - - - (103,083) - 29-10-2018 29-10-2019to 13.00
(retired on 30 August 2023) 2018510 A 29 H 28-10-2023
REB LA 2019108298 %
(#2035 8 A30HRE) 2023410 A28 B
103,084 - - - (103,084) - 29-10-2018 29-10-2020 to 13.00
2018510 A 29 H 28-10-2023
20200510298 %
2023410 A 28H
Mr. Cheung Sze Ming 874,561 - - - (874,561) - 29-10-2018 29-10-2019to 13.00
R HUEAE 20185 10 A 298 28-10-2023
2019108298 %
2023410 A 28 H
874,561 - - - (874,561) - 29-10-2018 29-10-2020 to 13.00
2018510 A 29 H 28-10-2023
20200510298 %
2023410 A28 H
Sub-total 1,955,289 - - - (1,955,289) -

INEE
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Number of Options
BREHE
At Granted Exercised  Cancelled Lapsed At Exercise
Name or category of 1 April during during during during 31 March Date of grant Validity period price of
participants 2023 the Year the Year the Year the Year 2024 of Options of Options Options
20235 FR FR R FR H20245F BRE
SHEEZHEIER 4A1A8 e 2% S BXA¥ 3A318 RUBREBH BREFSWH THE
HKS
BT
per share
ik
Others
Hity
Employee 51,543 - - - (51,543) - 29-10-2018 29-10-2019to 13.00
(=1 20185107298 28-10-2023
2019%10A298%
20234108288
51,542 - - - (51,542) - 29-10-2018 29-10-2020 to 13.00
20185107298 28-10-2023
2020410298 %
20234108288
51,542 - - - (51,542) - 13-12-2018 13-12-2019to 11.64
2018512 A13RH 12-12-2023
201941271382
2023128128
51,542 - - - (51,542) - 13-12-2018 13-12-2020 to 11.64
2018512 A13RH 12-12-2023
20204123138
2023128128
Sub-total 206,169 - - - (206,169 -
Ny
Total 2,161,458 - - - (2,161,458) -

st




INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2024, the interests or short positions of the Directors and the
chief executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations, within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Future Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO"), which (a) were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Division 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests and short positions which they are taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); (b) were required, pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register referred to therein; or
(c) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers ("Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules, were as
follows:
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Approximately
percentage of
Number of total number of
Number of underlying Issued shares of
Name of Director Capacity ordinary shares shares Total the Company
HAERE
ERITRG
e By
ExE8B 514 EERYE RO BE ast BOBS
Dr. Su Yaoyao ('Dr. Su”) (note i) Interest of controlled 39,954,338 119,863,013 159,817,351 23.53%
corporation (note i) (note i)
HRREt ((&EX)) () SEERER (B i) (PM=Eiii)
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Notes:

(i) The ultimate beneficial owners of Ketto Inform Limited (“Ketto"), including Dr. Su (who owns
18% interest in Ketto), have an acting in concert arrangement in terms of exercise of their
rights, pursuant to which Dr. Su exercises control over the entire voting interest of Ketto and
is thus deemed to be interested in the shares the Company held by Ketto.

(i) These shares were directly owned by Ketto in which Ketto is owned by 41 individual ultimate

beneficial owners.

(iii) These underlying shares are 119,863,013 conversion shares which will be issued and allotted
upon full conversion of the convertible bond with principal amount of HK$31,500,000 issued
by the Company to Ketto on 9 February 2024 at the initial conversion price of HK$0.2628 per
share.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” on pages 37 to
40 of this report, at no time during the year ended 31 March 2024 were rights
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of
the Company granted to any Director or their respective spouse or minor
children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or
any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to
acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions entered into by the Group during the year ended
31 March 2024 are set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements
and did not constitute connected transactions and continuing connected
transactions of the Company.

(i) Ketto Inform Limited ([ Ketto |) I S X BB A -
BB L (KB BKettoM18%HE25) » EITHER
LRNFEA BT B &S LTS
Ketto By 2 P18 42 - i B bk #18 R R Ketto FT 5 B
RN BI RO P HEERE -

(ii) Ketto E BB ZZ MR » MKetto A4 BEAARL
Baa AESR -

(i) ZEMEERHD 2119863013 R » #2024
%2 A9 H AR A] [l Ketto # 17 7N & 88 431,500,000 7
TR A RREFREEHERERTRED 7158
B& B RS 02628 T ©

O E ey s A 2 2 B

BRAREFIVE40E [BBRE 2] — 8T #H
TN B E2024F3 A3 B IEFE 2B
M HMERTTINESESa 2 RBRE
NTFRAEBARND RN ESMERSZ
R BRENETEZSEN: MARQA
FETANBERRINET LARNTHERSE
ERRAEMEMEAEE ZZSER -

NS
AEBREE204F3IANBIEFEII LY

AEALRZENGEEM B RAME A
YT BRARBZBER S MIFERERS -



SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2024, so far as the Directors are aware, the persons (other than
the Directors or chief executive of the Company), who directly or indirectly, had
interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company,
which are required to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or which will be required, pursuant to Section 336 of the
SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, were as follows:
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FEIBBE(ESFRBEGH) FHE3364K AL
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Number of Percentage of
ordinary shares  Number of the issued
Name of substantial of HK$0.02  underlying Long/short share capital
shareholder Capacity each held shares Total position  of the Company
FEEERERE EART
0.02/87T 2 ik ERTRA
TERRERHE st EBREE RO®E @it #%R BAL
(note)
(M)
Pacific Wish Limited (Note i) Beneficial owner 84,088,691 - 84088691 Long position 12.38%
BERARAF (M) ERBEAA e
Mr. Chan Vincent Wing Sing (Note i) Interest in a controlled corporation 84,088,691 - 84,088691 Long position 12.38%
BRok s 8 £ (FYEE D) REEEER HE
Ms. Hui Ka Man Emily (Note i) Interest in a controlled corporation 84,088,691 - 84088691 Long position 12.38%
ARt (M) RELEER e
Ketto Inform Limited ("Ketto") (Note ii) Beneficial owner 39954338 119863013 159,817,351 Long position 23.53%
(Note iv)
Ketto Inform Limited ([ Ketto ]) ERfAA (Bt aEiv) A
(PsE )
Dr. Su Yaoyao (‘Dr. Su’) (Note iii) Interest in a controlled corporation 39954338 119,863,013 159,817,351 Long position 23.53%
(Note iv)
FREEL ((&EL)) ki) XErE#m (Bztiv) HE
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Notes:

(iif)

(iv)

These 84,088,691 shares were directly owned by Pacific Wish Limited, which was legally and
beneficially owned by Mr. Chan Vincent Wing Sing as to 50% and Ms. Hui Ka Man Emily as to
50%. As at 31 March 2024, the board of directors of Pacific Wish Limited comprised Mr. Chan
Vincent Wing Sing and Ms. Hui Ka Man Emily.

These shares were directly owned by Ketto in which Ketto is owned by 41 individual ultimate

beneficial owners.

The ultimate beneficial owners of Ketto Inform Limited, including Dr. Su (who owns 18%
interest in Ketto), have an acting in concert arrangement in terms of exercise of their rights,
pursuant to which Dr. Su exercises control over the entire voting interest of Ketto and is thus
deemed to be interested in the shares the Company held by Ketto.

These underlying shares are 119,863,013 conversion shares which will be issued and allotted
upon full conversion of the convertible bond with principal amount of HK$31,500,000 issued
by the Company to Ketto on 9 February 2024 at the initial conversion price of HK$0.2628 per
share.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, there was no other person or
entity had interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by

the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the

Company and the Stock Exchange.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the Independent non-executive

Directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Board has assessed the independence of all the
independent non-executive Directors and is satisfied of their independence.

0] BERERAREEEEZ84088691 RRH - M
ZARARKBLTERAERLZEDREERER
A 50% K 50% ° R2024F3 A3 1A - BERER
NAIZERGHBKB LA R =R TAEK -

(ii) Ketto B ZZ M5 - MKetto 41 BEAARL
Baa ANESR -

(iif) Ketto Inform Limited SR E= B A - BIEHFE L
(HHEA Ketto M) 18% 1 5% ) « EITHBESEF T EHR
—BITEI R HE - IR BRIE IR S Ketto I B IR
HE o T AR A R Ketto T 45 A WO A R B % 9
BHEER -

(v)  ZEEED 5119863013 B AL - #57 2024
F 2 A 9B A A B Al Ketto 3 1T A £ 58 4 31,500,000 78
TLH) AR EFE R ERGRITREE - V15K
RIEARF IR02628 T ©

B EXHEEIN R2024FE38318 0 HE
Hib ALk ERERARQE KD - FHEERG sk
BEHPHEEERERARRREBE(ESFRBE
BB EBIEREATFE 2 ELMAKE
BITHMEARNRIRB I ERIORE °

BSrEPATE R Z B By
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CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in information of
the following Directors are set out below:

Name of Director Details of Changes

Mr. Cheng Chi Kin Resigned as executive director and chief executive
officer of China Uptown Group Limited (stock code:
2330) on 1 March 2024.

Resigned as executive director and chairman of
DeTai New Energy Group Limited (stock code: 559)
on 1 March 2024.

Appointed as independent non-executive director
of Asiasec Properties Limited (stock code: 271) on
16 April 2024,
Mr. Cheung Sze Ming Appointed as independent non-executive director
of Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited (stock code:
1536) on 31 January 2024.

Resigned as independent non-executive director of
Worldgate Global Logistics Ltd (stock code: 8292)
on 16 June 2023.

Mr. Wong Siu Keung Joe

Appointed as independent non-executive director
of Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited (stock code:
1536) on 31 January 2024.

Appointed as chairman of DeTai New Energy Group
Limited (stock code: 559) on 1 March 2024.

Save for the above changes, there is no other information required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee, which comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, has reviewed with the management the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and discussed the internal control, risk
management and financial reporting matters including the review of the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2024.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of purchases and sales for the year ended 31 March 2024
contributed by the Group’s major suppliers and customers respectively are as
follows:

Purchases

—  the largest supplier 19%
— five largest suppliers combined 56%
Sales

—  the largest customer 79%
— five largest customers combined 92%

None of the Directors, their associates or substantial Shareholders (which to the
knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) were interested, at any time during the year, in the Group’'s five largest
customers or suppliers.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises that employees, customers, business associates and the
local community are key stakeholders of the Group’s success. The Group strives
to achieve corporate sustainability through engaging employees, providing
quality services to customers and collaborating with business associates
(including suppliers and contractors) to deliver sustainable products and
services and support the local community.

For more detailed information, please refer to the Company’s Environmental,
Social and Governance Report for the year ended 31 March 2024, which will be
published in due course.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the Directors of the Company are recommended by the
Remuneration Committee and approved by the Board, having regard to the
Company's operating results, individual qualifications, experience, duties,
responsibility, performance and comparable market statistics.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient public
float as at the date of this report.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles, or the laws of
Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro
rata basis to existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
March 2024.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief on taxation available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holdings of the Shares. If the Shareholders are
unsure about the taxation implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of,
dealing in, or exercising of any rights in relation to the Shares, they are advised
to consult their professional advisers.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company's corporate governance practices are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report of this annual report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March, 2024 were
audited by Moore CPA Limited (formerly known as Moore Stephens CPA
Limited). A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting to re-
appoint Moore CPA Limited as the independent auditor of the Company.

By Order of the Board

Cheung Sze Ming

Executive Director
Hong Kong, 31 July 2024
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Independent Auditor’s Report
M ST AZ T

K| MOORE

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Shareholders of
Affluent Partners Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Affluent Partners
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”)
set out on pages 58 to 199, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2024, and the consolidated income statement,
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2024, and of
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Expected credit loss assessment of trade receivables

IR 4 % it = 0 (4
W W Bk < T4 B s 4R PR A

(Please refer to Notes 5, 6(b) and 21(a) to the consolidated financial statements) (35244 B TEHREN TS « 60b) & 21())

Key audit matter

HEETER

[N =27

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BEMNETNAEEEHESEE

As at 31 March 2024, the gross trade receivables of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$27,929,000 and its related
allowance for expected credit loss amounted to approximately
HK$12,892,000.

202453 A31H  EEEEKEFREEELR 27,929,000
Bk HEEESREEBBREELR128920008 T ©

The management of the Company performed periodic
assessment on the recoverability of the trade receivables and
the sufficiency of the allowance for expected credit loss.
ERmEREHEKER 2 FTREN RIEREEEEE
.2 70 B M 1T TE BT A o

For pearl and jewellery business segment, the management of
the Company estimated the amount of expected credit loss
based on provision matrix through grouping of various
customers that have similar loss patterns, after considering the
credit profile of respective customers, ageing analysis,
geographical areas, historical settlement records and on-going
trading relationships with the relevant customers.
HEREAREEBHIME » ERREERELEREEH
EPZEEBR BRI wE BETENTHERE
HAEFPHEBEESHE REBEEREERHYHANR
UBBEEA 2 Z2EPMttRBEERESRE -

For skincare solutions business segment and research and
development services segment, the management adopts
expected loss rates which are based on the corresponding
credit losses probability of a receivable progressing through
successive stages of delinquency to write-off. The loss rates are
adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to
settle the receivables.
MEERATREG S BRIABRBHLME - BEE
FNTEREBREMEARERRFERERERBRER
EHENEREEBEEMEAE - BEXGELRAE
NRB B FEERBERE TN R ERRNE
AT R ATREIE AR -

The management of the Company also considered the forward-
looking information that may impact the customers’ ability to
repay the outstanding balances as to estimate the expected
credit loss.
ERREBENMEATRHEEBREERARTERR
BERMKREREREN ZAELEER -

Our key procedures to address the matter included:

BPEEEHERCEREFEE

obtained an understanding of the Group's provision policy
on trade receivables, the key controls and procedures for
managing and monitoring the credit risk;
TR BEEBZEREFBRERELAGREERE
EEERR FEEREBRER

obtained the ageing analysis of the trade receivables and
discussed with the management of the Company about
their evaluation of the background and financial capability of
the debtors and their credit assessment that the amounts
were recoverable;

BERKERZRESN > WE ERREEEN®R
REMNEBAZE R KM BEE 1 2 50k DA K 1% 55 4
e e R 2 EERE

tested the ageing analysis of the trade receivables, on a
sample basis, to the underlying financial records and post
year-end settlements to bank receipts;

1R A B 75 A0 85 A ORI FE W B R BRI AT IR
SRIT IR R AR R SF B 1R (BT

inquired the management for the status of each of the
material trade receivables past due as at the year ended and
corroborated explanations from the management with
supporting evidence, such as understanding on-going
business relationship with customers based on the trade
records, checking historical and subsequent settlement
records of and other correspondence with the customers;
BHEEEAUNFHABCARZZEERERER
ZERW AL FBRE (NMRBEESHLBTREARTP 2
RHEEBRER REFTFPZBEREBRENCEIAR
BEFZEMBA) REEREZME
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Expected credit loss assessment of trade receivables
(Continued)

(Please refer to Notes 5, 6(b) and 21(a) to the consolidated financial statements  (;E2X B4R A B FSRERMFES ~ 6(b) % 21@)) (%)

(Continued)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BN EFOANEERBEE

Key audit matter

HEEtER

We have identified the management’s assessment of the
recoverability of the trade receivables and estimation of
expected credit loss as a key audit matter because the amounts

Our key procedures to address the matter included: (Continued)

BPREEERERCAREFEE - (8)

involved were significant and the assessment required —

significant management judgement and involved high level of
estimation uncertainty.

I A% E 1 I B FE WS SR AT W B 1T 2 AR A N TR R
EEBRBRZATRESBRENTE RASMYEHE
BEX AFHRF2EEEBFELERHBA S RSED
HERE AT

reviewed credit related information of a sample of debtors
which were compiled by the management of the Company
as part of their assessment on the recoverability of the trade
receivables;

Ry BEAREEERHEIEBACEEREER
ERBEENEERERATREMEZ —35

assessed the appropriateness of the expected credit loss
provision methodology including the identification of credit
impaired trade receivables, the reasonableness of the
grouping of trade receivables into different categories in the
provision matrix and the basis of estimated loss rates
adopted in each category; and

AETEREEBERE T ENGENL  BESMNEER
WERKEN REHEREAKERERDBERTR
BRlz aBERBERIRM AR 2 EE &

examined the key data inputs, on a sample basis, to assess
the accuracy and completeness, and challenged the
assumptions, including both historical and forward-looking
information, used to determine the expected credit loss.
MRS 2 E ABBUGT M EERMERTEY - I
ERARNETCHRBEEBENRRER (BREEL KATE
HEH) -

51



Affluent Partners Holdings Limited #E % ER 2 A

Independent Auditor’s Report

WrAZ R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Net realisable value of inventories

(Please refer to Notes 5 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements)

Key audit matter

HMEEER

o0 st 7 Wt 0 ()
1755 W] 4 B A

(nﬁ/ﬁﬂlﬂ'\/\ﬁﬁfkﬁﬁmiuf5& )

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EMNEFONNEERBEE

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s inventories amounted to
approximately HK$44,340,000 and the reversal of provision for
impairment losses on inventories of approximately
HK$12,840,000 was recognised by the Group in the
consolidated profit or loss for the year.

2024F3A31H - BEEEZFEXIR44,340,0008 7T °
BFEREBEREREL12840008TH EEERN
REEFEBRPHER -

The management of the Company assessed the provision for
obsolete or slow-moving inventories taking into consideration
of inventory ageing, condition of inventories, historical and
current sales information, as well as different market factors
impacting the selling price of these inventories. In addition, the
management of the Company considered the changes in
prevailing market condition, expected market trends and
customer demands.
ERAIEREMNERENFHFTERE UKERTFE
Bk - FEMR BERBAIHEER URTEZSE
FEEEZTEMBEE - 1t - ?/“TEEEE%F
BITHR BHEHSBEREFHE Rz

We have identified the management’s impairment assessment
of the provision for obsolete or slow-moving inventories as a
key audit matter because the amounts of inventories were
significant and the assessment required significant
management judgement and involved high level of estimation
uncertainty.

HMEHEREBHRESFHTEREET ZRENK
BERABEREAFEE REASAFESEEBEAN BEF#A
HEFR2EREELEAHB Y S hEE AT HEENE -

Our key procedures to address the matter included:

BPEEEHFACHEREFBE

obtained understanding of, and evaluated, the Group's
provision policy on inventories;

TEEFHE BEREZFEREBRR

reviewed and assessed the management’s process of the
identification of obsolete or out-dated inventories and
estimation of the net realisable value of these inventories;
B RAEEREMRPIRESBIMETE 2 REREZ
EEEREIFE A

tested the purchase cost, selling price and margins of aged
and obsolete inventories, on sample basis, to the supporting
documents;
HERXHERIBHERETE 2 RBRA -
EDEIVE

reviewed and evaluated net realisable value of inventories,
on sample basis, with reference to subsequent sales
information, the external price data and estimated costs to
be incurred to make the sale and performed testing, on a
sample basis, by tracing to the supporting documents; and
Mk R EE 2T # R RE (K2REARHE
BHF - SNERE AR BUR &Lﬁfﬁ%ﬁﬁixiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ)
I 335 38 36 W 78 BA X AT H ARl
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Net realisable value of inventories (Continued)

(Please refer to Notes 5 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements)

(Continued)

Key audit matter

BEETER
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

BEMHEFTNAEERREE

Our key procedures to address the matter included: (Continued)

BPEEERERcEREFEE : (B)

selected samples of jewellery items held by the Group as at
31 March 2024, comprising items of different nature, ageing
profiles and price for gemmological appraisal carried out by
gemmologists engaged by the Group to verify their
authenticity and assess their conditions and valuations as at
31 March 2024. We also engaged an independent
gemologist as auditor's expert to assess the authenticity and
evaluate the net realisable value of the selected items
assessed and valued by the gemologists engaged by the
Group. In addition, we evaluated the objectivity,
independence and competency of the independent

gemologists.
BOmMERET SEBER2024F3 831 B ZI
EEm BREITAME FAMEEBENER N

# EREZBCELERETEREE  REHEA
7% B AT AR B AROR A 522024 F 3 A 31 H Z B 1E » FAPI TR
ZRAT - 2BIUBOLERERZBEZESR - UGF
HMEBEURTE EXEZBZELERMF[MZIE
BEEMZAEIFE - IS RAFEBLIELE
RZEBIE BIMRER -
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included in the annual report
for the year ended 31 March 2024 of the Group other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The audit committee of the Company assists the directors of the Company in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process.
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AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
alsor

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors of the Company.

M ST AT

B B Bl g 7 WA U R AR
HAE

BMZBR EHGEAVBRABERST T
TR B R EF S SR T G Bz E R R
REAERE LHAHARMREZET
EZHEGRERNEBRRERER Z2ZH
MR - BRULASNRIRE AT BIEE MR o
BB AR A REATHEMEMBALTAE
FEEEE - ERERGKFRE - EF
EERERBEBBRITERNETZRIER—
BERHERRAFERFARES - SHRERA
MEFFREERR SR - AR A A E RN E
BAETERAMBBRRERERFBELER
BMBMERAEL ZEBRTE - M AREER
RO AT ARVEE K o

ERBEEEETEAETET 2BES -
PEREEHERRIFERERER - &M
I

B R RN EFFR B R M E RS
M mRFEERHERRAZ BE
AARMITERAEFARYZEAR
REBGE R MEE 2 ERHBRE - FRHK
PMERZEM HRRFAES KPR
woREFEER ERRAKBY
MERES] - BARRERREARFMERS
REEREUR 2 R =R AR IR A R
B E AR 2 AR -

2R O

TERERF A 2 NEMER] - URFTE
BFRABATEBEE 2EH T BEN
WiEs BEEEASEHNZBEREEER
BR-

AHE BRTEEMRAEITEEZN
BEUHNARFELH A REBEREZS
EHE -



Affluent Partners Holdings Limited SEZR AR QA

Independent Auditor’s Report

WrAZ R

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors, use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats of safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Moore CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Leung Yu Ngong
Practising Certificate Number: P06734

Hong Kong, 31 July 2024
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For the year ended 31 March 2024  #({Z2024F3A31 A ILFE

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
s FET FET
(restated Note 3)
(&E - MI5E3)

Revenue A 7 53,676 86,880
Cost of revenue L gNZN (35,576) (79,053)
Gross profit EH 18,100 7,827
Other gains/(losses), net Hap ezt (E8) 55 9 484 (1512)
Reversal of allowance for expected credit losses %[O fEU E R 2 FBEZE

("ECL") on trade receivables, net EE (AR EEEE])

Rt HH 21(a) 413 4,879

(Provision for)/reversal of allowance for ECL  (5H1E), /B @ E fh EW AR Zk 2

on other receivables, net TEHEEBEEE T8 21(b) (12) 14,909
Reversal of allowance for ECL on BOoHMEeEREESEBRY

other deposit, net R - FR8 8 2 -
Selling expenses HERX (1,214) (361)
Administrative expenses TR X (27,349) (16,254)
Operating (loss)/profit 2B (B18),/ 87 (9,576) 9,488
Finance income B s e 32 1,323 217
Finance costs B 7 A AR 32 (276) (1,029)
Finance income/(costs), net ErsiEs(BAR) - 558 1,047 (812)
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRETERIA (BE),HA 10 (8,529) 8676
Income tax expense Frigif = 12 (16) -
(Loss)/profit for the year REE (BB &F (8,545) 8676
(Loss)/profit for the year attributableto: LA T A L FE{L (B18),E7 :

Owners of the Company RRBERA (7,448) 8676

Non-controlling interests FEPEAR M (1,097) =

(8,545) 8,676

(Loss)/earnings per share BR (BE) B
Basic and diluted ERNEE 13 (HK$0.013& 7T) HK$0.01 /87T
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE2024F3A31 B IFFE

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

(restated Note 3)
(Je&E% - 5E3)

(Loss)/profit for the year RNEE (E518), %7 (8,545) 8,676
Other comprehensive (expense)/income: Hib2m (Fx), MW
Item that may be subsequently reclassified to ,E\f #REE P E B 2 THH

profit or loss

— Exchange difference on translation of —HRESINEBIBREZ

financial statements of foreign operations E R Z% (2,100) 973

Other comprehensive (expense)/income AEEHEMEE FAX) KE

for the year, net of tax BRBREE (2,100) 973
Total comprehensive (expense)/income AEEXEFEX)WEBE

for the year (10,645) 9,649
Total comprehensive (expense)/income UTALEEZE (X)W

for the year attributable to: R

Owners of the Company ZAN/NEIEZ ZS DN (9,548) 9,649

Non-controlling interests FEIE MR T (1,097) -

(10,645) 9,649
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o B AR DL AR

As at 31 March 2024 720243 H31H

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FTEx FHET
(restated Note 3)
(5e&E% - f5E3)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W BERERE 15 6,839 247
Intangible assets B EE 16 7,346 -
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 17 1,944 732
Goodwill e 18 48,363 -
Prepayments SEENEGE] 21(b) 10,954 -
Financial asset at fair value through BAVEFAEMEZAE
other comprehensive income W REE 33 = -
Deferred tax assets EEFIAE E 34 36 -
75,482 979
Current assets REEE
Inventories VeSS 19 44,340 44,611
Costs to fulfil contracts ERE BRI KR 20 30 -
Trade and other receivables, deposits JE M R I A FE AR BR R
and prepayments & MIER A 21 38,212 13,000
Contract assets EREE 22 854 -
Cash and cash equivalents RehERBES 23 37,884 41,261
121,320 98,872
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables and accruals JE A R R HL At FE ST BR R
K et E A 24 24,180 18318
Contract liabilities aHaE 25 4,753 -
Lease liabilities HERE 26 1,112 758
Bank borrowings RITIE K 27 5,421 -
Other borrowings E A fE R 28 4,000 2,000
Tax payable FE IR 1,528 =
40,994 21,076
Net current assets REBEEFE 80,326 77,796
Total assets less current liabilities HWEERRBAEE 155,808 78,775
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Asat 31 March 2024 7202493 831H

2024 2023
2024 & 2023 4F
Notes HK$’000 HKS$'000
M FExT FAETT
(restated Note 3)
(EZ - HI5E3)
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Lease liabilities HEA8E 26 948 -
Convertible bond BRI E 29 39,712 -
Defined benefits plan obligations ATEHNTEER 30 466 487
Deferred tax liabilities EEHIBEAE 34 1,890 -
43,016 487
Net assets EEFE 112,792 78,288
EQUITY =
Share capital fi& 7 31 13,585 12,786
Reserves T 82,723 65,502
Equity attributable to equity holders RAGERFER ARG ER
of the Company 96,308 78,288
Non-controlling interests FETEAR e 16,484 -
Total equity HiER 112,792 78,288

These consolidated financial statements on pages 58 to 199 were approved
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31 July 2024 and are

signed on its behalf by:

Cheung Sze Ming
RS
Executive Director

HITEE

FSSEIVHME L ZEGRAUBRERER
204F7ANHEZEST S E LIRET)
TETINESRERZE

Su Yaoyao
B R
Executive Director

HITEE



62

Affluent Partners Holdings Limited SEZR AR QA

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 March 2024  #({Z2024F3A31 A ILFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

RATARRES
Share Non-
Share Share  Translation option  Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
S B17EE EifieE BRERE E5 | By FERER ags
(Note 31) (Note a) (Note b) (Note ¢) (Note d)
(ME31) (Ftita) (Fittb) (o) GiE)
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
Tz T T FER TR T Tz T
Balances at 1 Apri 2022 RanE4R182
E 6393 592751 2547 8753 (569483) 35867 - 35,867
Profit for the year REERT
(as previously reported) (SRIFTERE) - - - - 8726 8,726 - 8726
Other comprehensive income: E2EYE :
Exchange difference on translation BB INE BB
of financial statements of FRCERER
foreign operations - - 973 - - 973 - 973
Total comprehensive incomefor N[ 2 E iz
the year (as previously reported) 438 (L ATFTEH ) - - 973 - 8726 9699 - 969
Adoption of abolition of the MPF RAAFUERES BR
and LSP offsetting mechanism BR S H R
(defined in Note 3) (F&ERME3) - - - - (50) (50) - (50)
Total comprehensive income FEERANGES
for the year (restated) (B =5 - - 973 - 8676 9,649 - 9,649
Rights ssue, net of expenses i MBAX
(Note 31(a)) (ME316) 6393 26379 - - - M - 371
Balances at 31 March 2023 (restated) #2033 83102
e (HET) 12786 619,130 (1574) 8753 (560807) 78,88 - 78288
Balances at 1 April 2023 (restated) 03 F4A182
ger(mE3) 12,786 619,130 (1,574) 8,753 (560,807) 78,288 - 78,288
Loss for the year TEERR - - - - (7,448) (7,448) (1,097) (8,545)
Other comprehensive expense: ~ EM2HFIR :
Exchange difference on translation R BB SNE R BA TS
of financial statements of BECEHER
foreign operations - - (2,100 - - (2,100) - (2,100)
Total comprehensive expense FEEZARTER
for the year - - (2,100) = (7,448) (9,548) (1,097) (10,645)
Issue of new shares (Note 31(b) 4T3 (&£ 31(b)) 799 26,769 - - - 27,568 - 27,568
Lapsed of share options BRI L - - - (8,753) 8,753 = = =
Acquisition of subsidiaries WiEHB AR - - - - - - 16,384 16,384
Contribution from non-controlling R B FER I ELS T &
interests - - - - - - 1,197 1,197
Balances at 31 March 2024 12024538310
L& 13,585 645,899 (3,674) - (559,502) 96,308 16,484 112,792
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE2024F3A31 B IFFE

Share premium account of the Company represents the excess of the proceeds received over

the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued.

Translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of
the financial statements of certain subsidiaries whose functional currencies are different from
that of presentation currency.

Share option reserve represents the portion of grant date fair value of the actual or estimated

number of unexercised share options of the Company.

The Peoples Republic of China (the "PRC") laws and regulations require companies registered
in the PRC to provide for certain statutory reserves, which are to be appropriated from the net
profit (after offsetting accumulated losses from prior years) as reported in their respective
statutory financial statements, before profit distributions to equity holders. All statutory
reserves are created for specific purposes. PRC company is required to appropriate 10% of
statutory net profits to statutory surplus reserves, and before distribution of its post-tax profits
of the current year. A company may discontinue the contribution when the aggregate sum of
the statutory surplus reserve is more than 50% of its registered capital. The statutory surplus
reserves shall only be used to make up losses of the companies, to expand the companies’
production operations, or to increase the capital of the companies. In addition, a company
may make further discretional contribution to the surplus reserve using its post-tax profits in
accordance with resolutions of the board of directors. As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, no
statutory surplus reserves is provided as the PRC subsidiaries made losses in their operations.

(@)
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ZRARBNETEAEATES - W—SBEEHREATH
BHMERPERZF RN (EEEFRFTEEE) P
AEREFIFREZAIEEG - TAEEABEHER
EEH - RERREERDEAFE 2 BiE A
BEEEFBMZ10%IEBETBHRATES - &
ERHBAES 2 ZREMER50%E + A8A A
RIEE - A BB ATES REARBERARSIE -
BRARIEEXBREMARER - B ARIT
URBEESEZABREAT BTN MRABIE
S — SIS H - R 20245 M 2023F3A31H -
WHHDEE BB AESEE BATRENBAR
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

EBEnE

For the year ended 31 March 2024  #({Z2024F3A31 A ILFE

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 FF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FTEx FAET
(restated Note 3)
(F&EY - BFEE3)
Cash flows from operating activities REEBELECHERE
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRAETISRLAT (BEB), & F (8,529) 8,676
Adjustments for: BT EBEL ZAE
Finance income LR e 32 (1,323) 217)
Finance costs BF TS A AR 32 276 1,029
Depreciation of property, plant and M WEREETE
equipment 10 465 191
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEENE 10 1,259 1,234
Amortisation of intangible assets A EME 10 205 -
Loss on early termination of leases RPRIEHEZ BB 9 - 105
Reversal of allowance for ECL on trade BoEKRER ZBHEE
receivables, net Eia e - F 10 (413) (4,.879)
Provision for/(reversal of) allowance FHR (B E) H A e U BR
for ECL on other receivables KRB EEBERE 10 12 (14,909)
Reversal of allowance for ECL on deposit BoiZeBAEEHE 8 (2) -
Reversal of impairment loss on BREfFERERSE  F8E
inventories, net 10 (12,840) (11,400)
(Reversal of)/provision for defined (BE), FHREEEF
benefits plan obligations, net FTEIRME - FEE (21) 50
Change in fair value of convertible bond AREREFH QT EE 9 (2,997) -
Impairment loss on prepayment for pearls 2 k815 FUIB AR EE 18 9 2,284 -
Impairment loss on property, plant and Mz WERFEERER
equipment and right-of-use assets BEEZBEERE 9 197 -
Operating cash flows before working ZEESEBRAZ2ELERSE
capital changes hE (21,427) (20,120)
Changes in working capital: LEESE:
Inventories BE 15,231 (9,431)
Trade and other receivables, deposits ngﬁlfm&ﬁm%fxﬂﬂlﬁﬁ%i .
and prepayments Ze KRBT (2,230) 3,665
Trade and other payables and accruals ENEER &ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁm
NEEtE R (1,358) 4,366
Contract liabilities BB E 3,345 =
Cash used in operations KEMARSE (6,439) (21,520)
Income tax paid EATFTIEH (18) =
Net cash used in operating activities REEBFERAZREFHE (6,457) (21,520)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
AR E

For the year ended 31 March 2024  #(ZE2024F3A31HILFE

2024 2023

2024 F 2023 4

Notes HK$'000 HKS$'000
M FET FHET

(restated Note 3)
(5e&E% - f5E3)

Cash flows from investing activities RETBHEEZRERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  f§ B ¥1% - 5= K& 15 (179) (26)
Interests received B U F B 32 1,323 217
Proceeds from settlement of convertible ER T EREREEMG

loan notes and relevant interest recorded  FXIA M 5+ A £ 4th JiE I BR X

under other receivables CokiElzzRalNs - 35113
Net cash inflows arising from acquisition of R B WK — W B A R E £
a subsidiary ZHEBRAFE 38 3,598 -

Net cash generated from investing RETBHEEZREFE
activities 4,742 35,304

Cash flows from financing activities RETBHELECEESRE

Proceeds from rights issue, net of expenses A& FT1S 518 - IR X 31(@a) - 32,772
Interest paid to other borrowings HEMEEZENFE (159) -
Interest paid to lease liabilities HEBBECERFE 32 (95) (67)
Payment for principal portion of HEBBEXRESIH D TR

lease liabilities (1,144) (1,232)
Proceeds from borrowings BEMBHIEA 2,000 2,000
Repayments of borrowings EEBE - (29,776)
Advance from non-controlling shareholders 28 B FE1%° i% % 3 A 24 51 217 -

Net cash generated from financing METBHELECBESTFE

activities 819 3,697
Net (decrease)/increase in cash BERERRE (RL),/
and cash equivalents 3 hnH 5 (896) 17,481

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FYeBRekERBES

of the year 41,261 23,585
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes INETE R BBy v B (2,481) 195
Cash and cash equivalents at end FR7BERERRS

of the year, represented by bank (RRTEHRMEERT)

balances and cash 37,884 41,261




Affluent Partners Holdings Limited SEZR AR QA

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Er o s R Bk

For the year ended 31 March 2024  #({Z2024F3A31 A ILFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Affluent Partners Holdings Limited (the “Company”, collectively with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 13
May 2014 as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law, Cap 22 (Laws 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of
the Cayman Islands. The address of its registered office is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.
The Company’s principal place of business is Room 906, 9/F., Wings
Building, 110-116 Queen’s Road Central, Central, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities
of the Group are (i) the purchasing, processing, designing, production
and wholesale distribution of pearls and jewellery products and (i) the
operation of strategic investment and financial services segment, with
the objective to include investments in other potential investment
opportunities, in addition with the new principal activities engaged in (iii)
the provision of skincare solutions through self-transformed skincare
brand and mid-to-high end functional skincare products; (iv) the
provision of scientific and pharmaceutical research and development
services and (v) the provision of branding marketing and consulting
services, which are acquired during the year.

During the year, the Group has completed the acquisition of Tonnett
Julis Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Tonnett
Group”) on 9 February 2024, thus the Tonnett Group has been
consolidated to the Group from that date. The Tonnett Group
contributed the new principal activities as stated above.

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, in the opinion of directors of the
Company, the substantial shareholder of the Company is Pacific Wish
Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability,
with entire issued ordinary shares held by Mr. Chan Vincent Wing Sing
and Ms. Hui Ka Man Emily, respectively, and the Company has no
controlling shareholder.

The Company was listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 17 October 2014.

— R R

BEERARAR (XRAF]  ERE
MEARASHEIAEE]) R201455 A
BEBRBERSHERFNEFE2E (191
FEIPED - KR ERIEF) ERER
EAMKIREREERET AR - &
5 it 3 = B b 4k & Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands e "2 Bl 2 £ &
EEMBUNBEERIREFREF 10-
65 KBEREEREIEI6E -

ARARB—REER AR - AEBH
ITBEHAEONEHREKREERZHRE -
T &Rt AERIEDHE - LAKIG)
KRB ERVERED Bz EE EB
ERREEMEBEERERS  tLIMEEH
FTEEHABBEETEHLELNES S
Fe K P s T AR AL B IR R R AR
F B (iv) IR R R BEY AR B AR A K (v)
RERBEEERFBARY  ZEEER
NEZUHE -

FAN-AEBMRPN2024F2A9H TR K
B Tonnett Julis Holdings Limited K2 £ Bt B
AR (FTEA Tonnett £ E ) © A It
Tonnett £ B 7% HEE EAARE B S A
8K o Tonnett EE BRI E2)EE) -

R2024F K% 2023F3A31H - ARRE
ERE ARBZEERELAEBEEHEAE
RAR(—EREBEMEILZERAD
A RARMEHEFITERRK S B
HEKBEERTEBEZLIREAR MR
DA AT AR AR AR o

ARAGR204F1I0R1T7TEEFTBHAE
REGFMBRAR ([BRET]) ER LM -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 1 B A B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE2024F3A31 B IFFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
PRESENTATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs”),
which collective term includes applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards ("HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the "HKICPA"). The
consolidated financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
("Listing Rules”).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on historical
cost basis except for certain financial instruments which are measured at
fair values at the end of reporting period.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars ("HKS$"), which is also the functional currency of the Company. All
values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
stated.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions have
been used in preparation of the consolidated financial statements.
Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge
and judgement of current events and actions, actual results may
ultimately differ from those estimates.

2.
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Affluent Partners Holdings Limited SEZR AR QA

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED HKEFRSs

New and amended HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has adopted, for the first time, the
following new and amended HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, which are
relevant to and effective for the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the accounting period beginning on 1 April 2023.

HKFRS 17 (including the October  Insurance Contracts
2020 and February 2022
Amendments to HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8
Amendments to HKAS 12

Definition of Accounting Estimates

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International tax reform — Pillar Two

Model Rules

Except for the adoption of Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies described below, the
adoption of the new and amended HKFRSs in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group's consolidated financial performance
and positions for the current and prior years and/or the disclosure set
out in the consolidated financial statements.

3.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Er o s R Bk

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #(ZE2024F3 4318 IEFE
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For the year ended 31 March 2024  #(ZE2024F3A31HILFE

ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED HKFRSs
(CONTINUED)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of
Accounting Policies

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the current
year. HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements is amended to replace
all instances of the term “significant accounting policies” with “material
accounting policy information”. Accounting policy information is
material if, when considered together with other information included in
an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to
influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information may be
material because of the nature of the related transactions, other events
or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial. However, not all
accounting policy information relating to material transactions, other
events or conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses to disclose
immaterial accounting policy information, such information must not
obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements (the
“Practice Statement’) is also amended to illustrate how an entity
applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting policy
disclosures and to judge whether information about an accounting
policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance and examples are
added to the Practice Statement.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Er o s R Bk

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #(ZE2024F3 4318 IEFE

3.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED HKFRSs
(CONTINUED)

Changes in accounting policy as a result of
application of the HKICPA guidance on the
accounting implications of the abolition of the
Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) — Long Service
Payment (“LSP”) offsetting mechanism in Hong
Kong

In June 2022, the Government of the HKSAR gazetted the Employment
and Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement)
(Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the "Amendment Ordinance”) which
abolishes the use of the accrued benefits derived from employers’
mandatory MPF contributions to offset severance payment and LSP (the
“Abolition”). The Abolition will officially take effect on 1 May 2025 (the
“Transition Date”). In addition, under the Amendment Ordinance, the
last month'’s salary immediately preceding the Transition Date (instead of
the date of termination of employment) is used to calculate the portion
of LSP in respect of the employment period before the Transition Date.

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting implications of the
abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong” which
provides guidance for the accounting for the offsetting mechanism and
the impact arising from abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism
in Hong Kong. In light of this, the Group has implemented the guidance
published by the HKICPA in connection with the LSP obligation
retrospectively so as to provide more reliable and more relevant
information about the effects of the offsetting mechanism and the
Abolition.

The Group considered the accrued benefits arising from employer MPF
contributions that have been vested with the employee and which
could be used to offset the employee’s LSP benefits as a deemed
contribution by the employee towards the LSP. Historically, the Group
has been applying the practical expedient in paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19
to account for the deemed employee contributions as a reduction of the
service cost in the period in which the related service is rendered.

OF 40507 i T B #8405 6T A o B B
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE2024F3A31 B IFFE

ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED HKFRSs
(CONTINUED)

Changes in accounting policy as a result of
application of the HKICPA guidance on the
accounting implications of the abolition of the
Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) — Long Service
Payment (“LSP”) offsetting mechanism in Hong
Kong (Continued)

Based on the HKICPA’s guidance, as a result of the Abolition, these
contributions are no longer considered “linked solely to the employee’s
service in that period” since the mandatory employer MPF contributions
after the Transition Date can still be used to offset the pre-transition LSP
obligation. Therefore, it would not be appropriate to view the
contributions as “independent of the number of years of service” and the
practical expedient in paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19 is no longer
applicable. Instead, these deemed contributions should be attributed to
periods of service in the same manner as the gross LSP benefit applying
paragraph 93(a) of HKAS 19. Accordingly, the Group has recognised a
cumulative catch-up adjustment in profit or loss for the service cost,
interest expense and remeasurement effect from changes in actuarial
assumptions for the year ended 31 March 2023, with corresponding
adjustment to the LSP obligation. The cumulative catch-up adjustment
is calculated as the difference at the enactment date (16 June 2022)
between the carrying amount of the LSP liability calculated under
paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19 before the Abolition and the carrying
amount of the LSP liability calculated under paragraph 93(a) of HKAS 19
after the Abolition.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #(ZE2024F3 4318 IEFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED HKEFRSs

(CONTINUED)

Changes in accounting policy as a result of
application of the HKICPA guidance on the
accounting implications of the abolition of the

Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) — Long Service

Payment (“LSP”) offsetting mechanism in Hong

Kong (Continued)

The following table summarises the impact of the adoption of the
HKICPA guidance on the comparative presented in the Group's
consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 March 2023 and
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2023. The
adoption of the HKICPA guidance would not have impact on the cash

flows for the year ended 31 March 2023.

For the year ended 31 March 2023

OF 40507 i T B #8405 6T A o B B
e (4)

PRI 7 8 7 it 2 87 0 98 B o 0
w AR (TS ) — RIYIRE
B (TR M 5 < 1) S8 o b o) 1 o st
2 3k R NOR ( R iR g o
A E) (41)

TREMRNE B AEE3 4
AEBHE203FIANHIEFERS
W R BN 2023F3 31 BREGA 5
MRKRFTZ2I N ERNFE - HREES
AR AZIESI BT e EH £2023F3
A3HIEFEMNRERE -

HZE2023F3A318IEFE

The abolition
of MPF-LSP
As previously offsetting
reported mechanism Total
BUBE®iE®
MEHRBE S
S RIFTER R SR Bt
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FAT
Consolidated income statement for £ 20233 531 H
the year ended 31 March 2023 ILFEEWFREREE
Employee benefits expenses BITEAMAZ (10,021) (50) (10,071)
Profit before taxation 5 A 4 ) 8,726 (50) 8,676
Income tax expense FTigBif X - - -
Profit for the year F A8 T 8,726 (50) 8,676
Consolidated statement of financial #2023 %3 531 H#Y
position as at 31 March 2023 HEHRBM IR
Total current liabilities B A EEE 21,513 437) 21,076
Total assets less current liabilities BREERTBAEE 78338 437 78,775
Defined benefit plan obligations AREBFFTEEME - (487) (487)
Total non-current liabilities SEMEBERE - (487) (487)
Net assets BEFE 78,338 (50) 78,288
Reserves G 65,552 (50) 65,502
Total equity B 78,338 (50) 78,288
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For the year ended 31 March 2024  #(ZE2024F3A31HILFE

ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED HKFRSs
(CONTINUED)

The following table illustrates the amounts that would have been in the
Group's consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 March
2024 and the consolidated statements of financial position as at that
date, if the Group had not changed its accounting policy as noted above
and had continued to apply the practical expedient in paragraph 93(b)

of HKAS 19:

For the year ended 31 March 2024

3. RN ET e KRG AT A ok A
e (4)

5K R R AN AN 2 B N 4 A0 _E SCRT B
GETEE  WEEEAR S ERE
9REBOBNEREREF % A5H
HE2024F3A31BItFEMNLGA WS
ERRZENGETBRIERTESS
B :

HZ2024F3A31BLEFE

Backing out
effectof If accounting
adoption of policy had
the HKICPA not been
As reported guidance changed
7 BREE A
EBETHAD
AEESIW MR
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Consolidated income statement BZ2024F3H31H
for the year ended 31 March 2024 IFFERFRERZ R
Employee benefits expenses BTRMAX (15,103) (21) (15,124)
Loss before taxation TRl EE (8,529) (21) (8,550)
Income tax expense FTiSHiFA X (16) - (16)
Loss for the year REEERE (8,545) (21) (8,566)
Consolidated statement of financial 420243 31 H#)
position as at 31 March 2024 HEMBMR IR
Defined benefit plan obligations RERFEEEMR 466 (466) -
Total non-current liabilities ERBAERE 43,016 (466) 42,550
Net assets BERE 112,792 466 113,258
Reserves i 82,723 466 83,189
Total equity g 112,792 466 113,258
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED HKEFRSs

(CONTINUED)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective

At the date of this report, the Group has not early adopted any of the
following new and revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet
effective, in these consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and  Sale or Contribution of Assets between

HKAS 28

Amendment to HKAS 1
Amendment to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21
HKFRS 18

an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture'

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants?

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)?

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback?

Supplier Finance Arrangement?
Lack of Exchangeability?

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
: Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027

The Group has already commenced an assessment of the related impact
of adopting the above new and revised HKFRSs. So far, it has concluded
that the above new and revised HKFRSs will be adopted at the respective

effective dates.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

The significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have
been consistently adopted to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

(a) Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over which
the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the
Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the
Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

(i) Consolidation

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for
business combinations. The consideration transferred for
the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of
the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group.
The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any
assets or liabilities resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. ldentifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Non-
controlling interests in the acquiree that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event of
liquidation are measured at either fair value or the present
ownership interests proportionate share in the recognised
amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured at
their acquisition date fair value, unless another
measurement basis is required by HKFRSs.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(a) Subsidiaries (Continued)

(i) Consolidation (Continued)

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in
the acquire over the fair value of the identifiable net assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration
transferred, non-controlling interest recognised and
previously held interest measured is less than the fair value
of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a
bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly in

the consolidated income statement.

Inter-company transactions, balances, income and expenses
on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Profits and losses resulting from intercompany transactions
that are recognised in assets are also eliminated. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the

Group.

(ii) Goodwill

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed. If, after assessment, the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree
and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held interest in
the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately
in the consolidated income statement as a bargain purchase

gain.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(a) Subsidiaries (Continued)

(ii)

Goodwill (Continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses, if any, and is presented
separately in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31
March. For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units
("€GU") or groups of CGU that is expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether
other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those
units or groups of units. Impairment is determined by
assessing the recoverable amount of the CGU or groups of
CGU to which the goodwill relates. If the recoverable
amount of the CGU or group of CGU is less than its carrying
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit or
group of CGU and then to the other assets of the unit on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit. Any impairment loss recognised for goodwill is
not reversed in subsequent periods.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a CGU or groups of
CGU and part of the operation within that unit is disposed
of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is
included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill
disposed of in these circumstances is measured based on
the relative value of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the CGU retained.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(a) Subsidiaries (Continued)

(ii)

Goodwill (Continued)

In current year, the Group has not completed the initial
allocation of goodwill acquired in a business combination
before the end of the current financial year in which the
business combination is effected, therefore the initial
allocation will be completed in next financial year.

(b) Foreign currency translation

(@

(ii)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the consolidated financial statements of
each of the Group's entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates (the functional currency). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in HKS,
which is the Company's functional and the Group's
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in
the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions.

At the end of the year, monetary items denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
that date. Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary items,
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated. Non-
monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency
are translated using the exchange rates at the date when
the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is
treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on
change in fair value of the item.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(©)

(iii) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the presentation
currency as follows:

(@)  assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate
at the end of reporting period;

(b)  income and expenses for each income statement are
translated at average exchange rates (unless this
average is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of the
transactions); and

(c)  all resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.
Subsequent costs are included in the assets carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the consolidated income statement
during the year in which they are incurred.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(c) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less accumulated
impairment losses over their estimated useful lives from the date
on which they are available for use and after taking into account
of their estimated residual values, using the straight-line method,

at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold improvements

Plant and machinery

Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Motor vehicles

Computers

An assets carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the assets carrying amount is greater than
its estimated recoverable amount. The assets residual values and
useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of

each reporting period.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within

other losses net in the consolidated income statement.

25% to 33%
20% to 25%

20% to 25%
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. HAREFIBERE R ()

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(d) Intangible assets (d) mEEE

Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in
the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development
(or from the development phase of an internal project) is
recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been
demonstrated:

the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset
so that it will be available for use or sale;

the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or
sellit;

the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

how the intangible asset will generate probable future
economic benefits;

the availability of adequate technical, financial and other
resources to complete the development and to use or sell
the intangible asset; and

the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable
to the intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for an internally-generated
intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the
date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria.
Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is charged to the consolidated income
statement in the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible
assets are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses (if any), on the same basis as
intangible assets that are acquired separately.

e b

MAEBAINELHAERS
FZ

i S AZ W 3R P A T 5 BB
FAEEE) (AR E MR ERER)
MTEENANBELEZETLEER
FUARER -

TRETEENEE A HE
s AR EAAT

EKERLEEREMAR
HEZBVEE

EERERAHERTEE

BB E ) E A R BERR

RSB

B AR B - B R HoA
BIR A AR TR 3 M E A
HHERVEE : &

M R ERLEERRF
HHR AR -

NHELE BV EEV S ERS
BRAZENEEABENA LA

RITEZARELZ AR -
HAREERNMEE 2BV EE
A ENEELSMERAS

18 -

RO EHERE  REBEEZ BT
BB AR R 5 8 & REHR
EER(E)FHE BBTWE
ZEBEEMMEEMR -



32

Affluent Partners Holdings Limited i

BEZERARARA

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B R

For the year ended 31 March 2024  #({Z2024F3A31 A ILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(d) Intangible assets (Continued)

(e)

Research and development expenditure (Continued)

The Group's intangible assets stated below are arisen from
acquisition of Tonnett Group detailed in note 38, having finite
useful life and are amortised on a straight-line basis over the
following period:
Backlog contacts 3 years
The Group's intangible assets of trademarks are arisen from
acquisition of Tonnett Group detailed in note 38, having an
indefinite useful life and are not amortised. The Group reviews the
useful life of such an asset each reporting period to determine
whether events and circumstances continue to support an
indefinite useful life assessment for that asset. The Group tests an
intangible asset with an indefinite useful life for impairment by
comparing its recoverable amount with its carrying amount
annually, and whenever there is an indication that the intangible
asset may be impaired.

Both the period and method of amortisation or impairment review
are reviewed annually.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to amortisation or depreciation are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the assets carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an assets fair value less
costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which
there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment
at each reporting date.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

()

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised in the Group's consolidated
statement of financial position when a group entity becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the financial assets.

Financial assets are initially measured at fair value except for trade
receivables arising from contracts with customers which are
initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
(other than financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVPL") are added to the fair value of the financial assets, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Financial assets at amortised cost

All recognised financial assets of the Group are measured at
amortised cost on the basis of the Group's business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow
characteristics of the financial assets.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

— the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

— the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

()

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVOCI”)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at FVOCI:

—  the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash
flows and selling financial assets; and

—  the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVPL,
except that at the date of initial adoption/initial recognition of a
financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income ("OCI") if that equity investment is neither
held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combination adopted.

Financial assets at FVOC! are stated at fair value, with any gains or
losses arising on remeasurement recognised in other
comprehensive income. Fair value is determined in the manner
described in Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

Financial assets at FVPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVPL when the financial asset is
(i) contingent consideration that may be paid by an acquirer as
part of a business combination to which HKFRS 3 applies, (i) held
for trading, or (iii) it is designated as at FVPL.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

()

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at FVPL (Continued)

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

— it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in
the near term;

— on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that are the Group;

— manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-
term profit-taking; or

— itis a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVOCI
as measured at FVPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces
an accounting mismatch.

Debt instruments at amortised cost

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial
asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

4. HEREEHBORE B (4])

(f) Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial assets
which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9 (including trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables, cash and cash
equivalents).

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In
contrast, 12 months ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date.

Assessment are done based on the Group's historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of
future conditions. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk
For pearls and jewellery business segment

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on these assets are assessed
individually for significant balances or collectively using a
provision matrix with appropriate grouping based on
shared credit risk characteristics by reference to past default
experience and current past due exposure of the debtors.

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort.
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4. HEREEHBORE B (4])

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(f) Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
For pearls and jewellery business segment (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse change in
the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(f) Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
For pearls and jewellery business segment (Continued)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined
to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if (i) it has a
low risk of default, (i) the borrower has a strong capacity to
meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term
and (iii) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily,
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual
cash flow obligations. The Group considers a debt
instrument to have low credit risk when it has an internal or
external credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as per globally
understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

For other business segments

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on these assets are assessed
individually for significant balances or collectively using
expected loss rates with appropriate grouping based on
shared credit risk characteristics by reference to past default
experience and current past due exposure of the debtors.

The Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 90 days past due depending on
client’s group, the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(f) Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
For other business segments (Continued)

Most of the customers do not have independent credit
rating. To manage the risk arising from trade receivables, the
Group has policies in place to ensure that revenue of credit
terms are made to counterparties with an appropriate credit
history and the management performs ongoing credit
evaluations of its counterparties. The credit periods granted
to these customers are ranged from 0 to 180 days
depending on credit quality of these customers being
assessed, the Tonnett Group has a large number of
customers and there is no significant concentration of credit
risk.

The Group measures the expected credit losses, trade
receivables that have been grouped based on shared credit
risk characteristics and the days past due.

The expected loss rates are based on the corresponding
credit losses probability of a receivable progressing through
successive stages of delinquency to write-off. The loss rates
are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking
information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability
of the customers to settle the receivables. The Group has
identified the probabilities of default and recovery ratio to
be the most relevant factors. Various economic scenarios
are considered in generating the forward-looking
adjustment, including general economic conditions of the
industry in which the debtors operate and an assessment of
both the current as well as the forecast direction of
conditions at the reporting date.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(f) Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
For other business segments (Continued)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management of the
Group to ensure relevant information about debtors’ credit
quality and grouping adopted in expected loss rates is
updated.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12 months ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group). Irrespective of the above, the Group
considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is
more than 90 days or 180 days past due for pearls and
jewellery business segment and other business segments,
respectively, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(f) Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
of default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit- impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b)  a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower's
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over three years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(f) Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition.

Where lifetime ECL is measured on a collective basis to cater
for cases where evidence of significant increases in credit
risk at the individual instrument level may not yet be
available, the financial instruments are grouped on the
following basis:

Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group's trade and
other receivables are each assessed as a separate group);
Past-due status;

Nature, size and industry of debtors;

Nature of collaterals for the receivables; and

External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each separate group continues
to share similar credit risk characteristics.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

()

(®

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the
previous reporting period, but determines at the current
reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no
longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance at an
amount equal to 12 months ECL at the current reporting
date.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or when
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset are transferred to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received
and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at FVPL, loans and borrowing at amortised cost, or as
derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective
hedge, as appropriate. All financial liabilities are recognised initially
at fair value.

The Group's financial liabilities comprise mainly trade and other
payables and accruals, bank borrowings, other borrowings and
lease liabilities.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(g) Financial liabilities and equity instruments

(Continued)

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Convertible bonds — compound instrument

Convertible bond which entitles the holder to convert the
principal amount into a variable number of equity instruments at
a fixed conversion price are regarded as derivative component. At
the date of issue, the fair value of the convertible bond is
estimated using the binomial option price model. Subsequently,
the convertible bond is measured at fair value using the binomial
option price model. with gains and losses recognised in profit or
loss.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Non-derivative financial liabilities measurement

Non-derivative financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair
value less any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, these liabilities are measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the
respective carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE2024F3A31 B IFFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(®

(h)

(@

\)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the statement of financial position when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.

The legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future
events and must be enforceable in the normal course of business
and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group
or the counterparty.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost, which comprises all costs of purchase and, where applicable,
cost of conversion and other costs that have been incurred in
bringing the inventories to their present location and condition, is
calculated using the weighted average cost method. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course
of business less the estimated selling expenses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of
three months or less, in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions
are not recognised for future operating losses. Provisions are
measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to
passage of time is recognised as finance cost.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2024  #({Z2024F3A31 A ILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(k) Current and deferred tax

The tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred tax.

Tax is recognised in the consolidated income statement, except to

the extent it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive

income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised

in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

(@

(ii)

Current tax

The current tax is calculated on the basis of the tax laws
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of reporting
period in the countries where the Company and its
subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax
returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulation is subject to interpretation and establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except in respect of taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries and associates, when the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets are recognised
for all deductible temporary differences, the carried forward
of unused tax credits and any unused tax losses.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE2024F3A31 B IFFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(k) Current and deferred tax (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Deferred tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, the carried forward
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised,
except in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed
at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to
the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Offsetting

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax
assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or
different taxable entities where there is an intention to
settle the balances on a net basis.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024  #({Z2024F3A31 A ILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

M

(m)

Equity

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the
goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct
goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

the Group's performance creates and enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

the Group's performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for
impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group's unconditional right to consideration, i.e.
only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE2024F3A31 B IFFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(m) Revenue from contracts with customers

(Continued)

A contract liability represents the Group' s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a contract are
accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Costs to fulfil contracts represented the costs incurred in fulfilling
a contract with a customer which is within the scope of HKFRS 15,
Group shall recognise an asset from the Consolidated Cost of Sales
incurred to fulfil a contract only if those costs meet all of the
following criteria:

(@)  the costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the entity can specifically identify (for example,
costs relating to services to be provided under renewal of
an existing contract or costs of designing an asset to be
transferred under a specific contract that has not yet been
approved);

(b)  the costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that
will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future; and

(c)  the costs are expected to be recovered.

Costs that relate directly to a contract (or a specific anticipated
contract) include any of the following:

(@)  direct labour (for example, salaries and wages of employees
who provide the promised services directly to the
customer);

(b)  direct materials (for example, supplies used in providing the
promised services to a customer);
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(m) Revenue from contracts with customers

(Continued)

(c)  allocations of costs that relate directly to the contract or to
contract activities (for example, costs of contract
management and supervision and depreciation of tools,
equipment and right-of-use assets used in fulfilling the
contract);

(d)  costs that are explicitly chargeable to the customer under
the contract; and

(e)  other costs that are incurred only because an entity entered
into the contract (for example, payments to subcontractors).

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

Sale of pearls and jewellery products

The revenue of the Group arising from sales of pearls and jewellery
product is generally recognised at a point in time when control of
the goods has been transferred, being when the goods have been
shipped to the specific location (upon delivery of goods) and the
customer acceptance has been obtained, being when the
customer has the ability to direct the use of these products and
obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits of these products.

After the completion of the acquisitions as mentioned in Note 38
on 9 February 2024, the Group has also derived revenue below
activities.

Sales of skincare products and raw materials

Revenue from sales of skincare products and raw materials is
recognised at a point in time when control of the goods has been
transferred, being when the goods have been shipped to the
specific location (upon delivery of goods) and the customer
acceptance has been obtained, being when the customer has the
ability to direct the use of these products and obtain substantially
all of the remaining benefits of these products.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. HAREFIBERE R ()

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(m) &F & HWA (4])

(m) Revenue from contracts with customers

(Continued)
Scientific research services

The Group offers scientific and pharmaceutical research to
customers. Revenue is recognised at a point in time when relevant
research reports are delivered.

For certain contracts with terms that the Group's performance
does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and
allow the Group to have an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date, which satisfied the requirement
of revenue recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant performance
obligation, relevant revenue is recognised over time.

Small animal breeding services

The Group offers small animal breeding service to customer. The
services typically last from several months to one year. The Group
accounts for the provision of such service as a performance
obligation satisfied based on services provided.

Brand authorisation services

Brand authorisation fee represents the brand of skincare product
franchise to third-parties. The brand authorisation allows the users
an exclusive rights to sell the products within 1 year. The Group
accounts for the grant of the franchise as a performance obligation
satisfied over time. Revenue is recognised over the period of
contract on a straight-line basis.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024  #({Z2024F3A31 A ILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(m) Revenue from contracts with customers

()

(Continued)
Others service income

Other services mainly consist of service fee from the provision of
technical research consulting services, individual skincare services
and consulting services related to beauty care and marketing.
Revenue is recognised at a point in time when the services are
rendered.

For certain consulting services related marketing, whose contracts
with terms that the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and allow the Group to have
an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date, which satisfied the requirement of revenue recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation, relevant revenue is
recognised over time.

Retirement benefits scheme

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave and long service leave
as a result of services rendered by employees up to the end of
reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not
recognised until the time of leave.

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the PRC, the PRC
based employees of the Group participate in various defined
contribution retirement benefit plans organised by the relevant
municipal and provincial governments in the PRC under which
the Group and the PRC based employees are required to make
monthly contributions to these plans calculated as a percentage
of the employees’ salaries.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. HAREFIBERE R ()

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(n) Retirement benefits scheme (Continued) (n) BAKFERGHHE ()

These plans are a state-managed retirement benefits scheme
being operated by the local PRC government. The subsidiaries are
required to contribute 20% (2023: 20%) of the average basic salary
to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefits
scheme is to make the specified contributions.

The municipal and provincial governments undertake to assume
the retirement benefit obligations of all existing and future retired
PRC based employees payable under the plans described above.
Other than the monthly contributions, the Group has no further
obligation for the payment of retirement and other post-
retirement benefits of its employees. The assets of these plans are
held separately from those of the Group in independently
administered funds managed by the PRC government.

The Group also participates in a pension scheme under the rules
and regulations of the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
Ordinance (“MPF Scheme"), which is a defined contribution
retirement scheme for all employees in Hong Kong. The
contributions to the MPF Scheme are based on minimum
statutory contribution requirement of 5% of eligible employees’
relevant aggregate income subject to a cap of HK$1,500 per
month, effective from 1 June 2014. The assets of this pension
scheme are held separately from those of the Group in
independently administered funds.

For LSP obligation, the Group accounts for the employer MPF
contributions expected to be offset as a deemed employee
contribution towards the LSP obligation in terms of HKAS 19.93(a)
and it is measure on a net basis. The estimated amount of future
benefit is determined after deducting the negative service cost
arising from the accrued benefits derived from the Group’s MPF
contributions that have been vested with employees, which are
deemed to be contributions from the relevant employees.

The Group's contributions to the defined contribution retirement
schemes are expensed as incurred.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(0) Share-based payments

The Group operates a share option scheme for remuneration of its
employees (including the directors).

All services received in exchange for the grant of any share options
are measured at their fair value. These are indirectly determined by
reference to the fair value of share options granted. Their value is
appraised at the grant date and excludes the impact of any service
and non-market performance vesting conditions (for example,
profitability and sales growth targets).

All services received is ultimately recognised as an expense in
profit or loss over the vesting period if vesting conditions apply, or
recognised as an expense in full at the grant date when the share
options granted vest immediately unless the expense qualifies for
recognition as asset, with a corresponding increase in “Share
option reserve” within equity. If service or non-market
performance conditions apply, the expense is recognised over the
vesting period, based on the best available estimate of the
number of share options expected to vest. Non-market
performance and service conditions are included in assumptions
about the number of share options that are expected to vest.
Estimates are subsequently revised, if there is any indication that
the number of share options expected to vest differs from
previous estimates. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the
cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to share option reserve.

Where a grant of share options is cancelled, it is treated as if it had
vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the grant is recognised immediately. This includes
any grant where non-vesting conditions within the control of
either the Group or the employee are not met.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve and the proceeds
received net of any directly attributable transaction costs up to the
nominal value of the share issued are reallocated to share capital
with any excess being recorded as share premium. When the
share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in
share option reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(p) Leases

o 1 B A B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE2024F3A31 B IFFE

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases of premises that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. It also applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-
value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis
or another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:
the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions
of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the
lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end
of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and
the lease term.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024  #({Z2024F3A31 A ILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(p) Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee
Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of
lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at
the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable;

variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate
the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

4. HEREEHBORE B (4])

(p) HME (&)
AEBEREEA
HERE

REERKAH AEEZRRE
EIE’HiH?H%\HmE’\JIETEﬁEm
AAEHERE -RAEHENK
MBEER WIrEE7ETHEE
FrlREs Rl AIAEEEFEH
HERE A BB EERFIE -

HEMRERE

B 3% (B4 8B E B E
ORI EREHERS

18 -8 Br ek tL R E H R 2
MENR ML ERFERA
HRR) 5 BRI K5 &

AEBRBEF A EEERE
HIEN 228

BEEERROTEE WA
SEEERETEZXEE
) R

1§76 0 e B A 5 D4 502 48
BEILRE AR IERE
S ER -

MBI A A A
F8 R E N (B -



Annual Report 2024 &R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 1 B A B

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE2024F3A31 B IFFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(@) Dividend distribution

()

Dividend distribution to the Company's shareholders is recognised
as a liability in the Group's and the Company's financial statements
in the period in which the dividends are approved by the
Company's shareholders or directors, where appropriate.

Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares segment
information based on the regular internal financial information
reported to the executive directors, which are the Group’s chief
operating decision-maker for their decisions about resources
allocation to the Group's business components and for their
review of the performance of those components. The business
components in the internal financial information reported to the
executive directors are determined following the Group’s major
product and service lines.

The Group has identified the following reportable and operating
segments: (i) sales of pearls and jewellery; (ii) strategic investment
and financial services; (ii) skincare solutions business segment; (iv)
research and development services segment and (v) brand
marketing and consulting services segment. Each of these
operating segments is managed separately as each of the product
and service lines requires different resources as well as marketing
approaches.

All inter-segment transfers are carried out at arm'’s length prices.
The measurement policies the Group use for reporting segment
results under HKFRS 8 are the same as those used in its financial
statements prepared under HKFRSs. Segment results represents
the (loss)/profit incurred by each segment and hence is arrived at
without allocation of certain income and expenses (including
finance costs, corporate income and expense and income tax
expense).

(¢))
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #(ZE2024F3 4318 IEFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(s) Related parties

(@)

Or

A person or a close member of that person’s family is related
to the Group if that person:

0

(i)

(iif)

as control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of key management personnel of the
Group or the Company's parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions apply:

0]

(i)

The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of
a group of which the other entity is a member).
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE2024F3A31 B IFFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(s) Related parties (Continued)

(b)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions apply: (Continued)

(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of the employees of the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii)  The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the Group's parent.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024  #({Z2024F3A31 A ILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(s)

®

Related parties (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by,
that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(i) children of that person'’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(i)  dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures the fair value of its convertible bond and
financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income
at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the
liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or
liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the
most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The
fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the
asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participants ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling
it to another market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE2024F3A31 B IFFE

4. HEREEHBORE B (4])

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

®

(u)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair
value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level
input that is significant to these fair value measurement as a
whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level2 ~— based on Inputs other than quoted prices
included within level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices)
or indirectly (that is, derived from prices)

Level3 — based on Inputs for the asset or liability that are
not based on observable market data (that is
unobservable inputs)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.
Government grants are recognised in the consolidated income
statement on a systematic basis over the periods in which the
Group recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in consolidated income statement and
presented as “other gains/(losses), net” in the year in which they
become receivable.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024  #({Z2024F3A31 A ILFE

5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires the
directors of the Company to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the adoption of policies and reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.

Judgement and estimations
Allowance for ECL on trade receivables

For pearl and jewellery business segment, the management estimates
the amount of loss allowance based on the credit risk of the customers,
the Group then uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for the trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on internal credit ratings as
groupings of various debtors that have similar credit risk characteristic.
The provision matrix is based on the Group's historical default rates
taking into consideration forward-looking information that is reasonable
and supportable, and available without undue costs or effort. At every
reporting date, the historical default rates are reassessed and changes in
the forward looking information are considered. In addition, certain
balances of trade receivables and those credit impaired are assessed for
ECL individually. The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE2024F3A31 B IFFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Judgement and estimations (Continued)
Allowance for ECL on trade receivables (Continued)

For other business segments, the management estimates the amount of
loss allowance is basis of expected loss rates, while the expected loss
rates are based on the corresponding credit losses probability of a
receivable progressing through successive stages of delinquency to
write-off. The loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-
looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of
the customers to settle the receivables. The Group has identified the
probabilities of default and recovery ratio to be the most relevant factors.
Various economic scenarios are considered in generating the forward-
looking adjustment, including general economic conditions of the
industry in which the debtors operate and an assessment of both the
current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting
date.

The above assessments require management judgement and estimates.
Where the actual outcome or expectation in future is different from the
original estimate, such differences will impact the carrying amount of
receivables and credit loss allowance/reversal in the period in which the
estimate has been changed.

The Group reassessed the estimation at the end of each reporting
period. As at 31 March 2024, the net carrying amount of trade receivables
was approximately HK$15,037,000 (2023: HK$7,016,000). The
management of the Company determined that net reversal of allowance
for ECL on trade receivables were recognised in consolidated profit or
loss amounting to approximately HK$413,000 (2023: HK$4,879,000) for
the year ended 31 March 2024 (Note 21(a)).

Net realisable value of inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less estimated selling expense. The Group would evaluate
ageing analysis as to identify the slow-moving inventories. The Group
would also estimate the net realisable value of inventories based
primarily on the latest market price, current market conditions and
subsequent selling price, and make allowance for slow-moving
inventories when the Group identified items of inventories which have a
net realisable value that is lower than its carrying amount.
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5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Net realisable value of inventories (Continued)

As at 31 March 2024, the finished goods with an aggregate gross
carrying amount of approximately HK$66,178,000 with provision for
impairment of approximately HK$28,946,000, which are recorded based
on the net realisable value evaluated by the Group with assistance from
independent professional gemmologists engaged by the Group.

Net realisable value could change significantly as a result of changes in
customer taste and competitors actions in response to severe industry
cycles, such differences will impact the carrying value of inventories and
provision charge/reverse in the period in which such estimate has been
changed.

The Group reassessed the estimation at the end of each reporting
period. As at 31 March 2024, the net carrying amount of inventories was
approximately HK$44,340,000 (2023: HK$44,611,000). The management
of the Company determined that net reversal of impairment losses on
inventories was recognised in consolidated profit or loss amounting to
approximately HKS$ 12,840,000 (2023: net reversal of impairment losses of
approximately HK$11,400,000) for the year ended 31 March 2024 (Note
19).

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group tests annually whether goodwill and intangible assets with
indefinite life has suffered any impairment. Other non-financial assets are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The
recoverable amounts have been determined based on the higher of
value-in-use or fair value less costs of disposal calculations. These
calculations require the use of judgements and estimates Judgement is
required to determine key assumptions adopted in the valuation models
for impairment review purpose. Changing the assumptions selected by
management in assessing impairment could materially affect the result
of the impairment test and as a result affect the Group’s financial
condition and results of operations. If there is a significant adverse
change in the key assumptions applied, it may be necessary to recognize
additional impairment charge in profit or loss.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Goodwill impairment assessment

The Group has not completed the initial allocation of goodwill acquired
in a business combination before the end of the current financial year in
which the business combination is effected, therefore the initial
allocation will be completed in next financial year. Determining whether
goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the recoverable amount,
which is the higher of the value in use and fair value less costs of
disposal. The value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the
future cash flows expected and a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value. Where the actual future cash flows are less
than expected, or change in facts and circumstances which results in
downward revision of future cash flows, a material impairment loss may
arise. At 31 March 2024, the carrying amount of goodwill is
approximately HK$48,363,000 (2023: Nil) with no impairment loss
identified necessary. Details of the recoverable amount calculation are
disclosed in note 18.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's major financial instruments include trade and other
receivables and deposits, costs to fulfil contracts, cash and cash
equivalents, bank borrowings, other borrowings, trade and other
payables and accruals and lease liabilities. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with
these financial instruments, which include market risk (foreign exchange
risk, interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk, and the
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. Save for credit
risk, the Group does not have written risk management policies and
guidelines. However, the board of directors (the “Board”) meets
periodically to analyse and formulate measures to manage the Group's
exposure to different risks arising from the use of financial instruments.
Generally, the Group employs conservative strategies regarding its risk
management. The management manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.

5.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a) Market risk

(@

Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk refers to the risk that the fair value of
future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong, the PRC, the
United States of America (the “USA”), the United Kingdom
(the "UK") and Europe (the "EUR") with most of the
transactions denominated and settled in HKS, United States
dollars ("US$"), and Renminbi ("RMB"). No foreign currency
risk has been identified for the financial assets and financial
liabilities denominated in RMB, which is the functional
currencies of the subsidiaries in the PRC to which these
transactions relate. The Group’s exposure to foreign
currency risk primarily arises from certain financial
instruments including convertible loan notes, trade and
other receivables and deposits, cash and cash equivalents
and trade payables which are denominated in USS, RMB,
GBP and Euro. During the years, the Group did not have
foreign currency hedging policy but management
continuously monitors the foreign exchange exposure.

As USS is pegged to HKS, the Group does not expect any
significant movements in the US$/HKS exchange rates. No
sensitivity analysis in respect of the Group's financial assets
and liabilities denominated in USS$ is disclosed as in the
opinion of directors, such sensitivity analysis does not give
additional value in view of insignificant movement in the
USS/HKS exchange rates as at reporting date.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(@

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

The following table summarises the Group’s major financial
assets and financial liabilities denominated in currencies
other than the functional currencies of the respective group
companies at the reporting date.

6. I L b AR B H B R BBR (A1)

(a) T EBE (%)

(M

S1EE /L B (4K)

TRBIINHE A HAREE
NERERAZYEEERE A
S ERHECEIRERE
ERTBRAE-

Expressed in HK$'000

RFETE5
2024 2023
2024 F 2036

RMB Euro GBP RMB Euro GBP

ARM 5970 R AR BT B

Deposits and other receivables 1% & & £ 1t J8 4 B 3% 803 - - 139 - -

Cashand cashequivalents e RERRE - 465 - 29 238 -
Trade payables ERER - (8) - - (61) =

Overall net exposure BEmkFE 803 457 - 168 177 -
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. Vs R AR B H B R BOR ()
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(@) Market risk (Continued) (@) i85 I B (4)
(i)  Foreign exchange risk (Continued) (i) HERB(E)
The following table indicates the approximate change in TRERAEBR ZFE (B
the Group’s (loss)/profit for the year and equity in response B)/ &R RERSZBHE
to reasonably possible changes in the foreign exchange g) - B R B) Y RN E &
rates to which the Group has significant exposure at the ZEBUREY (FREER
reporting date. WwE A EmERERRR) o
2024 2023
2024 F 2023F
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease)
inforeign  Effecton inforeign Effect on
exchange loss for Effect  exchange profit for Effect
rates theyear  on equity rates theyear  onequity
SHEER I & &
R/ HEEE HERZ R/ HEEE HERZ
(FH) BEzZE £ (TR) HHlzg2 %
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET FHET THT
RMB ARE +10% (80) (80) +10% 17 17
-10% 80 80 -10% (17) (17)
Euro BT +10% (46) (46) +10% 18 18
-10% 46 46 -10% (18) (18)
GBP 5 +10% - - +10% - -
-10% - - -10% - -
* amount less than HK$1,000 * 2R 1,000 7T

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that
the change in foreign exchange rates had occurred at the
reporting dates and that all other variables remain constant.

The stated changes represent management’s assessment of
reasonably possible changes in foreign exchange rates over
the period until the next annual reporting date. A positive
figure represents a decrease in loss or increase in equity and
vice versa for figures in brackets.

The policies to manage foreign currency risk have been
followed by the Group since prior years and are considered
to be effective.

BRRCE 2 AT T R 3R O [ =&
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6. I L b AR B H B R BBR (A1)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. Bank balances at variable
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest-rate risk while
the convertible loan notes included in other receivables and
other borrowings carried at fixed rates expose the Group to
fair value interest rate risk. The Group’s income and
operating cash flows are substantially independent of
changes in market interest rates.

The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging
policy. However, management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.

As the Group has no significant interest-bearing assets and
liabilities, the Group’s income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market interest
rates.

The policies to manage interest rate risk have been followed
by the Group since prior years are considered to be
effective.

(a) TaE B (%)

(ii)

A= b

MERREMSNEEHE
HEBTARAFEIBER
ERRKBORRERM - 1R
FERABEZRITEBREARE
BHHRSRENXER -
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B EMmEEEASERY
RFENERER  AEEZ
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty to a financial
instrument would fall to discharge its obligation under the terms
of the financial instrument and cause a financial loss to the Group.

Credit risk mainly arises from trade and other receivables, deposits
and cash and cash equivalents.

6. I L b AR B H B R BBR (A1)

(b) 15 & E Fx

EERRESRT AT Rk
ReMTAZEGRETEE &
BAKBESRBMHEBEERZRR

EERRIZRNERERLHE
EKER e RS RFR
RE o

Trade receivables EWRER
Brand
Sales of Research  marketing
pearls and Skincare and and
jewellery solutions development  consulting
products business services services Total
HEYHKRR  EEER 7 L g
KEEm FREYK  WERE RIARY At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THET THET THET TR
At 31 March 2024 R2024F3A31H
Trade receivables, net W E - F5 9,325 77 4,591 1,044 15,037
Most of the Group’s customers do not have independent credit NEBARKLHEPLHEFIZH

rating. Trade receivables are continuously monitored by assessing
the credit quality of the customers, taking into account its financial
position, past experience and other factors. Credit limits of
customers are reviewed periodically. In order to minimise the
credit risk, the management of the Company has to comply with
the credit and risk management policies approved by the Board of
the Company, established credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up actions are taken
to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount for each individual trade receivables including
reviewing the credit history, settlement patterns, subsequent
settlement and ageing analysis in determining the allowance for
doubtful debts and ascertain that the adequate allowance for
doubtful debts are made for irrecoverable amount at the reporting
date. In this regard, the board of directors considers that the
Group's credit risk is effectively controlled and significantly
reduced.

e RBEFBBIREFE
EXE BREEVHMRR BHE
N%&E@I% LAVEFS B BR 5 ©
ARREHERTFL ZEERSE -
Rﬁﬁ%%@ﬁ'ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁE
EETREARRESFSEHAELZRE
ErRBREERE HFEER
CEEEHREMEERT
AERRNRETEEKAHRE
Bolbsh AEERKEBHE
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i HEENREREDITAEE
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EmME EXEeRn AKEZ
EEREREEA RIEH| S KR



Annual Report 2024 &R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
LR A B AR Pk
For the year ended 31 March 2024  #(ZE2024F3A31HILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. E R BE A B H KX BUR (4)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) 15 & mE B (%)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The Group adopted the simplified approach to provide for
expected credit loss which permits the use of the lifetime
expected loss provision for trade receivables.

Management assessed the expected loss on the trade receivable
with significant balances individually by estimation based on the
historical credit loss experience, general economic conditions of
the industry in which the debtors operate and an assessment of
both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at
the reporting date.

As part of the Group's credit risk management, the Group uses
geographical areas to assess the impairment for its remaining
customers because these remaining customers consist of a large
number of small customers with common risk characteristics that
are representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts
due in accordance with the contractual terms.

For sales of pearls and jewellery, the Group's trade receivables are
grouped under a provision matrix based on shared credit risk
characteristics by reference to geographical area, past default
experience and current past due exposure of the debtors. These
rates are adjusted to reflect the differences between the economic
conditions during the period over which the historical data has
been collected and the Group's view of economic conditions over
the credit risk characteristics of the debtors. Such forward-looking
information is used by management of the Company to assess
both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at
the reporting date. The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management of the Company to ensure relevant information
about specific debtors is updated.

For other business segments, the Group measures the expected
credit losses, trade receivables that have been grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due.

PEWE =X ()
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. M4 H5E kg A P H B K BOR (4])
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) 15 B8R B (%)
Trade receivables (Continued) ERER (&)
The expected loss rates are based on the corresponding credit TEHEEEDEARBEWREREB
losses probability of a receivable progressing through successive HEBXBREEREMEMNERE
stages of delinquency to write-off. The loss rates are adjusted FEEEMERTE BHIEXROE
to reflect current and forward-looking information on TR URMEE2EFEERE
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to IR RRE N RBECERENE
settle the receivables. The Tonnett Group has identified the AT N BT BE 4 & B} o Tonnett SR E B2
probabilities of default and recovery ratio to be the most relevant 138 £ BE 3 R el EE R A &
factors. Various economic scenarios are considered in generating HEIE = - TEEH AT IE B
the forward-looking adjustment, including general economic SEEZBELESS  BREER
conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate and an NS PTAETT S BB OB AMOR
assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of AR R & B B8 & AT &R Rk
conditions at the reporting date. SUIE R FEE o
The grouping is regularly reviewed by management of the AAREREETHERNSHE N
Company to ensure relevant information about debtors’ credit BMREBEBAGEERRER
quality and grouping adopted in provision matrix is updated. SEREPTERAN D AR AERE BRI E ST -
The following table shows the Group's expected loss rates (shown TR R 2024F K 2023F3 A
on a weighted average basis) adopted to the ageing analysis of 31E - AEEEE WS RRE D
trade receivables, based on due dates, as at 31 March 2024 and HIH R DT R 2 TE iS58
2023: (R mMETHEESTR)
Gross Net
Expected carrying Loss carrying
loss rate amount allowance amount
BHEER IREAE EREE HREEE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET TET TERT
At 31 March 2024 R2024%3H31H
Ageing based onthe due date  1RIEZIER A 2 Bk iR
Not overdue R E 1.10% 2,244 (25) 2,219
Overdue by: BH
1to 30 days 1£230H 0.66% 10,348 (68) 10,280
31 t0 90 days 31290H 0.37% 2,547 (9) 2,538
91 to 180 days 91&180H 100% 3,236 (3,236) -
181 to 365 days 181 2365 H 100% 747 (747) -
Over 365 days 38365 B 100% 8,807 (8,807) -

27,929 (12,892) 15,037
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For the year ended 31 March 2024  #(ZE2024F3A31HILFE

6. I L b AR B H B R BBR (A1)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(b) 15 & mE B (%)

Trade receivables (Continued) EBWER (&)
Gross Net
Expected carrying Loss carrying
loss rate amount allowance amount
TBHIEEX FEeE B REFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEL FHEL FET
At 31 March 2023 ®2023F3H31H
Ageing based onthe due date  RIZEIEA A 7 BR it
Not overdue R HA - - - -
Overdue by: wHp
1to 30 days 1£230H 2.13% 6,255 (133) 6,122
31t0 90 days 31290H 8.12% 973 (79) 894
91 to 180 days 91%180H 100% 4,984 (4,984) -
181 to 365 days 181 2365 H 100% 739 (739) -
Over 365 days #8365 H 100% 6,793 (6,793) -
19,744 (12,728) 7,016

Relevant information with regard to the exposure of credit risk and
expected credit losses of trade receivables as at 31 March 2024 are
set out in Note 21(a).

As at 31 March 2024, the largest and the five largest customers
accounted for approximately 78.5% and 91.83% (2023: 99% and
100%) of the Group's trade receivables balance respectively. The
directors of the Company considered the credit risk from this
concentration was not significant as these counterparties were
sizeable and well- established companies in the jewellery industry
with sound financial position, one of which is a company listed in
Hong Kong. All of these counterparties have showrooms or retail
stores in Hong Kong or elsewhere in the world.

AREAEWE R 2024F3831H
ZEERBLEHEEEREEZE
BERERAME216) °

MR2024F3A31H  ZARRARE
P allih A& B E W E KGR L
78.5% %% 91.83% (2023 4F : 99% &
100%) - RAREBERBEES I
EEFP 2 EERBYTER R
HAAEZEHFHARKEITEN
BB ERERESE
Rz RAR-Hp—HARES
EFWzRAR-FIEZEHFFYH
REB 2 DRE o it [ B R 8
EREEE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024  #({Z2024F3A31 A ILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
Other receivables and deposits

Other receivables and deposits are mainly comprised of
receivables related to advances to staff and business partner
companies, lease deposits, deposits paid to trading platforms and
other receivables. Management of the Company manages the
receivables and deposits by category, makes periodic assessments
on the recoverability of other receivables based on historical
settlement records, past experience and indemnities provided by
certain guarantors described in note 38. The Company has a large
number of debtors and there is no significant concentration of
credit risk.

Cash and cash equivalents

In respect of cash and cash equivalents, the Group will place them
in banks and financial institutions with high credit ratings assigned
by international credit-rating agencies. Management of the
Company considers the bank balances are short-term in nature
and the probability of default is negligible on the basis of high-
credit-rating issuers, and accordingly, loss allowance was
considered as insignificant.

6.

S 5 B B A B H AR R BOR (4]

(b)

5 B B (4)
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. M4 H5E kg A P H B K BOR (4])
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) 15 & B (%)
The table below details the credit risk exposures of the Group's TREFNEETHEBEEBET
financial assets which are subject to ECL assessment: EOAEESREE ZEERR
External Gross carrying
2024 credit rating 12 month or lifetime ECL amount
2024 F HEBEEFTR NREARZHEHEFESE REAE
HK$’000
TET
Financial assets at amortised costs
REBHEBATEZERHEE
Trade receivables (provision matrix N/A Lifetime ECL 15,139
and expected loss rates) TiE A 2 HEBEESE
FEME R (BB R TE RS BB 18) Lifetime credit-impaired 12,789
2HIEERE
Deposits and other receivables N/A 12 month ECL 14,604
B &E b FE W BR K N EH 1218 A A s E B iE
Bank balances High credit-rating 12 month ECL 13,113
IRITAEER =18 R 2M8 AR EEEEE
Time deposit in financial institution High credit-rating 12 month ECL 24,771

& B A T BTE K ={EEFR REABEREEER
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(c)

6. I L b AR B H B R BBR (A1)

(b) 15 & mE B (%)

External Gross carrying
2023 credit rating 12 month or lifetime ECL amount
20234 SNEBEERTAR 2EAEHEHREEER RERE
HK$'000
TET
Financial assets at amortised costs
RBERATECESRMEE
Trade receivables (provision matrix) N/A Lifetime ECL 7,228
FEU & R (BB ) 3 A THRHEEBR
Lifetime credit-impaired 12,516
HEERE
Deposits and other receivables N/A 12 month ECL 1,309
12 & N H e W BR R i R{EAEHEEER
Bank balances High credit-rating 12 month ECL 17,461
RITHEER =EER 1218 AR E E B
Time deposit in financial institution High credit-rating 12 month ECL 23,800
TRBBEOTESER =1s 8RR 218 AEREEER

The credit policies have been followed by the Group since prior
years and are considered to have been effective in limiting the
Group's exposure to credit risk to a desirable level.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk related to the risk that the Group will not able to
meet its obligation associated with its financial liabilities. In the
management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows in the short and long term.

The liquidity policies have been followed by the Group since prior
years and are considered to have been effective in managing
liquidity risk.

(c)

AEEZEEBRRCERSZF
TRBEBRRBEAGAEEE
i 2 5 B R R B A IR AR K E -

T8 & < B

mBE R BN B RAEETT
HEwemaBEcEEnEARE
Me-aEERBESARSE -
AEEERMEFEEERA/R
WORERFRRSKFE  BAE
SEZEERHEESRRERS
MERHEEMES  FE -

AEEBzRPECRRCERS
FURARBREBRAREER
BESRR -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE2024F3A31 B IFFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

6. I L b AR B H B R BBR (A1)

() Liquidity risk (Continued) (o) WEE SR b ()
The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities at TRETR HA R AN 65 [ e
the end of reporting period of the Group’s trade and other f?&(&ﬁ@%ﬁﬂﬁm&[ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ .
payables and accruals, other borrowings and lease liabilities based HiEERHEBBEZHTAEY
on undiscounted cash flows (include interest payments computed FIEARE - ARBRIRRS
using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the mE (BIEERE KR L (i 7%
end of reporting period) and the earliest date the Group can be FEME) RN MERARZAEAE
required to pay. ZFERF )&ZFE@—HEZKHZE!
%Zﬁi El /HH =
The Group’'s financial liabilities have contractual maturities as AEBEeRABELEOEAN
follows: N
On demand Between
or less than 1and 5
1 year years Total
RERR
PR—F —ZERfF st
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHETT FAT FATT
At 31 March 2024 R2024%3A31H
Trade and other payables and JE AT & R B L A FE AN BR AR
other accruals REMmESER 20,034 - 20,034
Lease liabilities HEBE 1,185 990 2,175
Bank borrowings RITEE 5,421 - 5,421
Other borrowings (Note) HAfEE (M) 4,000 - 4,000
30,640 990 31,630
At 31 March 2023 M2023F3A31H
Trade and other payables and JE AT & 3R K E At JE (< BR 3R
other accruals REAMEER 17,916 = 17,916
Lease liabilities HEAE 769 = 769
Other borrowings (Note) HaEE () 2,000 = 2,000
20,685 - 20,685
Note: As at 31 March 2024, the aggregate carrying amounts of these other MEE: M2024F3A31H ZEEMEEZ

borrowings amounted to approximately HK$4,000,000 with fixed term of one
year without repayment on demand clause (2023: HK$2,000,000 with a
repayment on demand clause). The directors of the Company consider that
such other borrowings will be repaid within one year (2023: one year) after
the end of the reporting period in accordance with the scheduled repayment
dates set out in the loan agreements.

8 T 48 B 49 7% 4,000,000 78 7T » & E HA
BE—F BTEREREEER
(2023¢ 2,000,000 7T A& 2k E
BIER) - ANRREERE %ZEH
fEERRIEERBZEMEZBE
B8 B EIR R HAR e — 4 (2023 4F -
—F)NEE -
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Fair value estimation

(@

(ii)

Financial instruments not measured at fair value

Financial instruments not measured at fair value include
trade and other receivables, deposits, cash and cash
equivalents, trade and other payables, accruals and other
borrowings. The directors of the Company consider that the
carrying amounts of these financial assets and liabilities
approximate their fair values at 31 March 2024 and 2023.

Financial instruments measured at fair value

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities with standard
terms and conditions and traded on active liquid markets
are determined with reference to quoted market prices.

The hierarchy groups financial assets and liabilities into
three levels based on the relative reliability of significant
inputs used in measuring the fair value of these financial
assets and liabilities. The fair value hierarchy has the
following levels:

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

Inputs other than quoted prices included within level
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived
from prices) (level 2).

Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is unobservable inputs)
(level 3).

6.

S 5 B B A B H AR R BOR (4]

(d) AFMEAEF

(M

(ii)

YHBEAFEFAEZEMT
2

WIkRAFEFEC2RT
ﬂ@%@%%%&ﬁm%w
e ReRkFRRE
% Eﬁim&ﬁm%ﬁ%
CEEHERAREMEER-
$ REERAZSEME
ErBEZEABEHER
20244 N 20233 A31H Z
NEFEESE -

BEATVEFEZEWMIA

P 5 13 2 1R TR S AR A 0 BB
MBMEEBEZEREENR
B2 ATFEENZETS

IRBREAEHTERE
ENABEZAFEEMER
M 28 ABIRNEYE R 5
BRE Ke@mEERAGS
DR=ZBAR - AFERE
DRATER

BREEXBELE
Bz HRE (CRERA
BY(FE18R) -

BREERB1IEZRE
S BERABZAIE
=HE & (AER) XM
(AR BER @A
IR (B2 »

WIKBERABERETS
BEMETZEEX
BEBAE (AIAA
B AHE) (F3
&) o
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE2024F3A31 B IFFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. B B A B H B R BOR (4])
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(d) Fair value estimation (Continued) (d) PR ()
(i)  Financial instruments measured at fair value (i) BAFETEZSRIA
(Continued) (&)
The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the EemEEZHEF QT
financial assets is categorised in its entirety is based on the BERZKFERERFE
lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value HEREAREZHEBA
measurement. The financial assets measured at fair value in BIEKE - RERB AR
the consolidated statement of financial position are FRELATFHEAEZEHME
grouped into the fair value hierarchy as follows: ENEBUATHRAFES
&
At 31 March 2024 7202453 H31H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F14R H28 H3 et
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
Financial assets SRMEE THET FET FExT FHET
Financial assets at FVOCI: AT ERA
EtrmEmlzse
TREE :
— Interest in Campfire Group  — # Campfire 5 [#]
(detailed in Note 33) 2=
(5 RLP7E33) - - - -
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E14 $E2ik 3R et
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Financial liabilities EMmas THET FET FE T FHET
Financial liabilities at FVPL: &2 &5 A
BERCzEMEE:
— Convertible Bond — MR ES
(Note 29) (MF5E29) - - 70,800 70,800
— Accumulated Profit — B ARE

Guarantee (Note 29) (F5E29) - = (31,088) (31,088)
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For the year ended 31 March 2024  #({Z2024F3A31 A ILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(ii)

6. I L b AR B H B R BBR (A1)

(d) Fair value estimation (Continued) (d) 2AFEMEF ()
Financial instruments measured at fair value i) BEAFEFEZERMIA
(Continued) (#&)
Sensitivity analysis BEE D
At 31 March 2024, it is estimated that a general increase/ 20243 A31 8 FEEF A
decrease of HK$0.005 in the Company's share price, with all ANARIBRELE LA TH
other variables held constant, would have increased/ 00057 7T » M E b A] B FE =
decreased the fair value of convertible bond of wRAE ATBRRESFHQ
approximately HK$278,000. And, at 31 March 2024, it is T E #5185 00,5 4 49278,000
estimated that a general increase/decrease of 2.5% in the BT o 20243318 -
Tonnett Group's revenue, with all other variables held TEE Tonnett & B MY A i
constant, would have increased/decreased the fair value of #0058 2 2.5% ¢ i E Ath AT
convertible bond of approximately HK$565,000 to FREREFTE  ETTRAEB
HK$594,000 in different scenarios. MT - ABRERESFHRFE
1 1 10, 2> 49 565,000 7T
% 594,000 4 7T ©
The sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous EXWMBRESITETRRE
change in the fair value of convertible bond that would SHEBEPRBEHAREE
arise assuming that the change in parameters had occurred B Al BRESHATES
at the end of the reporting period. Blas &) -
At 31 March 2023 R2023%F3H31H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
B B E3M st
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
Financial assets SREE FHET FHET FHET FHET
Financial assets at FVOCI: BRAFEGFAEMS
HlmscemEE
— Interest in Campfire Group  — H Campfire & &
(detailed in Note 33) 2 KE

(FERMIFE33)
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For the year ended 31 March 2024  #(ZE2024F3A31HILFE

6. I L b AR B H B R BBR (A1)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Fair value estimation (Continued)

(ii)

Financial instruments measured at fair value
(Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised

(d) 2A-TFEMEF ()

(ii)

RATEFTEZEWMIA
(&)

HBE T H ()

RRAFESREIRDEZ

within level 3 of fair value hierarchy: NFEFTELHER
Campfire
Group
Campfire £
HK$'000
FET

Carrying amounts as at 1 April 2022,

720225 4F18 ~2023F3 8318 »

31 March 2023, 1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024 2023F 4R 1AR2024F3 831 BZKEE -

The methods and valuation techniques used for the
purpose of measuring fair values are unchanged compared
to the previous reporting periods.

The Group's policy is to recognise transfer between levels of
fair value hierarchy as of the date of the events or change in
circumstances that cause the transfer. There have been no
significant transfers between the levels in the reporting
periods.

The Group's financial assets classified in Level 3 use
valuation technique based on significant inputs that are not
based on observable market data.

B AT S I L8 BLE
ERFEERZITAREE
B e

AEB 2 BRR BN 5| s &
ZEMHFHBRABIE AER
RFEERIEZ2ERE - R
BEHRSRZELEEXN
-

AEEBLBERFIRZER
BECEBEREANEARE
(W FEER A B R T HHIE)
Z A ERM o
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For the year ended 31 March 2024  #({Z2024F3A31 A ILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. Vs R AR B H B R BOR ()
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(e) Financial instruments by category (e) &I M 43 0y o hk T H
The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated statement of HEMBRAKP R ZEEEAE
financial position relate to the following categories of financial HEUTEMEELERABEER
assets and financial liabilities: B -
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FET FHEIT

Financial assets as per consolidated FENBRRERMIEHEE

statement of financial position

Financial assets at FVOCI: BAFEFAEMEERE
ZEREE
— Interest in Campfire Group (Note 33) — M Campfire 52 B 2 #E 2
(M5 33) - -
Financial assets measured at amortised cost: IZE X AT E 2 S REE ¢
— Trade and other receivables and — FEWCE T E A AR 5K
deposits (Note 21) Riz® (H5E21) 30,054 8,023
— Cash and cash equivalents (Note 23) —Re RERE® (MFFE23) 37,884 41,261
Total HBEt 67,938 49,284

Financial liabilities as per consolidated #Z& M BRAKRFAFISRE RS
statement of financial position

Financial liability measured at amortised IR ATEC SRMEE

costs:
— Trade and other payables and — BN B E M E R

other accruals (Note 24) NE M ER &R (5E24) 20,034 17,916
— Lease liabilities (Note 26) —HE&aE (fHE26) 2,060 758
— Bank borrowings (Note 27) —RITEE (HsE27) 5,421 =
— Other borrowings (Note 28) — EmfEE (fisE28) 4,000 2,000

Total FE 35,515 20,674
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REVENUE

Revenue from sales of pearls and jewellery and skincare solutions
products represents the amounts received and receivable from
customers in respect of goods sold less returns and allowances.

Revenue from provision of different kinds of services is recognised based
on relevant service and contract terms.

Interest income on financial assets is accrued on a time basis, by
reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate

7.

LN

HELHRKBEMEERRTRERZ
WAL E e W R B P 2 IR R
RERST -

KB R FEEERSE 2 WA TIREE
FABRTS S & AR SR IERR -

EREEZMBRATIEZ2EHAEE
RERABRERNRZER ZEER

applicable. Bt o
The Group's revenue recognised during the year is as follows: FACERZAEBRALT :
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 FF
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FEx FHET
Recognised over time PERFE B R
Scientific research services L AR 75 87 -
Small animal breeding services NEY) RS RS 159 -
Consulting services AR 855 -
Brand authorisation services mn R I AR 7 599 -

Sales of pearls and jewellery and skincare R EBAZEBUBRSE
solutions from contracts with customers 2 H|F 15558 E R 2 HEL B
within the scope of HKFRS 15 recognised RKEREERBRAAIENE

ata pointin time F&EHBA

— Sales of pearls —HEEK

— Design and sales of jewellery products — R RHEREEM
— Sales of skincare products —HEEE M

— Consulting services —iB RS

Revenue from other sources outside the scope & /& B 75 ¥R 45 #E BI| 25 15 5 £ & 4

of HKFRS 15 Interest income from strategic 2 H At HOR 2 AR

investment and financial services B 7% AR 7% F1 B A

MG E &

51,976 85,230
1,165 6,721
49,183 78,509
1,474 -
154 -

= 1,650

53,676 86,880
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For the year ended 31 March 2024  #({Z2024F3A31 A ILFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group's operating segments have been determined based on the
information reported to the executive directors, being the chief
operating decision maker of the Group, that are used for performance
assessment and to make strategic decisions. The Group's operating
businesses are structured and managed separately according to the
nature of their operations and the products and services they provide.
Each of the Group's operating segments represents a strategic business
unit that offers products and services which are subject to risks and
returns that are different from those of other operating segments. Upon
completion of the acquisition of Tonnett Group on 9 February 2024, the
Group currently has five operating segments:

(@)  Sales of pearls and Design and sales of jewellery
jewellery products products, and sales of pearls

(b)  Strategicinvestmentand  Real estate financial assets
financial services investments

() Skincare solutions business Sales of skincare solution products to
segment cosmetic stores and hospitals by
sales contracts, and individuals via
online sales platforms, under the
brand name — "FO"

(d)  Research and development Provision of professional scientific
services segment services based on contracts with
agreed terms of services

(e)  Brand marketing and Provision of brand marketing and
consulting services consulting services based on
segment contracts with agreed terms of

services

8. k&R

AEBZELEHHERERNITES (]
AEBEFELERBN)BRECERE
- BBER T AERGHRERELR
BEERTE - NEBZEEEBHIREE
EBUHERAREC ERERBBEER
BUERE - AEBESLEE DI EREE
MmN R R ERELM - HEARKR K
[B] 53 A Bl 5 H 48 & 55 3B o PR 2024 4F 2
AoB KU B Tonnett £ [E 1% - AN E
REFE AELEDER

(@ WEPKRE RARHEEKREE
KEEm moHURHEEDR
75

b) KREEREN FHESREER
M#kRE &

© EBBRT LAmM[rol &
REBn BBHEEAEOM
#B et /& K BB
EEBRRT R
B LB BB
tHEEFaRE
EPHE#RE
FRORTT RE M

o MERBD REBESLHBEOR

B BiEZ - EHE
ERHT RS

€ MmEEHEk REAHOHBENR
AR &R R
7 HB i & 55 Ko vk 7 AR

%
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE2024F3A31 B IFFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 8.

The executive directors assess the performance of the operating
segments based on a measure of segment results. This measurement
basis excludes the effects of non-recurring expenditure and of corporate
expenses from the operating segments. Other information provided to
the executive directors is measured in a manner consistent with that in

the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s reportable segment revenue, results, assets,

v i R (48)

HTEERES BLATHERELE
SEMER - UHBEERDELESE
CHBER RO HE iR
BIHTEE Y R ERHREEA BT
BE-MZHRHE -

AR S BEH 2T 2HH B

liabilities and other selected financial information by operating segments A RE BE BERAMETENS
are as follows: BRI
Brand
Salesof  Strategic Research  marketing
pearlsand  investment Skincare and and
jewellery and financial solutions development  consulting
products services business services services Total
HEVHKR RMRER EEBR mEEHER
KEER UBEE ARRE  BREE  BARE @t
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TET BT THET TR TR THER
Fortheyearended 31 March 2024  EZ2024 %3831 ALLEE
Segment revenue AHHEA 50,348 - 1,474 245 1,609 53,676
Finance income BBhE 27 1,282 13 - 1 1323
Segment profit/(loss) A/ (BR) 4,084 (7,510) (399) (3,540) (990) (8,355)
Unallocated finance costs RAREBRE (276)
Unallocated corporate income RAECEYE 86
Loss before income tax BEEHAER (8,545)
Fortheyearended 31 March2023  EZ203F3A31ALEE
Segment revenue ABRA 85,230 1650 = S > 86,880
Segment (loss)/profit 25 (8518),/ & (1,033) 9616 £ = = 8583
Unallocated finance income KRR HYE 217
Unallocated finance costs RABREBRE (1,029)
Unallocated corporate expenses FOREERS 1,005

Profit before income tax (restated)

FRATSHATE A (B E3I)

8,676
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For the year ended 31 March 2024  #({Z2024F3A31 A ILFE

8.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 8. rEb&EM (4)
Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated from FXERZDBRATBREIINEFPEE
external customers. There were no inter-segment sales in the years. 2 REFEWEDEBHEBEE -
Segment results represent profit/(loss) incurred by each segment DEHEERESHIBELEZ RN, (F
without allocation of central administrative expenses including directors’ B) MU ESREFRTEASZ 2
emoluments and salaries and other operating expenses incurred by the EEMe RHFEURARAT RIgEER
Company and the investment holding companies, certain other gains/ RAEIEAZEMEERY BT EMEK
(losses) and finance income and costs. This is the measure reported to &=/ (B18) R U es RACAS © it T3k
the chief operating decision maker for the purposes of resource AERERITEDIRBRMMA EZLE
allocation and assessment of segment performance. REANBRIETE ©
Segment assets and liabilities 43 B B H A
The following is an analysis of the carrying amount of assets and TXEINEREEKLREMERED 2
liabilities analysed by the geographical area of operations of the Group: BEENMBEZREESN
At 31 March 2024 202453 H31H
Brand
Sales of Strategic Research  marketing
pearlsand  investment Skincare and and
jewellery and financial solutions development  consulting
products services business services services Total
HEVUR XRWRER EEER mEEHR
KEER BBRE HREE  WRERE  FHERS -
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
THER THER THR TH7 TH7r THR
Segment assets e
— Hong Kong —54 69,079 25,633 - - - 94,712
—The PRC — 1,072 - 3,598 16,114 7,423 28,207
70,151 25,633 3,598 16,114 7,423 122,919
Unallocated goodwil* KolEE 48,363
Unallocated corporate assets KR EEE 25,520
Total assets EERE 196,802
Segment liabilities FHEE
— Hong Kong —&% (9,810)  (16,066) - - - (25,876)
—The PRC — (1,265) - (2:342) (1,084) - (4,691)
(11,075) (16,066) (2,342) (1,084) - (30,567)
Unallocated corporate liabilities RARCEEE (53,443)
Totalliabilites AEES (84,010)
Note: Bt 3

*

In current year, the Group has not completed the initial allocation of goodwill
acquired in a business combination before the end of the current financial year in
which the business combination is effected, therefore the initial allocation will be
completed in next financial year.

y RAFE  AEBIRKEBE G ERNE

Al B R AE SRAT  SEAR TSR OF h AT UGB
BENTNL DR BUNFZ o EHR T —E
MBERETK
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE2024F3A31 B IFFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

At 31 March 2023

8. Jr#bEFH(4)

g ¥R A AU (1)

A 20233 A31H

Sales of Strategic
pearls and investment
jewellery and financial
products services Total
HEDKRE FKERERER
B E M B 7% AR 75 et
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FHT FHT FHET
Segment assets PWEE
— Hong Kong — &% 62,115 32,675 94,790
— The PRC — 2,598 - 2,598
64,713 32,675 97,388
Unallocated corporate assets ROMEEEE 2,463
Total assets BEMBE 99,851
Segment liabilities PEHEE
— Hong Kong (restated) — &8 (EEY) (10,578) (2,765) (13,343)
— The PRC — (1,463) - (1,463)
(12,041) (2,765) (14,806)
Unallocated corporate liabilities ROEEEEE (6,757)
Total liabilities (restated) BEBE(KEY) (21,563)
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating REZSHRBARRHSEBEPEEIR -

resources between segments:

— all assets are allocated to operating segments other than certain

property, plant and equipment, certain deposits and prepayments,

and certain cash and cash equivalents that are not attributable to

individual segments.

— all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than
convertible bond, certain accruals and other payables, and other
borrowings that are not attributable to individual segments.

BRETYE BEERRE BT
ReMBENFE URETHES
kERRE T ARBEID &I -
PIEEEONEERENED

FRABRES ETEAERAR
HMEMNEREEBEE T A
@R 2 &SN FBERESIDEE

A
L EL o
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 8. &R (4)
Other segment information Fo At 43 38 R

For the year ended 31 March 2024

HZ2024F3A31BLLFE

Brand
Salesof Strategic Research  marketing
pearlsand  investment Skincare and and
jewellery and financial solutions development  consulting
products services business services services Total
HEVHR XKRER ERERR mEEHER
KEER BBRE HREE  WRERE  FHERS b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL T THR THER TR
Amounts included in the measure of T B2 &R/ (FB) RIHE
segment profit/(loss) and segment ~ EFTit Az &5
assets
Additions to property, plant and REWME - BEREE
equipment 179 - - - - 179
Depreciation of property, plant and nE - BERREE
equipment (141) (18) (99) (207) - (465)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEINE (1,000) - (101) (158) - (1,259)
Reversal of (provision for) allowance for -~ B[/ (:H12) B EF 2 B 12
FCL on trade receivables, net ERRAE F8 4,641 - (1,286) (2,054) (888) 413
Reversal of (provision for) allowance for B[,/ (3H2) Efp B Z 2 B
ECL on other receivables, net HEEEERE 8 - - 260 (253) (19) (12)
Reversal of allowance for ECL on depostt, #EI%¢z BEEEEE #E -
net ek - - 2 - - 2
Impairment loss on property, plantand ~ #1% - BE REZER FAREEE
equipment and right-of use assets JREBE (197) - - - - (197)
Reversal of impairment losses on ROGERBEER $%
inventories, net 12,840 - - - - 12,840
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 8. #HEbER (%)

Fo At 53 5 BB (1)

Other segment information (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BZ2023F3A31ALEE

Sales of Strategic
pearls and investment
jewellery and financial
products services Total
HEDKRE FKERERER
B E M B 7% AR 75 et
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FHT FHT T
Amounts included in the measure of 525 ZEF,(EE) ko
segment profit/(loss) and segment EE st AZ 25
assets
Additions to property, plant and NEWME  BELEE
equipment - 26 26
Depreciation of property, plant and W BERREBINE
equipment (179) (12) (191)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TRAEEEZTE (1,234) - (1,234)
Loss on termination of leases LI E v EiE (105) - (105)
Reversal of allowance for ECLon trade BB EWERZBHEEE
receivables, net BEE - T8 4,879 - 4879
Reversal of/(provision for) allowance for B [0],/(5112) Ef U R 2
ECL on other receivables, net TEHEEBERE (302) 15211 14,909
Reversal of impairment losses on BOoFERERBE  F8
inventories, net 11,400 - 11,400
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For the year ended 31 March 2024  #({Z2024F3A31 A ILFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 8. k&R (%)
Geographical Information b [ R
The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong, the PRC, the USA and Europe. REBEEZRNES R E - B REUM
The Group's revenue from external customers based on the locations of o REBIRKEMTEHE D 2 RA
operations and information about its non-current assets by geographical NP zWam RigZEEE 2SS
location of the assets are detailed below: DZIERBEE L ERFFINNAT ¢
Revenue from
external customers Non-current assets*
REENEF zWEH FREEE
2024 2023 2024 2023
2024 F 20235 2024 F 2023 F
HK$’000 HKS$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET FHERT FHET
The USA* R 42,330 74,480 - -
Europe B
— The UK — R - 1,693 - -
— Others — HA 780 267 = -
Hong Kong aBE 6,790 8,088 1,528 886
Asian countries MBI R
— The PRC —
(excluding Hong Kong) (TBEEES) 3,328 538 25,555 93
— Others — Hfth 448 607 - -
Others Efth - 307 - -
53,676 86,880 27,083 979
* Non-current assets included property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, right- * FRBEEECREYE  WERRE B
of-use assets and non-current prepayments only. BE - ERREERFRSANKEA -
¢ Included in the sales of pearls and jewellery products segment, revenue from the : HERDKRKEEMD BEEEE 202453
transactions with one individual customer, which is located in the USA, amounted to A3BIEFE B-—RBUREEZENE
approximately HK$42,330,000 (2023: HK$74,233,000) which represented FR 52 WA# 5423300007 7T (2023 F -
approximately 79% (2023: 85%) of total revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 74,233,000 7T) + fh A& B R U A K 79%

March 2024. (2023 4F : 85%) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE2024F3A31 B IFFE

OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES), NET 9. Hiwwkz: (E#E) - FH
2024 2023
2024 2023
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FEx FHET
Exchange gain/(loss), net B Wk (BE) - F5 4 (2,976)
Impairment loss on property, plant and ME - BERFREN R
equipment and right-of-use assets REEERERE (197) -
Impairment loss on prepayment for pearls PIRERN HRIE 2 REEE (2,284) -
Change in fair value of convertible bond AmRkES 2 AT EZES 2,997 -
Loss on termination of leases RIEHRE B - (105)
Government grants® BRI Eh - 333
Others" Htp (36) 1236
484 (1,512)
* The government grants were mainly consisted of the sum HK$288,000 received by BRESHEERE203FETHEARRA

certain subsidiaries in connection with the new phase of Employment Support
Scheme launched by Hong Kong Government and approximately HK$45,000
received by a subsidiary in the PRC received from the relevant authorities of the PRC
to support enterprise against the negative brought by the COVID-19 pandemic in
2023. There were no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, included in the others were mainly the
extension premium and cure payment in an aggregate amount of GBP120,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$1,120,000) arisen from convertible loan notes and
relevant interest previously recorded under other receivables.

BERNELAF SR ETE MR
#9288,00074 7T & AR B — A T B8 A Bl A
TR EBPT W B A 2 45 1 B 201978 AR
SHRE G AT R AR Z K 44500055
TC o L E MBI AR E ARG AR EE -

REE203F383ALEFE HibExEB
AR IR B R R R E £ M 4858 5120,000 &
&2 (FE 7 491,120,000 7T) B I 8135 B 08
AR AR ATRE SR AE H A FEUBE T Y
RS -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024  #({Z2024F3A31 A ILFE

10. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 10. BR P fBi i (518) ¥

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
HK$’000 HKS$'000
F&T FHT
Costs of inventories sold, excluding (reversal of)/ 2 HEFEX A - TEIHEF SR E

provision for impairment on inventories (@), s 47,670 88,792
Costs of services AR 75 B 7R 430 -
Reversal of provision for impairment loss on R EREESE

inventories, net’ Bml - HERY (12,840) (11,400)
Employee benefit expenses (including directors' € B @A (BIEE FB &) *

emoluments)* (restated) (Note 11) (geE5)) (k1) 15,103 10,071
Auditor's remuneration % BLRT BN &

— Audit services — BZRS 1,600 650

— Non-audit services” — BB 656 62
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  ¥1% - &= KR EHTE (3E15)

(Note 15) 465 191
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 17)  {FFREEEITE (M 17) 1,259 1,234
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 16) mpAEEE (MEe) 205 -
Reversal of allowance for ECL on trade BEEWER EHREEEBE

receivables, net (Note 21(a)) B - FEE (M 210) (413) (4,879
Provision for/(reversal of) allowance for ECLon  5t42,/(# [8]) £ ib & Ui BR 7 2 78 &5

other receivables, net (Note 21(b)) SEBEEE FEME20) 12 (14,909)
Professional fee for acquisition of Wi Tonnett R E M E X & A

Tonnett Group (Note 38) (FF5E38) 3,752 -
Short-term leases payments, gross (Note 17) k2 HAFA & 4 54858 (M sE17) 458 488
* The amount was included in the cost of sales in the consolidated profit or loss. # ZeRBEHAREEBR ZHEERENA -

* No forfeited contribution available for offset against existing contributions to pension * RARFER - I FR W E KA R E R

costs defined contribution plans and social security costs during the year (2023: Nil). ATHEKBRARSERARMTREBIED
BIRBHEK(2023F : F) o

. The amount of HK$640,000 represented the auditor acting as reporting accountant in . 640,000 78 7T 5 1% 5 Bl 3 U2 B Tonnett 58 [ 12

TEREAMOME ZS BT AKE
Tonnett B HEEF -

connection with the acquisition of Tonnett Group, which is also included in the
professional fee for acquisition of Tonnett Group.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE2024F3A31 B IFFE

11. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS EMOLUMENTS)

11. R E ML (BFEEENE)

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FEx FHEIT
(restated Note 3)
(&5
BEE3)
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TEREMEF 14,513 9,367
Pension costs defined contribution plans and 2 2 & A AN TE 2B 3K
social security costs FE & (R RK AN 590 704
15,103 10,071
Five highest paid individuals 4% B v N

The five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group for the
year include two (2023: one) existing director of the Company, whose
emoluments are set out in Note 43 below. The emolument of the
remaining three (2023: four) individuals is as follows:

FR - AEEBREERFHALTBER
NRIMEG (203F : —Z)BEAEE &
Z NS ER T EE43 - Her =4 (2023
FoB)ALTZHEWT

2024 2023

2024 F 2023 F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FTET FET

Salaries, wages and other benefits e TEREMBEFR 6,051 2,617
Pension costs defined contribution plansand & Z & K A E B H KT EI &

social security costs FEEIRFE AL A 19 70

6,070 2,687
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11. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 11.
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS EMOLUMENTS)
(CONTINUED)

Except for the directors’ remuneration disclosed in Note 43, the number
of the remaining three (2023: four) individuals whose remuneration fell
within the following bands is as follows:

D B 6 A B S (B35 )
(4)

BRI MBECESMEIN  BRT
5 E iR E < e =4 (20234 - M)
AL ABT

Number of employees

EBEAH"

2024 2023

2024 F 2023

Nil to HK$1,000,000 = 2 1,000,000 78 7T 1 3
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7 7T 2= 1,500,000 7% 7T 1 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7 7T Z 2,000,000 %5 7T - -
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 %8 7T 2 2,500,000 & 7T - -
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 78 JT 2 3,000,000 75 7T - -
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 78 JT 2 4,000,000 7 7T - -
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,500,001 & 7T & 5,000,000 78 7T 1 -

During the year ended 31 March 2024, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to the five highest paid individuals, including directors, as
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office (2023: Nil).

During the year ended 31 March 2024, a special bonus paid by the
Group to the one individual amounted to approximately HK$4,500,000.
(2023: Nil).

REZE204F3A3NBILFE  A&EH
VERAGRSTHALT(BEEE) X
NEMME - ERRSI EMAZRIMA
NEBF 2 SEN BB E (20234 ¢
] o

REE204F3A3BHILEFE  A&EE
A1 — 2 & B A £ BB RITEAL %) 4,500,000
T (20235 1 E)
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE2024F3A31 B IFFE

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

12. Fifa B X%

2024 2023

2024 F 20234

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FET FETT

Current tax B ERFH IR 18 -
Deferred tax credit (Note 34) EIERTE (M £ 34) (2) -
Income tax expense FrEHiA X 16 -

Hong Kong Profits Tax

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the Group has
tax losses brought forward which are available for off-set against the
estimated assessable profits for the year (2023: Nil). Under the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed
at 16.5%. The profits of entity not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

PRC corporate income tax

In accordance with the relevant PRC corporate income tax laws,
regulations and implementation guidance notes, subsidiaries in the PRC
are subject to the PRC corporate income tax rate at 25% or 5% for certain
subsidiaries which are qualified as small low-profit enterprises under the
Announcement of the State Administration of Taxation on Issues
Relating to Implementation of Inclusive Income Tax Relief Policy for
Small Low-profit Enterprises, of the estimated assessable profits during
the year (2023: 25%). No provision for PRC corporate income tax has
been made as the PRC subsidiaries have no estimated assessable profits
for the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil).

5 9 75 B

RN AREBHEA AR FRIERE  a#EH
FAZBFTERBUAT - I ERE S
RIS ERE (202346 : ) - IREFIE
AR sl - & &% E 2 E 20000008
TT v M 15 32 8.25% HiFE + M 2,000,000 75 7T
LA F 2% R 81216 5% 8 F: - TR A LB
BARBF SR ARG 2 BB 255
1% 26 28 1 ) — B0 2R 16.5% BT ©

o 1 i 3 i 45 Bt

RIBAEBPBRCEMBRERZ B0 KL
EiESlEE  PENBARARFRN
haH FERR B8 ) 25% 2 Fi & (20234 ¢
25%) * WETHBRAGFAERAE(H
KRG BERER N MACELENE
ISR eBRRE@MENAE) TH
INBUBE R I 2 5% 2 B R - B AR B 1
¥MBH -ARPEWNBELAAREZR
2024 F3 A3 AL FEWEMETERT
) (2023 « &) MW ERPRHCE
FriSFR1E L B o
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For the year ended 31 March 2024  #({Z2024F3A31 A ILFE

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

12. i3 BE b X (4])

Withholding tax on distributed/undistributed TR AR 43 Ik A 2 B

profits

The PRC tax law imposes a withholding tax at 10%, unless reduced by a B2008F 1 A1 B BRIERBERH

tax treaty, for dividends distributed by PRC subsidiaries to its immediate 1RA) T LR - & AR BB L AR 5E

holding company outside the PRC for earnings generated beginning on MBARREERMmMAEFAESEINE

1 January 2008. No withholding tax on distributed/undistributed profits EERAR D IRKREBZBMI0%IEN

of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil). BB E204FIAINALEFE A&
BB 5k K9 & R I T80 R
(20234 : &) o

The amount of income tax position for the year can be reconciled to the REFRFBM R ERRPTEH AT (&

(loss)/profit before income tax as follows:

18), w2z HRIT

2024 2023
2024 F 2023
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FEx FHET
(restated Note 3)
(&5 -
PEE3)
(Loss)/profit before income tax BrET1SFLAT (B51R), & 7 (8,529) 8,676
Tax calculated at statutory income tax rate at %25 E TS HFE R 16.5%
16.5% (2023: 16.5%) (20234 : 16.5%) 5t E 2 Bi1E (1,407) 1431
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries REMAEERZEE ZMEBAF
operating in other Jurisdictions TRMEZzZE 464 (313)
Tax effect of; M2 -
Expenses that are not deductible L d 53
for tax purpose 1,056 833
Income not subject to tax BERD WA (141) (3.724)
Temporary differences not recognised BARER G EE 7 14
Tax losses not recognised MR R BIIEEE 871 1,878
Utilisation of tax losses not recognised AL ARER ZHIAEE
previously (834) (119)

16 =
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE2024F3A31 B IFFE

13. S OBE#R), &M

2024 2023
2024 20234
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FEx FHEIT
(restated Note 3)
(&7 -
MIEE3)
(Loss)/profit attributable to equity holders RARIEREE AEG
of the Company (B18), &7 (7,448) 8,676
2024 2023
2024 F 2023
‘000 '000
T F i
Weighted average number of ordinary shares ~ Bhat E &R E AR (E518), B F|FTH
for the purpose of calculating basic (loss)/ ZEBRonEFE (FR)
earnings per share (thousands) 644,990 603,392

Basic (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by dividing the (loss)/profit
attributable to equity holders of the Company by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year. The weighted
average number of shares used for the purpose of calculating basic
(loss)/earnings per share for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023
has been adjusted for the issue of shares pursuant to the Rights Issue
(Note 31(a)) which increased the ordinary share on 12 May 2022. 31@))

As at 31 March 2024, the Company has outstanding convertible bond
(2023: share options), of which the conversion of convertible bond will
result an antidilution on loss per share for the year ended 31 March 2024,
and the exercise price of the share options exceeded the average market
price of ordinary shares, thus share option was not considered to be
exercised during both years ended 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023.

14. DIVIDEND

The directors do not recommend any payment of dividend in respect of

the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil).

BREAX (BB BF A QR ER
BB ANEW (EB18), 5 F) [@L\AEWE%’%
TEBRZIMEFHEGE - BRFTHE
#H E 2024 F & 2023F 3 A 31 EIJLEE
REAR (B518), /B F & niEFEREE
HBBEHBRETROETHAE (Wit
P A20224E5 B 12 BHIEINEBAY -

R2024F3 831 H KRR HAKRITE

AR ES (20234 « BEARAE) - B EE
BMAMRESSHEE2024F3H31H

LHFENERERARBEXE mH
BEMTEEIBL EBRNFEH

B WA ZE2024%3A31 8 K202343
A3 BIEMEFE  T2EETFERR
T o

14. B& l%\

ExTEa
J& IR A AR AT B

A AE 2045331 HIEE
B (20235 : &) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024  #({Z2024F3A31 A ILFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. W3E ~ Wb Be ikt i

Furniture,
Leasehold Plantand fixturesand Motor
improvements machinery  equipment Vehicles Computers Total
HE S B
BFEE Rk RERRE HE B @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TET TET THT TET TET AT
Year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3 A31H
LEE
Opening net book amount FNREFE 258 154 - - - 412
Additions NE - - 26 - - 26
Depreciation (Note 10) & (H10) (135) (55) m - - (191)
Closing net book amount FRERFH 123 99 25 - - 247
At 31 March 2023 R2022%3 8310
Cost KA 539 20,376 340 2650 - 23,905
Accumulated depreciationand 247 & RIRE
impairment (416) (20,277) (315) (2,650) - (23,658)
123 99 25 - - 247
Furniture,
Leasehold Plantand fixtures and Motor
improvements ~ machinery  equipment vehicles  Computers Total
HERT HE &
£ R#E KERRE RE EH @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET TET TET THET THET
Yearended31March2024  EZ2024F3F31H
LFE
Opening net book amount ENEEFE 123 99 25 - - 247
Additions NE 143 - - - 36 179
Acquisition of a subsidiary e Sliill o) =N 1,559 - 5,396 - 83 7,038
Depreciation (Note 10) & (M) (200) (41) (218) - (6) (465)
Impairment HE - (56) - - - (56)
Exchanges differences EREE (24) - (79) - (1) (104)
Closing net book amount FREEFE 1,601 2 5,124 - 112 6,839
At 31 March 2024 R2024%53A31R
Cost A 4,793 20,376 5,656 2,650 118 33,593
Accumulated depreciationand 23t E R E
impairment (3,192) (20,374) (532) (2,650) (6) (26,754)
1,601 2 5,124 - 112 6,839
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE2024F3A31 B IFFE

comprise the trademarks and backlog contracts.

The trademark balance of approximately HK$4,048,000 as at 31 March
2024 primarily comprised of the trade name acquired by the Group and
which is the trade name of “FO" brand arising from the acquisition of
Tonnett Group on 9 February 2024 which is with indefinite useful life.

The trade name attributable to the brand name of “FO” is considered
with indefinite useful life based on the considerations that: i) it is a
growing brand in the market; ii) the Group will continue to put
significant resource to maintain and promote the brand; and iii) the
Group is able to renew the legal right of the trademarks at insignificant
cost indefinitely.

The trademarks are tested for impairment at least annually, and
whenever there is any indication that they may be impaired, details of
impairment assessment is disclosed in Note 18.

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS L& E
Trademarks
and backlog
contracts
BEREREREY
HKS$'000
FTAT
Cost: AR
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 MR20229F4R18 - 2023F3A318 K
2023F 4 A1 H -
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 38) Uk BE B B A A) (B sE38) 7,551
At 31 March 2024 71202453 HA31H 7,551
Accumulated amortisation: Rt
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, 1 April 2023 2024818 202338318 R
2023F 4 A1 H -
Amortisation (Note 10) i (st 10) 205
At 31 March 2024 7202453 H31H 205
Net book value: BREFE
At 31 March 2024 7202453 HA31H 7,346
Intangible assets are arisen from the acquisition of Tonnett Group, which EREENWE Tonnett EEMEE -

TEEBEREEALN -

R2024F3 A3 1T HHAZE SR Y
4,048,000 7T £ Z B 1E AR &£ [E Py U E Y
Bk BIAREER2024%F2 898 W B
Tonnett S B ERIS M [FO | MHRRE 5% © 3%
RS E A ERFERTE-

BEERIFOlmERNEERAAFER
FREH WHERUTERE i)ZH
FEMS EIETEAX i) AEE G
BIEMAEER HERBEEZMIE
Kiil) REBRETEENEIZN & AR
R KBRS RE

BRELEFRINERNS  BEEM
BB AIRA R IRRE R ER S
BVREEOMT RE 18 AR EE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024  #({Z2024F3A31 A ILFE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. I WEE E

Premises
L ES
HK$'000
FHET
Cost: RN :
At 1 April 2022 R®2022%F4H18 5,488
Early termination of lease REHRILAE (354)
Derecognition upon expiry EIERBS 4R IFTERR (2,687)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 R2023F3A31HKR2023F 41 H 2,447
Arising from acquisition (Note 38) e s = 18 i 2= 4 (M5t 38) 4,698
Additions NE 1,858
Exchange realignment M H S ()
Derecognition upon expiry BIEARS 4% T RR (2,/446)
At 31 March 2024 202453 A31H 6,486
Accumulated depreciation and impairment: ENmEREE:
At 1 April 2022 P 2022418 3,346
Charge for the year (Note 10) FRRZ (5E10) 1,234
Early termination of lease RBERIEHEE (178)
Derecognition upon expiry BIEARS 4R I T RR (2,687)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 PR2023F3 A31H KR 2023F4H1H 1,715
Arising from acquisition (Note 38) Y i = 18 i 2= A (B3t 38) 3,931
Charge for the year (Note 10) FARXZ (FFEE10) 1,259
Impairment loss REEE 141
Exchange realignment ME M S (58)
Derecognition upon expiry FI B 4% F 1R (2,446)
At 31 March 2024 20243 A31H (4,542)
Net carrying amount: AR FE -
At 31 March 2024 202453318 1,944
At 31 March 2023 R2023F3 A31H 732
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17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

The right-of-use assets mainly represent the Group's rights to use
underlying leased premises as offices for its operations under operating
lease arrangements over the lease terms, which ranged from 1 to 3
(2023: 1 to 3) years, which are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of the lease liabilities.

The right-of-use assets have been recognised, on a lease-by-lease basis,
at the respective initial carrying amounts equal to that of the related
lease liabilities, which are determined based on the lease payments
discounting using respective subsidiaries’ incremental borrowing rates
of from 4.75% to 6% (2023: 5.1%) as at the date of initial recognition
during the year ended 31 March 2024.

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the
security interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased

17. R RE S E (4])

FREEETZEAAEBRELCLHE
ZHEREHRE (M TF1234)(20234F ¢
1E3F) AR EEEFERABEEDE
ERAZEZER  ETREAR R IT
ERZAEBE(AE)YIE WA
MEHNEHEAGBIEARE -

FRAEEECRZEHEEEUSYR
FEE(HEREHEEEBENTRE
H1{E) R - iz 5 REEREZE 2024
F3IAJNBIEFEDNRBRAEY S
RABHZEWB AL ERFENT
475% 2 6% (20234 1 51%) IR E
FREE °

BREBEARSENHEHEESES ZERER
S ME R B INE R REE - HE

assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes. BETA BEEEER -
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FEx FHET
Fixed payments (Note 39(b)) TR (B 5 39(b)) 1,239 1,299
Expense relating to short-term leases (Note 10) E2%2 EAFA & 4878 2 B =2 (BIsE10) 458 488
Total cash outflow for leases HEZRe ML AR 1,697 1,787

As at 31 March 2024, rental payment in the amount of HK$467,000 (2023:
Nil) was not yet paid and recognised in the other payables in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

MR2024FE3A31HB WA HES
467,000/ 70 (20234 « &) » WL A B
TEAR R &) EoAth JE A BR BN R SR o
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For the year ended 31 March 2024  #({Z2024F3A31 A ILFE

18. GOODWILL 18. B &
HK$'000
FHET

At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 R20229F4R18 2023384318 K

2023F 4 A1 H -

Acquisition of Tonnett Group (as defined below) Wik Tonnett S B (FE& B RN 30)
(note 38) (MI7E38) 48,363
At 31 March 2024 720243 H31H 48,363

AP FEIS I EE N HEELEAR
20244 2 49 B ULEE Tonnett 528 ©

Goodwill was arisen from the acquisition of Tonnett Group on 9 February
2024 as disclosed in note 38.

As of 31 March 2024, the Group has not completed the initial allocation 202453 A31H  REEWRTHR

of goodwill acquired in a business combination in which the business
combination is effected on 9 February 2024, therefore the initial
allocation will be completed in next financial year. For the purpose of
impairment testing, goodwill and trademarks included in intangible
assets, with indefinite lives are not allocated and are expected to benefit
from the Tonnett Group. The subsidiaries within Tonnett Group are
identified at the lowest level at which goodwill and trademarks are
monitored for internal management purposes. Goodwill and trademarks
of the Group are monitored by management at the level of Tonnett
Group based on the information available to the directors of the
Company.

In the opinion of the directors, there was no indication that the Tonnett
Group may be impaired, by comparing the carrying amount of Tonnett
Group, including the goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives,
with the recoverable amount of the unit.

2024F2 HOR MM EB & G ATk
BREENYZOE BT OEHER
—EHBRFEERK - R ERRM
T OEEMAEBERFHOEE GIA
| EE)WES R I TEEAR
Tonnett 52 B 28  Tonnett 5 B A K /&
NEVEHRF AREER  THAPER
BEREREEREE - AEENEER
EiZ - ATonnett EEEEAMERE R A
ARIEEAEERMER -

EERAE BB R Tonnett EB M ERE
BREREMAERTFHNELEE)
EZEMNM A WO €5 WEDRET
Tonnett & [ 7] 8% 137 FI(E o
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For the year ended 31 March 2024  #(ZE2024F3A31HILFE

19. INVENTORIES 19. t &
2024 2023
2024 F 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Raw materials R 6,131 5,255
Work in progress E& 977 58
Finished goods BN 37,232 39,298
44,340 44,611

As at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023, for the jades included in the
finished goods, which are recorded based on the net realisable value
evaluated by independent gemmologists engaged by the Group.

The provision for impairment losses on inventories is generally made for

those inventories aged over 180 days to 1 year with no subsequent sales

while the reversal of provision for impairment losses on inventories is
only recognised for those inventories which are sold subsequently with

the prices higher than the carrying amounts.

As at 31 March 2024, certain inventories with original cost which
amounted to approximately HK$66,934,000 (2023: HK$69,324,000) were
stated at net realisable value of approximately HK$23,617,000 (2023:

HK$19,285,000).

20. COSTS TO FULFIL CONTRACTS

M20249F3 A31 8 &2023F3 8318
HRBEEEKRTNER  REAEE
EENBYEASRT N ZIRFE
EITRRER

—RBLRE S180 B A EE 1 F R &
HEBHE L ZFFEFLFERERRE
Btm MEEREBRRERLERE
BERENEEEZBRELZZEFE
R -

R2024F3A31H  HFTEKEKY
66,934,000 78 7T (2023 FF : 69,324,00075 7T )
217 B ¥ 0] B35 % (8 49 23,617,000 7 7T
(2023 4F : 19,285,000/ 7T) HIIER °

20. EHZ A

2024 2023

2024 20234

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FEx FHEIT

At the beginning of year F1 - -
Arising from the acquisition of Tonnett Group s B8 Tonnett 52 & i E £ 30 =
Additions NE 79 -
Utilisations A (79) -
At the ended of year FR 30 =
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #(ZE2024F3 4318 IEFE

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,

DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

21. B B B At B WOIR K~ 12 &
Be FAE sk IR

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHT
Trade receivables (Note (a)) FE U & 3 (BT 5 () 15,037 7,016
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments ~ H A EWRER TN « & MFEN FIE
(Note (b)) (M7E (b)) 23,175 5,984
38,212 13,000
Notes:
(a)  Trade receivables EWER
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fax FH&T
Trade receivables, gross W E R - 42 27,929 19,744
Less: allowance for ECL on trade receivables B EWER BEREEEEEE (12,892) (12,728)
Trade receivables, net W ER - FHE 15,037 7,016
The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables, net of allowance for ECL, as at LTABKER(NKEHEEBERRE)

the reporting date, based on invoice dates which approximate the respective

RBEBHBRBEEFRAH (EBXBRAHER

revenue recognition dates: BERE) ZBRER DT

2024 2023
2024 2023 %F
HK$'000 HKS /000
FERT FHTT
0to 30 days 0%E30H 7,119 -
31 to 90 days 31E90H 2,798 7,016
91 to 180 days 91E180H 4,740 -
181 to 365 days 181 & 365 H 380 =
15,037 7,016

For pearls and jewellery segment, the Group's retail sales to customers are mainly ELRERESHIE  AEERATFPZT

made in cash or through credit card payments. The trade receivables arising from

credit card sales are normally settled in one to two business days in arrears. For the

remaining customers, the Group generally grants a credit period of 30 days to 120

days, according to industry practice together with consideration of their credibility,

repayment history and years of establishment. A longer credit period may be granted

to large or long-established customers with good payment history.

EHETBURSIBERBERARMIRIEL -
ERRHEEEZRRERXBER —EM

BEEEARNEE -

RBETEBHLEBRSE

2B BEFRHEERRIFEN  AEE—K
HHETEFREI0AE120AZEEH - A
ERONARHEZ KBKELIKARST]

EERRERED -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE2024F3A31 B IFFE

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(a)

Trade receivables (Continued)

For other business segments, the Groups may request certain advance payment for
the contract amount according to signed agreement for services, and may offer
credit period up to 180 days depending on client’s credit rating assessed by
management, further extension would be additionally reviewed and approved by
management.

An ageing analysis of these trade receivables, net of allowance for ECL, as at the
reporting date, based on due dates, is as follows:

21. W B B Atk T WOIR K~ 12 &
Be H Ak 0H (48)

BaE - ()

(a)

e W 3 ()

HMEBAMAE  AEEAEREMZEE
BV RIS 1 ad BSE TR SA - WEEER
BHEFAENGEENR B TFHRSE80
FREEY: NBELER  ghEREHEN
ER A -

ZEREER MBEREEBERRE) N
BERHBBEIMAZRBRONOT

2024 2023

2024 F 2023 F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FHET FET

Not overdue 3 4 380 B 2,219 -
Overdue by: EH

1to 30 days 1£30H 10,280 6,122

31 to 90 days 31290H 2,538 894

15,037 7,016

The Group did not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements in
respect of trade receivables that are past due but not impaired.

The management of the Company makes reference to the historical repayment to
assess the impairment for individual debtors with significant balances while the
Group collectively assesses the impairment for its remaining customers. For pearls
and jewellery business segment, the management use a provision matrix with
appropriate groupings based on shared credit risk characteristics of customers by
reference to geographical area, past default experience and current past due
exposure and are adjusted for forward-looking information (for example, the current
and forecasted economic growth rates, export data and default rate in respective
regions, which reflect the general economic conditions of the regions in which the
debtors operate) that is available without undue cost or effort; and for other business
segments, the management use expected loss rates with appropriate grouping
based on shared credit risk characteristics by reference to past default experience and
current past due exposure of the debtors, and the expected loss rates are based on
the corresponding credit losses probability of a receivable progressing through
successive stages of delinquency to write-off. The loss rates are adjusted to reflect
current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the
ability of the customers to settle the receivables. The Group has identified the
probabilities of default and recovery ratio to be the most relevant factors, which is
available without undue cost or effort.

AN SR B30 4 5t 2 8 BB R OB (B 2 R I E R
FrAEEAR R R R E S AER -

ARREREL2ERERBFUFHAER
a2 ERIEB A ZRE - A EEEaT
HERTEPZRE - A2 RRRBEEB D
WhE ERE2EZHE BEHERERR
REafRk  ERAEREBEEPAREE
EEEBHcEE B BBERERTE
HHTEPZRE  THBENHBEZ KA
B NENAE 2 BEEER (WRRERA
EEMENE L BEREERRCERE
ZHERIAEEERE - HOBERIER
R)EHREER: RREmEHLSBmE B
BE2EEBABEROKLRRENAE
Rk REARGERREREREE A
EVTEH B IR R - T TR RS 1R R T B RO
REREBEHBREREMENHEEEES
B - BERRGELNRE  URRFER
FPRERYRAENINEZBEEREZNE
A MBTRE AR - AEE D BAE OB R R
WEt R AREBER  MBANLBZK
A EE N BN A LS -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #(ZE2024F3 4318 IEFE

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

Notes: (Continued)

(a)

21. B s Be Bt T WOIR K~ 12 &
Be H Ak 0H (48)

(CONTINUED)
BisE  (48)
Trade receivables (Continued) (a) FEWEXRE)
The allowance for impairment are measured at lifetime ECL in accordance with RIBEIERE  REREDREHEHEE
simplified approach. EEETE -
Movements in the allowance for ECL on trade receivables under HKFRS 9 are as BEEBMBRELERF IR ZERERZ
follows: TEHEEBEREZHNOT
Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
not credit impaired credit impaired Total
2HEHMEERE — 2HANEEFE—
‘BEERE FERE wat
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FET FERT FET
As at 1 April 2022 R202F 4818 1,038 16,601 17,639
Changes in the loss allowance: BEEEZ
— Written off — - 32) (32)
— Charged/(credit) to consolidated —ME/GtA) R4 E%
profit or loss (Note 10) (Mt3E10) 4,897 (9,776) 4,879)
As at 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 R2023F3A318 K&
2023F4H1H 5,935 6,793 12,728
Changes in the loss allowance: BIEBHEE -
— Arising from the acquisition of — FYE Tonnett EE B M E £
Tonnett Group 424 166 590
— (Credited)/charged to consolidated ~ — (5t A) /1B E 185
profit or loss (Note 10) (FFEE10) (2,249) 1,836 (413)
Exchange realignment 5 A (11) (2) (13)
As at 31 March 2024 R2024F3H831H 4,099 8,793 12,892

Notes:

(a) There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant

assumptions made during the year in assessing the loss allowance for the

trade receivables.

(b) As of 31 March 2024, trade receivables with gross carrying amount of
approximately HK$8,793,000 (2023: HK$6,793,000) were fully impaired and
provided for those credit-impaired customers which are in unexpectedly

difficult economic situations.

FARFHERKERZ BRE R
WK E (A T ERERRR ©

HZE2024F3A318  FEAENA
8,793,000 7T (2023 4F : 6,793,000 7
L) ZERERE 2 BUREBE R EE
REAZEEERERTFEN KL
TEET 2 FEER R o
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE2024F3A31 B IFFE

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(b) Other receivables, deposits and prepayments

21. W B B Atk T WOIR K~ 12 &

Be H Ak 0H (48)

BEE : (4)

(b)

Hitt YRS - RERBANRER

2024 2023

2024 F 2023

HK$’000 HK$'000

Fax FET

Other receivables, gross H b U AR 458 15,654 722
Less: allowance for ECL on other receivables (Note () 3l : HAbFEUW R ZIBE BB EE

(BFE®M) (1,346) (302)

Other receivables, net H i B W BR FOF R 14,308 420

Deposits Re 709 587

Prepayments (Note (i) Ta st 5RIE (PR FE Gi) 8,158 4977

23,175 5,984

Prepayment non-current (Note (iii)) FEF B TB A 38 (B & (i) 10,954 -

34,129 5,984

Notes:

Movements in the allowance for ECL on other receivables under HKFRS 9 are
as follows:

() BIEEBM B RELBNFET - Kt
BUERNEHNEEBRBEGEY

N
Total
wat
HK$'000
FHET
As at 1 April 2022 R2022F4 818 16,206
Changes in the loss allowance: EREEZ
— Exchange difference of ECL —EHEEFBENER (995)
— Credited to consolidated profit or loss (Note 10) — BirAEEME (MEE10) (14,909)
As at 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 20233 A31 B %2023 4H1H 302
Changes in the loss allowance: RS
— Arising from the acquisition of Tonnett Group — EUBE Tonnett £ @ M E £ 1,047
— Exchange difference of ECL —EHEEFBENEE (15)
— Debited to consolidated profit or loss (Note 10) — B2 A8 (KisE10) 12
As at 31 March 2024 7A2024F3A31H 1,346

As at year ended 31 March 2024, the gross balance of other receivables
mainly represented other receivables for advances to business partners of
approximately HK$8,016,000 (2023: Nil), advances to staff of approximately
HK$816,000 (2023: Nil), and refundable of prepayment in acquisition of
property, plant and equipment of approximately HK$5,002,000 (2023: Nil),
which are arisen from acquisition of Tonnett Group as detailed in note 38.
Certain guarantors have provided indemnities to the Group for any loss
arisen from uncollected amount of the relevant other receivables, details
described in note 38.

HZE2024F3A3BILEFE HibfE
WA EESREZIERRTEE
R 1 B9 H th FE U AR 340 8,016,000 7T
(20234 : &) + BT B I49816,000
BT (2023F : ) RIKEDE - BE
% {8 9 AT 2R [B] 78 1 3038 49 5,002,000
BT (20234 : F) - T EKE
Tonnett 55 B AT & (FE R M 7E38) ©
BT ERAE B AE R E b FE B AR 50
) K I B 5 B8 EE A O (A S B A AR
SEREBE GERMIESS) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #(ZE2024F3 4318 IEFE

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 21, EWE K B H A W R K > &

DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)
(b) Other receivables, deposits and prepayments (Continued)

(if) As at 31 March 2024, the balance of current prepayments mainly represented
purchases of pearls of approximately HK$3,900,000 (2023: HK$4,192,000) with
provision of impairment of approximately HK$2,284,000 (2023: Nil), exhibition
expenses of approximately HK$423,000 (2023: HK$423,000) and purchases of
diamond ring of approximately HK$3,780,000 (2023: Nil).

(iii) As at 31 March 2024, the balance of non-current prepayments mainly
represented prepayments for acquisition of property, plants and equipment
of approximately HK$10,954,000 (2023: Nil), which are arisen from acquisition
of Tonnett Group as detailed in note 38. Certain guarantors have provided
indemnities to the Group for any loss arisen from uncollected amount of the

relevant prepayments, details described in note 38.

Be H Ak 0H (48)

BaE - ()
(b) HttEWIRN - RERANFE ()

(ii) R2024F3A31 8 RBEMNKE
B4 82 21518 B 2 ¥R 43,900,000 7
7T (2023 4F : 4,192,000 7T) * 5l & &
492,284,000 7T (20234 : &) ~ &
BB XX #9423,00058 7T (2023 & -
423,000 7T) K BE B # 7 £93,780,000
BT (203F : F) o

(i) F2024F3A31H  ERBOIENK
HH SR EZIRRREYE - BE kR
5 /9 TE I BRIE £910,954,000 75 7T (2023
FF) o THEUEE Tonnett £ &
E4 (GFRMES) HTERAE
BREEBENREORKE S EEE
WA EBRAEEREREGR

B&E38) ©
22. CONTRACTS ASSETS 22. HRIBE

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FHEIT

At beginning of year F1
Arising from the acquisition of Tonnett Group W B8 Tonnett 52 & M E 4 778 -
Additions NE 88 -
Utilisations EpE - -
Exchange realignment ME W (12) -
Atend of year FR 854 -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024  #(ZE2024F3A31HILFE

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit
rates.

The carrying amounts of the cash and cash equivalents approximate
their fair values.

As at 31 March 2024, bank balances of the Group denominated in RMB
amounted to approximately HK$2,616,000 (2023: HK$1,701,000). The
conversion of RMB-denominated balances into foreign currencies and
the remittance of such foreign currencies denominated bank balances
and cash out of the PRC are subject to relevant rules and regulations of
foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.

As at 31 March 2024, a time deposit of approximately HK$24,771,000
(2023: HK$23,800,000) was placed in a licensed financial institution. The
short term time deposits earn interest at the respective short term time
deposits rates of 4.5% to 4.6%.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND
ACCRUALS

23.

24.

Bl& Kk EFRB &

FITR 2T A RTERNEZFHF
2 HERF & -

RAehFRAT2EEEEZEQFEM

Eo

2024538318 KREEN AR
B2 R1TH 524975 2,616,0007 7T (2023
F 21,701,000 7T)  BAARKFEZ
EHRHIRBINEL I F AINEFHE 2
BITHBERIREEL AR BEFH
BRI sk SN S I DR 45 2 FERE AR Al K AR 51

R2024%F 3831 E#fEEH
24,771,000 7T (2023 £ : 23,800,000/ 7T)
TFHRFHE S REE - TG
% B W H E HATE SRR 4.5% & 4.6% B
B S o

W AF 15k B L At JE A5F M ik % M it
% H

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FHET
(restated Note 3)
(FgE5) -
MEEE3)
Trade payables JESE K 7,874 9,006
Accrued payroll and employee benefits et Ee kEERF 4,146 402
Other payables and other accruals Hith R BR R R E A FE S B A 12,160 8,910
24,180 18,318
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For the year ended 31 March 2024  #({Z2024F3A31 A ILFE

24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND

24. WEAF 805K B B At HE A8 R sk B M it

ACCRUALS (CONTINUED) M (%)
An ageing analysis of trade payables, as at the reporting date, based on E’fﬁ&% HE BNEXRREBEZEZEAHZ
invoice dates, is as follows: BRE DT -
2024 2023
2024 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAET
0 to 60 days 0260H 3,245 8,669
61to 120 days 612120H 3,168 -
More than 120 days 1208 1,461 337
7,874 9,006

As at 31 March 2024, consideration payables of HK$4,000,000 (2023:
HK$4,000,000) for acquisition of 30% interest in Guardian City Limited in
2019, which was subsequently restructured in 2021 and become a
financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income of the
Group since year ended 31 March 2021, and loan interest payables of
HK$58,000 (2023: HKS$36,000) were included in other payables.

The carrying amounts of trade and other payables and accruals
approximate their fair values.

R2024F3 8318 R2019F W E
Guardian City Limited 30% & 7= A9 JE - (X (B
4,000,00078 7T (2023 4F : 4,000,000 7 7T )
(B R2021FEEHIL AEHE 202153
A3 BIEFEREANEERAFER
AHfzEEKEMEREE)  ERE
HERFE 58000,%75<2023¢ 36,000
BEr) EREMEMERRA

J?EHE/*K&E{M’EHEE AR e EMAZ
FREEEEQATEES
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE2024F3A31 B IFFE

25. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Changes in contract liabilities under the research and development
service segment and pearls and jewellery business segment during the
year are as follows:

25. ARIAE

FR - PERGDMREDIKLIKE XB
DEBETZANAEZSHNT :

2024 2023

2024 F 20234

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTER FHET

Carrying amount at beginning of the year FYIRMEEAE - -
Arising from the acquisition of Tonnett Group W % Tonnett S2 & i &£ 4 1,436

Increase due to receipts in advance from B E P FIE m g AN

customers 3,493 -

Revenue recognised for the year FAEBERW S 148 -

Exchange realignment TE W % (324) -

Carrying amount at end of year FRRHEE 4,753 -

According to the signed agreements for research and development
services, customers are required to make payment of 20% to 100% of the
contract amounts within 15 days to 10 months after signing of service
agreements, and the balance of the service agreements will become due
or having credit term of up to 180 days upon relevant research reports
are delivered. The services period will be different depending on the
types and complexity of services.

For pearls and jewellery business, there is no specific advance payment
requirement. During the year ended 31 March 2024, material contract
liabilities are arisen from sales of jewellery to a new customer in the
amount of HK$3,468,000, which is 100% payment in advance for relevant
sales, and the sales was completed on 22 April 2024.

BIBEERFTNMERSHE  BFAR
RS =%BISEH 108 B A~
AL ER20% = 100% © M AR5 7 3
BEER R THEBMEREEIHREE
&K B1808 « RIS H B R & RS &
WA N EHE A TR -

RERRKEERNE WEKSERMS
FHETE - NEE20024F38318IEF
E EREHEEBENER—R2FTEFHE
EIRE3,4680008 T (BEBHEEN
100%TE 50 ME 4 » BHE B R 2024
F4H2HEK -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #(ZE2024F3 4318 IEFE

26. LEASE LIABILITIES

26. HE A1

2024 2023

2024 2023

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FEx FHET

Within one year —F R 1,112 758
Within a period of more than one year RBB—FETHEEMF A

but not more than two years 580 -
Within a period of more than two years RBBREETBEAEAFHER

but not more than five years 368 -

Total lease liabilities HEBGBRE 2,060 758

Less: portion classified as current liabilities B DBEARBARZES (1,112) (758)

Non-current liabilities EmenaE 948 -

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the future minimum lease payments of

the net minimum lease payments are as follows:

R2024F K 2023F3A31H RIEMAE

NHFR L RRFEHEENZOT -

2024 2023

2024 F 2023 F

HK$'000 HK$'000

TET FHEIT

Within one year —F R 1,185 769
Within a period of more than one year RBA—FENHEAMFHRA

but not more than two years 616 -
Within a period of more than two years RBAMRFENHEBRAFHREA

but not more than five years 374 -

Total lease payments MENRETE 2,175 769

Less: Future finance charges W ARREEE R (115) amn

Total lease obligations MESTESE 2,060 758




27.

28.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE2024F3A31 B IFFE

BANK BORROWINGS 27. BATHE K
2024 2023
2024 2023 F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FEx FHEIT
Bank borrowings — secured RITIER — BER
Within one year or on demand (Note) —F R EE K (M) 5,421 -
Note: B3

The secured bank borrowings due to Xiaoshan Rural Commercial Bank in Zhejiang Province
CIT &L 2N 2 IRTT) with effective interest rates ranging from 3.95% to 4.35% per
annum and guaranteed by Hangzhou Xiaoshan Financing Guarantee Co,, Ltd. (fL )1 &1L &
& &R BBR A E]) (“Xiaoshan Financing Guarantee Co."), which is a financial institution
providing financing and guarantee services.

Dr. Li Yijia, the guarantor and a substantial shareholder holding 13.5% of equity interest in #7T
B R EHSR £ ¥ EHE B IR A & (Hangzhou Qingda Kequi Biological Technology Company
Limited, “Qingda Kequi") provided a pledge over his equity interest in Qingda Kequi to
Xiaoshan Financing Guarantee Co. for the purpose of obtaining banking facilities in Xiaoshan
Rural Commercial Bank not exceeding RMB3,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$3,252,000), with validity period from 5 August 2021 to 31 December 2030. The Xiaoshan
Financing Guarantee Co. has not requested any additional guarantee over the bank

BRI AT RN ERT 2 ERARTERR
B EFI RN T 395% F= 4.35%5H 8 0 W BN EE L
BMEEREARAR((BEUBERRARD ER - Z
NABIRERE RIERRG 2 SRS -

BRARBEMMNERBIGEMREAR AR ([F
ABIH]) 135% M E 2 FBREZ—EF L RMHL
BB PR A R E AR EE RE G 2 IR - UBUSH
BN ERTRS AREES30000007T FHERL
3,252,000 7T) 2 HRITELE - B EAR2021F8 A5
AZE2030F12A31A - BWLUBEERAR L &R
IRITIE R E KA RBIMELR ©

borrowings.
OTHER BORROWINGS 28. H {5k
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
HK$’000 HKS$'000
F&T FET
Other borrowing — unsecured HAb B — mE M
Within one year (Note) —F R () 4,000 2,000

Note:

As at 31 March 2024, the Group's other borrowing with carrying amount of HK$4,000,000
bears fixed interest rate of 6% (2023: HK$2,000,000 bore fixed interest rate of 6% per annum)
per annum with fixed repayment term of one year, of which HK$3,000,000 has been extended
for the repayment date by six months with same fixed interest rate per annum during the
year (2023: Nil). The borrowing is provided by an independent third party of the Group.

BAE -

202463 A318 - A& E R A E 44000000 7T
B H At f5 B I% B TE I 2R 6% 5T 8. (2023 4F © 2,000,000
BT LEEFEFRewstE) M —FHETE
FRER - 4 R E AR 3,000,000 7T (2023 4F  T) KB
AHRRAKEEFFREER @A - ZERHEAN
EEN—ZBUE=FIRE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024  #({Z2024F3A31 A ILFE

29. CONVERTIBLE BOND 29, W] %1% ff %5

2024
2024 F
HK$’000
FET

Convertible bonds classified as non-current liabilities: DERERDEBEN A RRES -
At beginning of year F4 -

Issued during the year pursuant to the sale and BEEEWHENFARNET

purchase agreement (Note 38) (M$5E38) 42,709
Change in fair value NTEED (2,997)
Atend of year Fx 39,712

Convertible bond with principal amount of HK$31,500,000 was arisen
according to the sale and purchase agreement dated 29 June 2023, in
respect of the acquisition of Tonnett Group (“Convertible Bond") with
details disclosed in note 38.

Convertible Bond is carrying no interest, non-listed and in the principal
amount of HK$31.5 million to be issued by the Company to the Vendor
to satisfy partial payment of the consideration for acquisition of Tonnett
Group.

The conversion price is HK$0.2628, being the initial conversion price per
ordinary share of the Company, during the period commencing from
the date of the Accumulated Guarantee Certificate or Compensation
Confirmation (defined in note 38) (“Conversion Commencement
Date’) and ending on the second anniversary of the Conversion
Commencement Date ("Maturity Date”).

Convertible Bond will be locked up until the Accumulated Profit
Guarantee (defined in note 38) is achieved, and where it cannot be
achieved, the consideration of the acquisition of Tonnett Group will be
adjusted accordingly as described in note 38 (‘Lock-up period”). During
the Lock-up Period, the Consideration Shares (defined in note 38) shall
not be offered, sold, transferred, contracted for sale or otherwise
disposed of. For the avoidance of doubt, there will be no restriction on
the subsequent sale of the Consideration Shares after the Lock-up
Period.

The fair value of Convertible Bond includes the consideration of the
Accumulated Profit Guarantee of approximately HK$39,712,000 based
on fair value valuation by independent valuer.

7K 4 88 431,500,000/ JT 2 A # iR (& F
E*ETFEIHHE2023¢6H29EIZE§§T5%
FEatlETonnett = B M E £ ([AT#KR
F#J) FHIBERMI 38 -

ANFHEREFE{TALE/4531,500,000
B2 BRI E LA RRES U
UL BE Tonnett £ & 2 20 R (B

AR E B026287 8 T (B AR Bl &% &
BRZ2OLBBRE)  ARFTERES
HHEREREAH(EERWE38) ([
RERBAH) BB REM A S
ZRF(RHB)) EHEARE -

AMBEESETUREE  EERiTaF
R7E (B RMIRE38) EEK AL © WK
BEEEAK - ULBE Tonnett 52 B 2 R B #G 7K
FISFTLEARE R ([RER]) - 1L
EHR - RERD (& BHE38) TF
RERE  HE E2E FTHEERN
EMArXEE - BRAERR  RNEEH
% HEHEREROBETZERRS -

AR ES 2 AT ERE R & FRE
ZRIE#39712,000 7T » THR BB 1h
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29. CONVERTIBLE BOND (CONTINUED)

Valuation of Convertible Bond is conducted by binomial option pricing
model, a standard valuation model commonly used for valuation of
financial derivative instruments. The model incorporates both
contractual terms from the Convertible Bond issuance documents, as
well as valuation parameters observed from market sources and the
consideration of the Accumulated Profit Guarantee of approximately
HK$39,712,000 based on valuation. Key parameters adopted in the
Convertible Bond and Accumulated Profit Guarantee valuation models
are summarised as follows:

For the Convertible Bond with maturity date on 28 February 2027, the
fair value of the Convertible Bond is measured at approximately
HK$70,800,000 (at date of issue: HK$74,866,000), with key parameters
adopted listed below:

29. Wi fE % ()

ABREENEEYIR B EEE
BAGELT  ZERABSRITAETEME
EHMZEGEER - ZEABETR
REFHITXHNE LG ARKT
BRREEMENHELHEEERNGEE
B 25T MR FE B £)39,712,0008 7T ©
AR ES R B FAREGEEXAT
Rz F 225 amT :

FLEIE R A2027F2 A28 8 2 Al k(&
A5ME IRBREFZAFEFTELSD
70,800,000 7T (PR 847 H H : 74,866,000
BIT) TR EZ2HEH O ¢

ER D)
2 3B B & (M aEin)
ZE8 82 (Mf3Eii)

Share price (note i)
Risk free rates (note ii)
Credit spread (note iii)

Discount rates (note iv) PrIR = (fsEiv)
Volatility (note v) BB (FaEv)

As at
31 March Date
2024 of issue

2024 %
3H31H B1THH
HK$0.65%8 7T  HK$0.69 & T
3.55% 3.27%
3.08% 3.27%
7.62% 7.52%
92.02% 91.19%

In respect of the Accumulated Profit Guarantee, the independent valuer
has set up five scenarios to analyse possible outcomes, resulting the fair
value of approximately HK$31,088,000 (at the date of issue:
HK$32,156,000).

Notes:

(i) It represents the Company's quoted price as at 31 March 2024 and date of issue of
the Convertible Bond

(i) It is sourced from yield of HKMA Exchange Fund Notes with similar remaining

maturity with the Convertible Bond
(ifi) It is sourced from US corporate index option-adjusted spread

(iv) It is determined with reference to credit spread of comparable bonds and risk-free

rate, as well as liquidity premium

(v) Itis calculated from historical share price of the Company

MEBHEFREMS  BUGEMS®
TREBRASTAEHRNER 5
HEY A A A A31,088000 8 7T (R 31T
HH3 : 32,156,000 7T) °

(EE

0] HARQFR2024F3 A31 B RAIBKRES
BT B HMRE

() HREREJERESFHGKHRELNEE
BSNER S R ima s

(i) HREXECEEBPEFHESE

(v ENSEAUBREAOSELSZRERAR
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30.

DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN OBLIGATIONS
Defined contribution scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. Under the MPF Scheme,
the employees are required to contribute 5% of their monthly salaries or
up to a maximum of HK$1,500 and they can choose to make additional
contributions. The employer's monthly contributions are calculated at 5%
of the employee’s monthly salaries or up to a maximum of HK$ 1,500 (the
mandatory contributions). The employees are entitled to 100% of the
employer's mandatory contributions upon their retirement at the age of
65, death or total incapacity.

The employees of the Group's factory and offices in the PRC are
members of a state-managed retirement benefit plan operated by the
government of the PRC. The Group are required to contribute a specified
percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement
benefit plan is to make the specified contributions.

LSP Obligation

For the Group's subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong, pursuant to the
Employment Ordinance, Chapter 57, the Group has the obligation to pay
long service payments (“LSP”) to qualifying employees in Hong Kong
under certain circumstances (e.g. dismissal by employers or upon
retirement), subject to a minimum of 5 years employment period, based
on the following formula:

Last monthly wages (before termination of employment) X 2/3 X Years
of service

Last monthly wages are capped at HK$22,500 while the amount of long
service payment shall not exceed HK$390,000. This obligation is
accounted for as a post-employment defined benefit plan.

Furthermore, the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance passed
in 1995 permits the Group to utilise the Group's mandatory MPF
contributions, plus/minus any positive/negative returns thereof, for the
purpose of offsetting LSP payable to an employee (the "Offsetting
Arrangement’).

30.

F5E 6 M et B AR
S Akt

REBREE B MEAESFENGH
B TFRBERIEIEAE S EREFE
El([mELTE)) - BIEARESE
BEMBRE B Z5%8 &% 15008
TCYEH SR - MRS AT @ B e 2 A
KoRBREZSAERIIEREE BEH 2 5%
W Z1,5008 T (BHHF)TE - &
BEE6SHZBRFR BT
KTIERENE A ZE B2 EEEZ A
MR -

AEERFEZBEEIRERZEER
BB E 2 B RE BRGNS
ZRE - AEBEARFERAX—HE
B3 L AR KRR M 5 B R E R AR N A
FED - AREERKNEAFE 20—
BEERFERIEE 2R -

REBBEE2EAE

REBEEBRREGH (F578) - HNALE
BEZEEZNHEBAR  EREBR
T (Pl EMESEK) BREFATE
FRENEEETIXNREREE (R
BREE) FTEREELSFHREN
B YIRATAKGE

xE—EAMNTE (EREEERIEZA) X
2/3 X RIEFR

&% —BAMNIE ERA22500E T
MK ERG € /25 1538 390,000 7%
T ZBETARY AEBEATRET
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eHl B ERMEREEM
E/BOHR  ARIKEERE T
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30. DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN OBLIGATIONS

(CONTINUED)

Defined contribution scheme (Continued)
LSP Obligation (Continued)

The Amendment Ordinance was gazetted on 17 June 2022, which
abolishes the use of the accrued benefits derived from employers’
mandatory MPF contributions to offset the LSP. The Abolition will
officially take effect on the Transition Date (i.e, 1 May 2025). Separately,
the Government of the HKSAR is also expected to introduce a subsidy
scheme to assist employers for a period of 25 years after the Transition
Date on the LSP payable by employers up to a certain amount per
employee per year.

Under the Amendment Ordinance, the Group's mandatory MPF
contributions, plus/minus any positive/negative returns, after the
Transition Date can continue to be applied to offset the pre-Transition
Date LSP obligation but are not eligible to offset the post-Transition Date
LSP obligation. On the other hand, the accrued benefits derived from the
Group's voluntary contributions made pre-, on or post-transition can
continue to be used to offset pre- and post-transition LSP. Furthermore,
the LSP obligation before the Transition Date will be grandfathered and
calculated based on the Last monthly wages immediately preceding the
Transition Date and the years of service up to that date. The Amendment
Ordinance has impact on the Group’s LSP liability with respect to
employees that participate in MPF Scheme and the Group has
accounted for the offsetting mechanism and its abolition as disclosed in
Note 3.

30. 5t Al wt 3 AT (A])

RRKES 2 EE (B)

EEEHIR202F6 B17B TIEEBH
RERR T 2 AR R R bR iR & ARV e
BRI S R EA AR S & M0 - BEBR
BB E B (Bh2025 s A1H) E3
B e hAN - AR BIITBUE BT B AT
EiRE B BB M2 F L —EmBL st
2 LEBEEIN—TE2ENEIE
THFNEHERBES -

RIFERTERD > KB HE - N&E
BRI TE S R 0L R EER
E/ 8% ATAEERNEEBER
HamERHARBEEE  ETEARE
HEERMRNEARBEET - 5 —
TE AKBEREER - BREIBK
BRIELE BRIEHRKAELEN R R
o] AL B R SRR AT B IR IR R B
R E - boh - 3B B B ATH & AR
TRERRFRE - UREEEB AN A
FNEBEEZANRGFRETIHE - %
EFTRPIS AR EER S RRE R 82
BEMAEzRBRGEEBEARE
MANK RE3PT IR EE - NSRBI C B h
HIREBUBEIT T @5tERE -
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30. DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN OBLIGATIONS
(CONTINUED)

Defined contribution scheme (Continued)
LSP Obligation (Continued)

Movements in the present value of unfunded LSP obligation in the
current year were as follows:

30. 5t Al wt 3 AT (A])

Fe skt & (4)
RERKLZEE (&)

WARER - KB RS SE AR
EEHNT

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FAET

(restated Note 3)
(#&&E% - 5E3)

At 1 January R1A1H 487 -
Current service cost Bl EA AR 75 AR 2R 68 64
Interest cost B A 15 13
Past service cost i = RS R (104) 410
At 31 December ®12A31H 466 487

The average duration of the benefit obligation at 31 March 2024 is 15
years (2023: 16 years).

The current service cost and the net interest expense for the year are
included in the employee benefits expenses in profit or loss (where the
analysis of expenditure in the consolidated income statement is by
nature). Of the expenses for the year, HK$96,000 (2023: HK$50,000) has
been included in administrative expenses.

R2024F3 A3 HREFEFEZFHIFH
155 (20234 1 164F) ©

RNEE 7 BIHABR A A A KOS5 ) B R S At
ABZAZEEBBAAS (HERE K=
KRZBEIIREE D) - FRAZH
96,0007 7T (2023 4F : 50,0007 JT) B &t
AT °
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30. DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN OBLIGATIONS
(CONTINUED)

Defined contribution scheme (Continued)
LSP Obligation (Continued)

Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the LSP
obligation are discount rate of 4.1% (2023: 3.4%), expected salary
increase of 3.2% (2023: 3.2%) and net annual return on MPF assets of
3.7% (2023: 2.3%). The sensitivity analysis below have been determined
based on reasonably possible changes of the respective assumptions
occurring at the end of the reporting period, while holding all other
assumptions constant.

If the discount rate is 100 basis points higher/(lower), the LSP
obligation would decrease by HK$69,000/(increase by HK$83,000)
(2023: decrease by HK$54,000/(increase by HK$64,000)).

If the expected salary increases/(decreases) by 3%, the LSP
obligation would increase by HK$4,000/(decrease by HK$31,000)
(2023: increase by HK$4,000/(decrease by HK$35,000)).

If the net annual return on MPF assets is 50 basis points higher/
(lower), the LSP obligation would decrease by HKSNil (increase by
HKSNil) (2023: decrease by HKSNil (increase by HKSNil)).

The sensitivity analysis presented above may not be representative of
the actual change in the LSP obligation as it is unlikely that the change
in assumptions would occur in isolation of one another as some of the
assumptions may be correlated.

30. 5t Al wt 3 AT (A])

RRKES 2 EE (B)

BETRIERBEECHEXBERBRRA
A58 % 4.19% (20234 : 34%) - T8 HA &7 B
R T32% (20234F :32%) REEEE
BEFFE B IR3.7% (20234 1 23%) ° LA
THEESWHERREPRASHERE
MEER e EET - mEMRRERRE

MBEIR = EF(RBE) 100 fE £
o ARBRBEESETERD
69,0007 7T,/ (3% 1 83,0007% Jr)
(2023 4 : 3 454,000 7T,/ (42 1N
64,0007 7)) °

fWIBEAF & 8, CR 2) 3% + 8
REIR 7 & & (T 15 18 h14,0005
7T,/ (R 4 31,0005 7T) (2023 4 -
1# 104,000 % 7t (% 4> 35,0008
JL)) °

MAEELEETFFERDRIL
o Crid) soEE 2 - Bl K 2 AR
BEETHRLTHETGENTHE
70) (2023%F « AT EIT ENE
BIL)) °

ERBREDF A EEERRERNE
HRGeEEEY AARKNEFHT
AFREBEBHEL  BOBRKRUEFER
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31. SHARE CAPITAL

31. kA

Number Share
of shares capital
MR8 E [ &N
'000 HK$'000
T FET
Authorised: ETE
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 FR202F4818 2023F3A318 K
ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each 2023F4A18  BREERET
ZEEk 10,000,000 200,000
At 31 March 2024 20243 A31H 10,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRHE
At 1 April 2022 R202F 4411 319,649 6,393
Rights issue of new shares (Note a) AR BT IR (HisEa) 319,649 6,393
At 31 March 2023 72023%3A318 639,298 12,786
Allotment and issues of consideration R2024F2B9RECE N
shares on 9 February 2024 (Note b) BITRERS (D) 39,954 799
At 31 March 2024 20243 A31H 679,252 13,585
Notes: MIEE -
(@)  Rightsissuein 2022 (@)  2022F#K

On 28 January 2022, the Company proposed rights issue on the basis of one rights
share for every one existing share held on 17 March 2022 (‘Rights Issue”), at the
subscription price of HK$0.11 per rights share ("Rights Share”).

On 4 May 2022, total of 18 valid acceptances and applications had been received for
a total of 292,798,833 Rights Shares, which comprise: (i) a total of 9 valid acceptances
for provisional allotments under the renounceable provisional allotment letters
("PALs") in respect of a total of 159,587,737 Rights Shares, representing approximately
49.93% of the total number of Rights Shares available under the Rights Issue; and (ii) a
total of 9 valid applications for excess Rights Shares under the form(s) of application
for use by the qualifying shareholders who wish to apply for excess Rights Shares
("EAFs") in respect of a total of 133,211,096 Rights Shares, representing approximately
41.67% of the total number of Rights Shares available under the Rights Issue.

On 5 May 2022, all conditions to the underwriting agreement entered into between
the Company and underwriter dated 28 January 2022 have been fulfilled and became
unconditional. As a result of the under subscription of the Rights Issue and in
accordance with the terms of the Underwriting Agreement, the underwriter has
procured subscribers to subscribe for 26,850,131 unsubscribed Rights Shares,
representing approximately 8.40% of the total number of Rights Shares available for
subscription under the Rights Issue.

202291 A28H - AR A EFEN20225F3
RBU7BEREHFEBE-REARMDERE KM
RRA% R B THR ((RR]) - REE
AERERRG (TMERBRMG])011ET -

MR2022F5 48 BEEEA K18 B M E
MR EAE HRE 292,798,833 IR # A% Bk
D EPEE ARG REITRES T
ffmaE(((TEEREBNE) ENE T
BoRE 2 AR - F kA $£159,587,737 ik 4
B& &5 - AR E R UEARIE T 7] 43R A8 2 HEAR AR
D EBEKI4993% (VA HLIMIRIEL BIR
RERAE B EHEREIMRROD TR BB RS
(TR B RAR ) B R IMEIRAR D 2 B2
B H KRB $£133211,006 B AL AR 1+ 48
ERERE T HREZHRRODBEHLD
41.67% °

20225858 « A QE) B8R FTET S
B EIA2022F 1 A 28 A B2 3BIE
B ER B R EIEM - ARNEIRZBET
ERBEOHEBEOGRR  BEMERER
B AREE26850,131 R T ERBHR KRG
BERERE T I HREZ HRRG BH
#78.40% °
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31. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Rights issue in 2022 (Continued)

As a result following above, 319,648,964 Rights Shares were issued. The Rights Issue
has been completed and the net proceeds (after deducting the estimated rights
issues commission and other related expenses and professional fees of approximately
HK$2,389,000) of approximate HK$32,772,000 from the Rights Issue has been used for
repayment of the Group'’s loans and general working capital for the Group. Upon
completion of Rights Issue, share capital and share premium have been increased by
approximately HK$6,393,000 and HK$26,379,000 respectively.

Details of the transaction was disclosed in the circular dated 17 March 2022, the
prospectus dated 19 April 2022 and announcements of the Company dated 28
January 2022, 17 February 2022, 16 March 2022, 19 April 2022 and 12 May 2022
respectively.

Issue of shares in 2024

In respect of the acquisition of Tonnett Group as disclosed in Note 38, allotment and
issue of 39,954,338 new shares at issue price of HK$0.2628 to satisfy the aggregate
consideration for the sale and purchase of the sale share of the Tonnett Group
contemplated under the sale and purchase agreement dated 29 June 2023, the issue
of new shares took place on 9 February 2024 with the closing share price of HK$0.69,
details of which are disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 9
February 2024.

32. FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS

31. A (#7)

BiIeE - ()

(a)

(b)

2022 F LA (58)

W B FIEE - B #17319,648964 A% A% AR
9 o $HRR B Te B R M AR PR 15 RRIE R 58 (A8 40
BRETHBRAS REMEBERIREXE
FH 492,389,000/ JT) #932,772,0007 7L 2 A 7
EEAEBRNERRIERAEEN—RE
BES  TRHRE  REARRMDGEER S
Bl 00 49 6,393,000 4 7T K 26,379,000 4 7T ©

REHBHEENBHA202F3417HHE
K HEA2022F4 A 19BMEBRERZLA
o Rl A202281 A288 ~ 20222 A17
B 2022F38168 - 2022F4 8198 &
202F5 BN2AMERBAE -

2024 FRTRH

NPT FE38 ATIR B - B UK BB Tonnett £ &
MeE - KETE0.2628F wBl 3 REIT
39,954,338 B ¥T A& 15 - LA 1+ A #3 B 2023 F
6 A2 HMEEREE N E B Tonnett £ &
MAERMOBRIE - BITHRMDN 2024 F
2A9B#ETT  IRMARE B069ETT  FFIERN
AARAHA2024F2A9BNAERE -

32. W5 W R B A

2024 2023
2024 F 20234F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
F&ET FHETT
Finance income R e
Interest income on short-term time deposits %2 Bi$R17 M & RUM 18 F HE 7 X
in banks and a financial institution 2 F BUg A 1,323 217
Finance costs U ID N
Interest expenses on borrowings (Note 39(b)) & & Z F] 8.5 32 (M5 39(b)) (181) (962)
Interest expenses on lease HEBGEZNERX
liabilities (Note 39(b)) (Pt 3E 39(0)) (95) 67)
(276) (1,029)
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33.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

On 10 June 2019, the Group and the two independent third parties
entered into the sale and purchase agreement, pursuant to which the
vendors have agreed to sell and the Group has conditionally agreed to
acquire the sale shares, representing 30% of the issued share capital of
Guardian City Limited (“Guardian City") at a total consideration of
approximately HK$176,005,000, of which is satisfied by cash as to
HK$10,000,000 and 153,000,000 shares issued by the Company at
HK$1.085 per share (equivalent to HKS$166,005,000).

On 25 June 2019, the acquisition was completed, Guardian City became
an associate of the Company. Guardian City was principally engaged in
investment holding which holds 62.55% equity interest in Campfire
Holdings Company Limited (collectively as “Campfire Group”). Campfire
Group was principally engaged in operation of co-working spaces and
co-living spaces in Hong Kong and the UK.

In February 2021, Campfire Group was under the capital restructured by
transferring and allotting shares of Guardian City and Campfire Holdings
Company Limited among the shareholders. Upon the completion of the
capital restructuring and as at 31 March 2021, the Group no longer holds
any equity interests in Guardian City and has directly held 2.5% of
Campfire Holdings Company Limited. In view of such, the directors of
the Company have classified the investment of Campfire Group from
associate to financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income at the completion date as the purpose of the investment is for
long term investment during the year ended 31 March 2021.

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the fair value of investment in Campfire
Group is measured at level 3 using the inputs for the assets that are not
based on observable market data, which is determined by reference to
the latest financial position and performance of the Campfire Group and
the current operating situation under co-working spaces industry. In
prior years, the fair value of investment in Campfire Group was fully
impaired.

In addition, in view of the macro-economy downturn and fierce
competition which have caused adverse impact on co-working spaces
industry, the directors of the Company estimated the fair value of the
investment approximates to zero (2023: Nil) as at 31 March 2024.
Accordingly, no fair value change is recognised for the year ended 31
March 2024. On 29 July 2024, the Group has disposed of one ordinary
share, representing the entire issued share capital of the subsidiary
which is engaged in investment holding and holding the investment in
Campfire Group, to an independent third party, at a consideration of
HKS1.

K I /A 1 ANE S (R T Y

il ¥

R2019F 6 108 » AL B HEmWEIEL
F-FFVEERE Bl ZEEH
ERELE  MAKBEEBEKERER
R 84 % it (FBE 7 Guardian City Limited
([ Guardian City |) B E# 7T A 2 30%) -
#8 R (B 49 5176,00500078 7T & AR
& 14 10,000,00078 7T & 3 B A 2 &%
A% B 17 1.085 7% 7T 8% 17 153,000,000 f A%
15 (FEE R 166,005,000 7C) 2 F AT e

20196 A25H F N EHE K o
Guardian City X B AR B 2 B & A 7] °
Guardian City T ER R EER 5 F
Campfire Holdings Company Limited (#7% &
[ Campfire @) 2 62.55% % # -
Campfire%.Ixﬁ’\%fﬁﬁ++.?ﬁE$§‘—i
FIEEREAZEREEHEEE

R202142 8 > Campfire £ B B8 £ %
B AR 88 28 & g % Guardian City & Campfire
Holdings Company Limited i% {5 # 17 i% Z<
B R AEAE RN 2021F3A8
318 - A& E A BB Guardian City #)
£ 1] I # & B # #5 A Campfire Holdings
Company Limited #2.5% ° B R R L+ £
RIEBE BN RRERE HE2021F
3ANALEFE  RRRIEFHTKA
i Campfie S B HIEEHE S AR 9
BARATEFAHMZEWZ 2R
BE -

M2024% K 2023343180 B
Campfire RE IR E R FERFEIRMRE
FAIEE R AT B R T I5 8UR 1) & B 8 A X
BstE T2 E Campfire £ B H) & #T B
AR R EE AR Z TEERITER
ERRERRAEE BELF B
Campfire R E AR E A FEEEERE -

BEAN - B R R A TR RO R 5
HETHEERHITEERIFEE  AQ
RIEBMFTIREN QAT ER2024F3 A
3THEAET (2023F : F) - At &
REBZE2024F3A31BILFEERRF
B - R2024F7H29H8  REBE
MBLE=FRE—REBR  HER
RELREZERLFE Campfire S BT E
H—HEfBARNEIEETRA R
BAE1ET-
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34. DEFERRED TAX

34. EEBIH

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the year/ F/HNEERBABREENZE I
period are as follows: I
Deferred tax liabilities AR S0t 758 T £ A
Intangible Right-of-use
Assets Assets Total
B EE EREEE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FHET
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023 R2022F4/818 -
and 1 April 2023 20233 H31B K
202354 A1 H - - -
Arising from acquisition of R E U Tonnett &£
Tonnett Group 1,889 —* 1,889
Deferred tax charged to the MR EFNEGRE R RH
consolidated income IEAERRIE
statement during the year - 1 1
Exchange realignment M H P —* —* —*
As at 31 March 2024 202453 H31H 1,889 1 1,890
Deferred tax assets AR 0 Tl I
Credit loss Lease
allowances liabilities Total
FEERRE HESE e
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHETT
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023 M202F4H18
and 1 April 2023 20233 H31B K
202354 A1 H - - -
Arising from acquisition of 2R B Y Tonnett &£
Tonnett Group 14 19 33
Deferred tax credited to the EFAFAGRERERA
consolidated income TEAERIE
statement during the year - 3 3
Exchange realignment M H P —* - -
As at 31 March 2024 202453 H31H 14 22 36
2 Less than HK$1,000 * 11,0008 7T
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34. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 34. EREBIIE (4)

Deferred tax assets (Continued)

The followings are the major deferred income tax assets recognised by
the Group and movements thereon during the year ended 31 March
2024.

As at 31 March 2024, subject to the approval by Inland Revenue
Department, the Group has unused tax losses and deductible temporary
differences relating to the allowance for ECL arose in Hong Kong and
may be carried forward indefinitely under the current tax legislation of
approximately HK$144,693,000 and HK$17,458,000 (2023:
HK$131,867,000 and HK$12,842,000) respectively. Subject to the
approval by relevant tax authority, the Group also has unused tax losses
arose in the PRC, which will be expired in 5 years from the year that the
losses incurred, of approximately HK$54,651,000 (2023: HK$39,578,000).
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these
balances due to the unpredictability of future profits streams.

As discussed in Note 12, withholding tax would be payable on the
unremitted retained earnings of certain PRC subsidiaries having retained
earnings. Deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised in respect of
the tax that would be payable on the distribution of these retained
earnings from certain PRC subsidiaries, as the Company is in a position to
control the dividend policy of these certain PRC subsidiaries and it has
been determined that it is probable that undistributed profits of these
certain PRC subsidiaries will not be distributed in the foreseeable future.

B S Al I 5 ()

AREBREE2024F3 831 BILFERE
RZEBELEHMEREEREESHIT -

R2024F3A31H  WREBHREBH
##E AEBEMEE@ERBHEERER
HZABRAMRIEBERATNRERE58
REBEE - ERITEAGIT A LR B4
#5351 4 144,693,000 7 7T M 17,458,000 75
7T (2023 4F : 131,867,000 78 7T M 12,842,000
BIL) o IMRBEIE AR HE -
AEBEREETREEENREABK
E1E (B Es1E IR g F1& 5 F AR E)
#754,651,0007% 7T (2023 FF : 39,578,000 /%5
JL) c AR KREETRET R EFmE - 1)
WESEZEEGERELEHBEE -

AT 12wl - SIS RE AN E
T BIKY 8 A RIZA B REE B R E B A
IR - BT H BB R F HALZ
E IR B 2R & FE 5 B TR RE AR R A
HAE  ARANABREREGZETH
BB AR EHR  MEHEDIRE
% T R BB B X B E R 20 IR U AE R
BERBRAETEDIK
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35. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED

PAYMENTS

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) on 17
October 2014. Pursuant to the ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders of the Company at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 28 September 2018, the refreshment of the Scheme
has been approved and the terms are stated below.

Purpose of the Scheme

The purpose of the Scheme is to provide incentives to participants to
contribute to the Group and to enable the Group to recruit and retain
high caliber employees and attract those that are valuable to the Group.

Participants of the Scheme

The board of directors of the Company, may at its discretion, grant
options to the Group's directors, officers, employees (including, without
limitation, those employed for a fixed term) and contract consultants
(including executive and non-executive consultants) or any member of
the Group, to subscribe for shares of HK$0.02 each in the share capital of
the Company in accordance with the provisions of the Scheme.

Total number of shares available for issue under the
Scheme

Under the Scheme, subject to the approval of the Company’s
shareholders, the maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Scheme shall not exceed 30% of the share capital of the
Company in issue from time to time. No options may be granted under
the Scheme if the grant of such option will result in the limit being
exceeded.

The total number of shares which may be allotted and issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under this Scheme and any other
share option of the Group must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
shares in issue as at the date of passing of the relevant resolution
adopting this Scheme.

35.

B HE %5 S VLB A 72 B B 5F K

AN A 2014510 517 B £ 4% BE % 1
& ([&stdl)) - REBEAQFRER
20189 A28 BT 2 AN AR R A F
AReFRBEBAEE BT E
R R EARRETIN T o

%l E ) H

T Bl B M EHE 2 B R AR EE
HER YLAKEREBEEREEE
FEIRTSIHAEEEENET -

Wt # i 2 8

ARREEGANBRALEESAEE
TAKERRIZEE BRBE BT
(BIEETRREEEEHMNET) G
DERE (BIERIT RIENTTRER) BHE
BR#E - DARIR AT Z IR RE AR T
B A o & A E{E 0.02 78 T 2 B 19 »

AR5 % w1 T BB AT Y JBe A AR

RigZat 8 AFARBBRRILE R
TTEREBEZEDHRHERTENFAAE
BROER - AIETHBRMRSEE TE
BEARRB TR D EITRAA30% © &
BRHBRESSBEHILRE  BITE
RIBZGT IR H B ARAE -

RITEREBEZ B R ARENOEREM
FE RS T 1% O P A BB AR RS - RTAC
BRBEITHRMDABE X TEBEENR
MZtElcERRAZREBREAZE
TITRAD B9 10% ©
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35. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 35. JBEHE &5 5 DL Oy Ay B B A5k K (48

PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)
Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
Options granted to each participant (including exercised, cancelled and
outstanding Options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the
Shares in issue. Any further grant of Options to a participant which
would result in the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
Options granted and to be granted to such participant (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in the 12-month period
up to and including the date of such further grant exceeding the limit
shall be subject to shareholders’ approval in advance with such
participant and his close associates abstaining from voting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are subject to
approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors of the
Company. In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the Company,
or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time and with an aggregate value (based on
the price of the Company’s shares at the date of the grant) in excess of
HKS5 million, within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’
approval in advance in a general meeting.

Period within which the share must be taken up
under an option

The exercise period of the share options granted is determinable by the
directors of the Company, save that such period shall not be more than
ten years from the date of the offer of the share options, subject to the
provisions for early termination as set out in the Scheme. Unless
otherwise determined by the directors at their absolute discretion, there
is no requirement of a minimum period for which an option must be
held before an option can be exercised. In addition, there is no
performance target which must be achieved before any of the options
can be exercised.

Amount payable upon acceptance of the option and
the period within which the payment must be made

The nominal consideration of HK$1.00 shall be paid within 28 days from
the date of offer of the option.

422 S 1 d ey B

MER 2B A BEATER TE28E
MBEE (BRETE B RART
150 ) BB SO B B 31T Ioi§ T AT IR
MBS NMEBEBEHITHRMM 1% - I
ME—TREBRESEHEERBR
BRE PRI A B EM 1218 A B\
N BYRERTEBSEENMER
e (BIEDITE  DREEEKRITERN
BRE) BTESERTRS THITZ
BfBHZ R - MABRSERELY
o MAMSEENEETBEABN

ZRE-

MARBERNES TETBABSE
DR S SR AR TR
HESARRIBIIIENTESE LN
A e AN FME 28 A BRI A AR
NRAEERRABIIIFRPTESHEA
A AR BB E AR R RERERZ
BB 1T 1D 0.1% B 42 {8 #8 5,000,000 75
TREBEARGTRMOAERE BB
SE) o EMERE  BFERERKRE
R LEhHE -

AL 452 i I 2 M o 14 390 R

RUBREZTEN AR ARARESE
o EZBRNSRBIEZERER R
Bt 5F YEXZEMEIRRR
IHEXFRR - RIFEERTERBIE
BE - BRI ENBRER TITEAL
AR BBRENSEHRRRE - o
48 X o] B AR A AT 1 1T (8 A A0 R K
ZREABRZ

152 52 O R 14 B LA
Hh o 40

FEARBIETAREZERER
HAREET 28 A A AT ©
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35. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 35. JBEHE &5 5 DL Oy Ay B B A5k K (48
PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)
Basis of determining the exercise price of the option 7 A P e B AT o ] Yy ik
The subscription price for shares under the Scheme shall be a price BRIBEZAENBRNREESAESESR
determined by the Board at its absolute discretion and notified to the ERBETENRENFMNE 2 ,\%Z{ﬁ
participant in the offer and shall be no less than the higher of: % BANMERUTSEZ &
(1) the closing price of the shares as stated in the daily quotations 1 BHORREBHRBIFELRZ
sheet issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant; BHHRERMARZBME
(2)  the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily Q BORBERLBHIIAESZE
quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five AR s BARERAN
business days immediately preceding the date of grant (provided A2 AT E ERRKRNEE
that in the event that any options is proposed to be granted BLORAEEXE 2 HERNER
within a period of less than five business days after the trading of AT HE AR RE - /,\5‘>)E$Exﬁﬁf/|5)
the shares shall be used for the purpose of this paragraph; and &
(3)  the nominal value of a share on the day of grant. () MELAZRMHEE -
Remaining life of the Scheme W ah ) Z R T R
The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years from the ZErEl G HRMEBRRI0FANERRE
date of adoption (i.e. 26 September 2014 and ending on 25 September B(BN201449 9 A 26 B M 72202499 A 25
2024), after which no further options will be granted but the provisions Hib)  HEeTe#— SR EERE -
of the Scheme shall remain in force to the extent necessary to give effect MEZET B 2GRN EHBENDAR
to the exercise of any options granted or exercised prior to otherwise as B AEAR BT B MR AT ge 51728
may be required in accordance with the provision of the Scheme. ZBIATR A3 T kAT R AR i A Ak o
Details of share options granted under the Scheme are as follows: BREZTERE 2 BRESBENT :
29 October 13 December
2018 2018 Total
2018 2018
10H29H 12813 H et
Number of ordinary shares RITERE TEITZ
to be issued upon exercise: TEREA -
— Chairman — X% 16,968,000 = 16,968,000
— Directors — 5% 35,936,000 - 35,936,000
— Independent — BUFHITES
non-executive directors 3,392,000 = 3,392,000
— Employees — kB 8,500,000 1,000,000 9,500,000
64,796,000 1,000,000 65,796,000
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35.

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Remaining life of the Scheme (Continued)

For all the share options granted, 50% of the share options granted to be
exercised by each grantee at any time after the expiration of 12 months
from the date of grant (the “first tranche”) and 50% of the share options
granted to be exercised by each grantee at any time after the expiration
of 24 months from the date of grant (the “second tranche”). In the
event the grantee ceases to be the participants, the share options
granted to the grantee shall lapse on the date which the grantee ceases
to be the participant.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, share-based payment expense of
HKSNil (Note 11) (2023: HKSNIl) for the share options granted and vested
was recognised in the consolidated profit or loss with a corresponding
credit in share option reserve and the vesting condition of first tranche
was fulfilled.

In respect of the share options granted on 29 October 2018, they are
exercisable commencing from 29 October 2019 to 28 October 2023
(both dates inclusive) for the first tranche and from 29 October 2020 to
28 October 2023 (both dates inclusive) for the second tranche.

In respect of the share options granted on 13 December 2018, they are
exercisable commencing from 13 December 2019 to 12 December 2023
(both dates inclusive) for the first tranche and from 13 December 2020
to 12 December 2023 (both dates inclusive) for the second tranche.

Details of the exercise prices and the movement of number of share
options outstanding and exercisable as at 31 March 2024 and 2023 are
as follows.

35.

B HE %5 S VL JBE Ay 72 Bk BRE AF K (4)

% al @l Z TR (4])

LT ERBEEN S - KT &K
BAZ50% BN R A B 1218
AIEm 2 SRR T (T8 —#t))
KA T & AR N 2 50% B IR B 1% i B
B Rt 2418 A JE i 2 T B A F17(E
(TE=4#t)) - MARATBR2EE
AR T AR ANBRERREARATE
RBEEZRKRY -

HE2MUFIAJNBIEFE ER-ER
RECEREZRGAERNZRAY A
BT (s 1) (2035 - BET) O
REBEER  WHE ABRER
- mE-IEBERHECEER -

B 2018F 10 A20 B IR E BB AR 4 M
S EAR2019F 108 29H 20234
10A2B8 (BIEEEMA) AT T17# (5
—#t) 72020410 A 29 B £ 2023410
A28 (BRIEERMAE) A 17 (F=
#) o

FAR2018F 12 A 13 B B H A BB #E M
= EAR2019%F 12 A13H £ 20234
RARB(BREEREMB) Al F171F (5
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MRATHE R AT AT 2 B AR R B B 2 B i
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35. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 35. JBEME &S DAy 2 B AT Ak (7))
PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Remaining life of the Scheme (Continued) Zat ) Z iR T AR ()

Number of share options

BREKE
Adjusted Adjustment
exercise on Rights Lapsed/
price As at Issue At forfeited At
per share* 1 April during 31 March during 31 March
(HKS) 2022 the year 2023 the year 2024
BREHRE
THRE* K202  FREM  H2023F FR  R2024F
(&) 4818 RNFEE 38318 AR 8K 3A31A
29 October 2018 201810 A29H 13 1,996,800 61,574 2,058,374 (2,058,374) -
13 December 2018 201812 A 13 H 11.64 100,000 3,084 103,084 (103,084) -
2,096,800 64,658 2,161,458 (2,161,458) -
* As a result of rights issue, adjustments were made to the exercise price of and the * B 820225128 # » HZE
number of the outstanding share options under the Scheme with effect from 12 May TRARITENBRENITEEREEET
2022. HE -
During the year ended 31 March 2024, 2,161,458 share option (2023: Nil) HE204F3A831HIEFE © 2,161,458
lapsed and the vesting condition has been fulfilled. During year ended 7 (2023 4F : #&) R IR i 25 20 B 57 88 fik 1
31 March 2024, the corresponding share option reserve of HK$8,753,000 BENK B E2024F3A3IBEFE -
was transferred to accumulated losses. B FE 9 B % 1 1 8,753,000 B ST E B A

2R -
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35. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 35. JBEHE &5 5 DL Oy Ay B B A5k K (48

PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Remaining life of the Scheme (Continued)

The fair values of employee services received in return for share options
granted are measured by reference to the fair value of share options
granted at grant date. The fair value is determined by the directors of the
Company with reference to the valuation performed by an independent
valuer, CHFT using the binomial option pricing model and significant
inputs into the model were as follows:

WZnt 8 Z R T IR (41)

ARIREE IR B AR T R Y (R B AR A%
MAFEI2EEREHNBRERE L
BHINAFEAE - A FEIIHART
BExg2ZELAEMESRA AN
HREERAET MxEANTIEEH
ABEBRIT

29 October 13 December

2018 2018

2018 F 2018

108291 12R13H

Expected volatility TEHA R 1@ 48.71% 50.07%
Expected option life T8 HA B ix 4 4F B 5 years 5 F 5 years 5 &
Expected dividend yield TEHA AR B W e & 0.00% 0.00%
Annual risk-free interest rate O 5 4 R B 1) 2.26% 2.1%
Fair value — First tranche NE—F HK$ 03897 7T HKS$ 039578 7T
— Second tranche —E# HK$0445787C  HK$0454 87T

The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical
volatility of future trends, adjusted for any expected changes to future
volatility based on publicly available information, which may also not
necessarily be the actual outcome. No other feature of the options was
incorporated into the measurement of the fair value.

The variables and assumptions used in estimating the fair value of the
share options were the directors’ best estimates. Change in subjective
input assumptions can materially affect the fair value.

The Group does not have a legal or constructive obligation to
repurchase or settle the options in cash.

FEHUR R RBRR KB A BTN IE Z R
R WARSER A B AT 15 B R R HOR 18 #9
TAFRHZEIEL AR - HA e i T —
ERERER - R EFEXLENE
Ptz HAb o

T B BB B 2 T 1645 P 0 B B
BAEFORMELE - TEHABRE
FHTHEUATHELEARE -

AEEYBEEARIEETRTARSED
KB REAHE -
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36. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As each of the reporting period ended, the Group have following
material capital expenditures commitment:

36. EA K

RNERERR  NEBFUTERER
A S A

2024 2023
2024 20235
HK$’000 HKS$'000
TR FHT
Capital expenditures contracted: EEIRERAY :
Property, plant and equipment Wz BB RERE 2,898 -
37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 37. HEEANLRS
(a) Key management compensation (a) FEEHABZHM
2024 2023
2024 2023
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHT
Salaries, wages and other benefits He ITENMEMETR 8,054 3,051
Pension costs defined contribution BESHRANTERBHINGTE
plans and social security costs Rt e RER A 152 54
8,206 3,105

Key management personnel include the directors of the Company
and other senior management of the Group. The remuneration of
key management personnel is determined by the management of
the Company having regard to the performance of individuals and
market trends.

TEEEABBRARAEER
AEBEMSREEE-TEE
BABNFHEARREERER
BEARBELRTEBEET °
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 37. FEALZS (H)

(CONTINUED)

(b) Save as disclosed elsewhere on the consolidated financial
statements, the Group entered into the following material related
party transactions. These transactions are made of terms mutually
agreed by the related parties.

(b) BERAEMBRREMIDFAKE
Sh o REBETIATERBEA
IR -RERZHREZEE
BALTERBEZERETL

2024 2023

2024 20234

Related party relationship Nature of transaction HK$'000 HKS$'000
BEALTBE RHEME FHERT TET
Company with common executive director ~ Rental expense 360 41

BEAEHFARITERTZ LA HEMx

During the year ended 31 March 2023, an executive director of the
Group had been appointed as an executive director of the
landlord, which was a wholly-owned subsidiary of a company with
its ordinary shares listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange,
namely Far East Holdings International Limited.

38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement dated 29 June 2023, the
Ketto Inform Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong (“Vendor”)
has conditionally agreed to sell and Eminent Affluent Limited, a wholly
owned subsidiary of Affluent Partners Holdings Limited (“Purchaser”)
has conditionally agreed to acquire the entire issued share capital of
Tonnett Julis Holdings Limited (which in turn included the subsidiaries
directly or indirectly held by Tonnett Julis Holdings Limited), at the
consideration of HK$42.0 million, which shall be satisfied as to (i)
HKS$10,500,000 by the allotment and issue of the 39,954,338 new
ordinary shares by the Company (“Consideration Shares") which shall
not be offered, sold, transferred, contracted for sale or otherwise
disposed of during Lock-up Period as defined in note 29; and (ii)
HK$31,500,000 by the issue of the non-listed convertible bond by the
Company (“Convertible Bond"). The acquisition of Tonnet Group was
completed on 9 February 2024.

REZE2023F3A31HIEFE * &K
EEN—BRTESCEZRTAE
XEFHNHTES EXEFA BT
BRI R PTER E A A E (B
REEREBRERAR)BEENH
JE=R/NST I

38. Wik it ) 2 Wl

RERHA2023F6A29BMEEH
# - Ketto Inform Limited (— B R & & 5%
ke [BEF)D EE®RGERE
H & M Eminent Affluent Limited (52 & 5
BERARGNEZENBRR  [BEHD
B B 1§ 4 R Z 428 Tonnett Julis Holdings
Limited ) 2 M E BT A (Kh B
Tonnett Julis Holdings Limited B # 8k & #&
FESKE AR - K ER42000000
7T + EH(1)10,500,000 7 7T #§ B AR A
AT EE K 5517 39,954,338 AR i@k (1R
BEROA) M ZHBOREEH (F
ZRMIFH2) ATHRERE - BE -
e FTHHESUNEMTRAEREE &
(i31,500,000 % 7T # R AR A Rl FE @ B 1T 3E
EARE ((TRBRES]) S - %
Tonnet £ E AU BB 2024 F 2 A9 AR ©
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38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

Pursuant to the terms of the sale and purchase agreement, there is a
guarantee of audited consolidated net profit should not be less than the
amount of HK$21.05 million for the two years ending 31 December 2024
("Accumulated Actual Profit"), as guaranteed by the Vendor and by
certain 26 then shareholders of the Vendor (“Guarantors”)
("Accumulated Profit Guarantee”). Certain Guarantors has also
provided indemnities to the Group for any loss arisen from uncollected
amount of the other receivables of approximately HK$14,536,000 (note
21(b)(i)) and the prepayments for property, plant and equipment of
approximately HK$10,954,000 (note 21(b)(iii)) as at 31 March 2024.

In the event the Tonnett Group fails to achieve the Accumulated Profit
Guarantee, the Vendor shall pay the Purchaser compensation
("Compensation Amount’), in accordance with the formular of two
times of the shortfall between the Accumulated Profit Guarantee and
Accumulated Actual Profit. If the Accumulated Actual Profit is a loss or if
it is expressed as a negative figure, the amount of Accumulated Actual
Profit shall be equivalent to zero.

If the Accumulated Profit Guarantee is not satisfied, the Purchaser shall
inform the Vendor in writing within three business days after the
issuance of the certificate to be issued by the auditor of the Company to
certify the amount of the audited consolidated net profit (or actual loss (if
applicable)) to be determined under HKFRS issued by the HKICPA of the
Tonnett Group for the two financial years ending 31 December 2024
("Accumulated Guarantee Certificate’), or where the Accumulated
Actual Profit is less than the Accumulated Profit Guarantee, a
confirmation to be issued by the Purchaser pursuant to the terms of the
Sale and Purchase Agreement, confirming the cash receipt and/or the
Company's redemption or repurchase of the Convertible Bond in relation
to the Compensation Amount (“Compensation Confirmation”),
regarding the mode of payment in relation to the Compensation
Amount in either or in combination of (Mode 1) by payment in cash
within ten business days after the issue of the Accumulated Guarantee
Certificate; or (Mode 2) by the Company redeeming or repurchasing the
Convertible Bond, whereupon the principal amount to be redeemed or
repurchased shall be equivalent to the Compensation Amount, at HK$1
within ten business days after the issue of the Accumulated Guarantee
Certificate/Compensation Conformation.

In case the principal amount to be redeemed or repurchased shall
exceed the outstanding principal amount of the Convertible Bond, the
Vendor shall pay the Purchaser the remaining part of the Compensation
Amount by cash.

8. Wk i g 2>\l (4)
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FREFD  REZE2024F 128318 1E
R EFEAN - EEIZLRE SR TER
21,050,000 7T ([ BT EBER]) - 5T
ERAT2024F3 A31 B R W E E b fE
W B 3 49 14,536,000 78 7T (Pt 5 21(0)()) &
W BB KRB TE N 38 4910,954,000
& 70 (B RE 21(0)(il)) FTE A AR IB K
MRS EIREFEE o

fisi Tonnett S£ B K L 3Z AKX 25T FIRFE -
BIE /B R 2506 FRFE R E
M ZEEZEOMENANEE S M
WE(HESED  MEFEREMN A
BIEEABEERT AR ERE R

M REHa FRBAREZER @ IEHAR
RABIZEENEHEE  FE Tonnett &
BEZE2024% 128318 1 W E B F
ERKEZEES &R (HEREE (1hE
) (BRESSSHMASH/HENSE
BE RS EREE) (R IEREE])
BZELEARAZEARBASE H (3
W2 ER MR EFEFRE - Al
BEFBREBEEEHS BB LER
£ BRUWEIRE S &R Q R E R K
BosHE@EEsENRRES ((HE
BRE)]) HRBESBHUTIIER—
BaREFANTROER : (BX1)R
2R ERJBEBLETEZEEAAUE
I (B 2) AR R E R RETE
REEZ THmERREREEHELEA
N1 B TERKER AT BRES &
S FHER s E R 2 A BB ES N

EEHE-

S TR SEm 2 AS BA B A7
BEFZAEBERNSRE  AIBEHANR
EMETXNHEESEIHBTHD
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38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 38. Wik B & 2 v (48

(CONTINUED)

The Board has absolute discretion to decide the mode of payment to be
made by the Vendor. The Board will prioritise Mode 2 if the Accumulated
Profit Guarantee is not satisfied, taking into consideration the potential
dilution effect on the shareholding of the existing shareholders
associated with the Convertible Bond and the financial burden of
redeeming the Convertible Bond if the Vendor does not convert the
Convertible Bond upon maturity.

Tonnett Group is principally engaged in skincare solutions through self-
transformed skincare brand and mid-to-high end functional skincare
products; and scientific and pharmaceutical research and development
services in the PRC.

The management of the Company considers the acquisition of Tonnett
Group can allow the Group to further penetrate the enormous female
consumer market, diversify its revenue structure and generate future
economic benefits for the Group’s sustainable development. Further, the
directors of the Company believe that the acquisition of Tonnett Group
gives the Group an opportunity to expand its existing business both
vertically by using the Group's existing pearl products as raw materials
for skincare products and horizontally by widening its range of female
consumer products extending from pearl and jewellery to skincare
products. The acquisition of Tonnett Group has been accounted for as
acquisition of business using acquisition method.

ExgnzBRNBREESFHNRZ
AR R R RARESFARNREA
BREENEE#REZE  URMEES
1A B H RS A 85 3 B] # BR (& 75 1T 7R AR (2] 7]
BRESOPHAE - HREDEFIRE
REEER - EFEHELEEEN2-

Tonnett RE X ERFERFEEL TE
LB B dn b2 B p = i T AR B S M iR
AR AR IR Ty 28 BB I BRI 3 AR A

ARRBEEERA W Tonnett &£ & 7]
BASEHE-—FE2BEREANZMEEEM
5 ZntEREWRALE TALXE
BRI B RAERREEND o It
Gh o RABEEZRE - W Tonnett £ &
FAREEERSFBTALNEENRE
DIREMEREE M RME - girh
BEBHEYS  URBREREZIEHE
EEMGRE (PG EAKEDEER) °
W BB Tonnett SR B S A W B A E B 7
¢ YN:
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38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

The fair value of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed of
Tonnett Group as at the date of the Acquisition, 9 February 2024, are as

W

Aok B B i M

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE2024F3A31 B IFFE

38. Wi A & 2 v (%)

WUckE B8 (Bl20245%2H98) » #
Tonnett £ [ 7 U B8 &9 A 3% 51 & 2= K BT

follows: EHEEAFENT -

HK$’000

FHERT

Property, plant and equipment Wz BERZE 7,038
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 767
Intangible assets mEAE 7,551
Deferred tax assets BEEMIEEE 33
Prepayments TERT RIE 11,138
Trade and other receivables FE WU E 7R H th B ULBR 3R 25,654
Inventory rE 2,314
Cash and cash equivalents RENERRE 3,598
Trade and other payables JE A5t & 3R e L A 8 < R K (9,796)
Bank borrowings RITER (5,503)
Lease liabilities MEAR (1,055)
Tax payable FERITRIE (1,552)
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEEE (1,889)
Net assets acquired Fri g & = 5E 38,298
Less: NCI R IR S (16,384)
The fair value of consideration transferred: EEBRENAFE:
Consideration satisfied by Consideration Shares ARERD TR E 27,568
Consideration satisfied by Convertible Bond AR # R E 5 X SR E 42,709
Total purchase consideration wEERE 70,277
Goodwill arising on the acquisition of Tonnett Group W Tonnett R B FTEE £ HIFH 2 48,363
Net cash inflows arising from the acquisition: REWEEEANR S RAFEE
Cash and cash equivalents acquired FriER e RERRE 3,598

The fair value of the trade and other receivables at the date of the

acquisition is similar to the carrying amount.

PAUREE B - R U R B A R U AR K

AT EEREERS
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38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

39.

(CONTINUED)

At the acquisition date, the fair value of the Accumulated Profit
Guarantee of approximately HK$32,157,000 which has been arrived at on
the basis of a valuation carried out by independent valuer. The
independent valuer adopted the Black-Scholes Model and after
considering the volatility of 25% and risk free rate of 2.21%.

The goodwill of approximately HK$48,363,000, which is not deductible
for tax purposes, comprises the acquired reputation, the expected future
profitability and the benefits from diversifying the revenue stream of the
Group.

Impact of the acquisition on the results of the
Tonnett Group

The acquisition of Tonnett contributed revenue and net loss of
approximately HK$3,327,000 and HK$1,391,000 respectively for the
period from 9 February 2024 to 31 March 2024. If the Acquisition had
occurred on 1 April 2023, pro forma consolidated revenue and pro forma
consolidated profit of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024
would have been approximately HK$78,473,000 and HK$733,000,
respectively.

The pro-forma information is for illustrative purposes only and is not
necessarily an indication of revenue and results of operations of the
Group that actually would have been achieved had the acquisition of
Tonnett Group occurred on 1 April 2023, nor is it intended to be a
projection of future results.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

(@) Major non-cash transaction
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the increase in non-

controlling interest related to a Hong Kong subsidiary in amount
of HK$980,000 is recorded under other receivables.

38.

39.

W B e 2 ) ()

RUEEBH - 2EEEFREZQAFELY
/32,157,000 7T + I TIR BB L (A EAD
ETHHEEMSE - B (A EMFEAM
NFHE — SFBHTER - WEEE B 25% K 17
MERBAR21%EBEL -

J& 71~ AT H0 i #Y 49 48,363,000 78 7T HY 7 22
BIEFTE AN E A HE A T8
M AEBEWRATRRE A% I AT R
Flzk -

Wi # Tonnett 45 B 3 45 2 5% 2

R2024F2 A9H £ 202443 A31H Hf
fal » U B Tonnett 7 Bl &5 3 #9 3,327,000 75
7T 2 WA K2 1,391,000 7T 7 SF B 18 o i
W EEMN2023F4 1834 K&
EHE204F383BIFEEZEER
EWARBEEREEMNED RN A
78,473,000 7 7T }2 733,000,8 JT ©

HEEARHEIERBAR - RMAT R
I B8 Tonnett & @ 7 2023 F 4 A1 8 %
£ AEEEBRSRSARAREEE
B M EHERRBESENTER -

f 5 B U R R B R

(a) FHEIEBERS

REZE2024F3A31HILFE @ &
—HWEENBAREBEMIELER
E 25 3% HN980,00078 7T * 5t A H Ath
FEUBREFRIE T o
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE2024F3A31 B IFFE

39. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which
cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the

Group'’s consolidated cash flow statement as cash flows from

financing activities.

9. iy Bl B L ek (4

(b)

R ) A 2 A R IR

Ti%*fﬁ;zli‘i@?ﬁé MEEHZ
CBERERIFRSE
o) mﬁﬁé@]FEZE BERER
MECLEIRRBEEREHNR
SEvEGEaREenRERPOER
Hﬁﬁ/ﬁ@&iziﬁﬁmbg/z%{ﬁ °

Other
borrowing Total
interest liabilities
included in from
Lease Other other financing
liabilities  borrowings payables activities
T AH A
FEFTERR  REEE
ZEAh EEZ
HEAE HtEE (BEMNE AfeH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHT FHET
At 1 April 2022 R2022F4H1H 2,061 29,776 698 32,535
Changes from financing cash flows: g8 & IR & i & &
Proceeds from other borrowings EMEE 2B HRIE - 2,000 - 2,000
Repayment of other borrowings BEEMEE (29,776) - (29,776)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEARE (1,232) - - (1,232)
Payments for interests BT 67) - - (67)
Total changes from financing BERSREL B4R
cash flows (1,299) (27,776) - (29,075)
Other changes: Higg -
Interest charges on other HmEE 2 FEXH
borrowings (Note 32) (MF5E32) = = 962 962
Interest charges on lease HEABZMEXH
liabilities (Note 32) (BtaE32) 67 - - 67
Early termination of lease REHKILEE 71 = = 7
Other Hith - (1,624) (1,624)
Total other changes Hitn # 845 4) - (662) (666)
At 31 March 2023 7R2023F3 A31H 758 2,000 36 2,794
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39. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

. B Bl R R (A

)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) FlE B E A Z A E R ()
financing activities (Continued)
Other
borrowing Total
interest liabilities
included in from
Lease Other other financing
liabilities borrowings payables activities
ST AE A
EFERR REED
ZHAh BEE2Z
HEAE HMtEE HFEINE BSEHAEH
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FHEx FTHET FHER
At 1 April 2023 20234 A1 8 758 2,000 36 2,794
Changes from financing cash flows: Bl & IR & 7 £ &
Proceeds from other borrowings EMEEZTEHIE = 2,000 = 2,000
Repayment of other borrowings BEEEMEE - - - -
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEEARE (1,144) - - (1,144)
Payments for interests F B AT (95) - (159) (254)
Total changes from financing BMERSREETBE
cash flows (1,239) 2,000 (159) 602
Other changes: Hitn#H -
Interest charges on other HmEE 2 M EXZH
borrowings (Note 32) (fF5E32) - - 181 181
Arising from acquisition TREWIEEIE 588 - - 588
Interest charges on lease liabilities & &FZF| 8 H
(Note 32) (BtzE32) 95 - - 95
New lease liabilities MEEAR 1,858 - - 1,858
Total other changes Hih & ehiEs 2,541 - 181 2,722
At 31 March 2024 202453 A31H 2,060 4,000 58 6,118
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40. SUBSIDIARIES

40. )& 2wl

Place of Nominal value Percentage of equity
establishment/ of issued attributable to the Company
principal share capital/ KAAEEERE AN
Name of subsidiary place of operation registered capital Directly Indirectly  Principal activities
Ruh%,/ BRIRE/
HWEAFEHE TERERS AMEREE EE Mg TEER
Arcadia Jewellery Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$500,000 - 100%  Trading of jewellery products
EERMERAAT &R L3k 5000007 7T EENEER
Man Sang Jewellery Hong Kong Ordinary share of HKS1 - 100%  Trading of pearl products
(Hong Kong) Limited
RAKE (BE)ARAA Bh LRRIET BEVREM
Hui Bao Feng Jewellery the PRC Registered capital of - 100%  Purchasing and processing of pearls
(Shenzhen) Limited U5$2,000,000 and assembling of pearl jewellery
EELRE(RI)ERAT  HE A& A 2000000% 7 RBRMIDHR
BRYKIKE
Full Wealth Investment Hong Kong Ordinary share of HKS1 - 100%  Financial assets investment
Hong Kong Limited
ERREEBARAA B LaRIAT SRAERE
Sparkie World Inc. The British Virgin Islands  Ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
Sparkle World Inc. RBEAAE LRERIET REER
Full Wealth Inc. The British Virgin Islands  Ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
EMARAH AERLESE LERIET RALR
Arcadia Global Holdings Limited The British Virgin Islands  Ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
EESRKERBRAA ABRUES LARIET RARR
Gain Global Inc. The British Virgin Islands  Ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
Gain Global Inc. RBEIES AR En REBR
Thriving Oasis Limited The British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary share of US$1 100% - Dormant
Thriving Oasis Limited KBRAMS LERIET TEE

189



190 Affluent Partners Holdings Limited SEZR AR QA

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Er o s R Bk

For the year ended 31 March 2024  #({Z2024F3A31 A ILFE

40. SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

40. I & 2w (%)

Place of Nominal value Percentage of equity
establishment/ of issued attributable to the Company
principal share capital/ KAAEEERE AN
Name of subsidiary place of operation registered capital Directly Indirectly  Principal activities
Rt/ BRATRE/
WEATER TELEHY AMEREE E& Mg TEER
Eminent Affluent Limited The British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
(2023: dormant)

Eminent Affluent Limited RBEIES L AE REER 035 - TE)

Arcadia Investment Hong Kong Ordinary share of HKS1 - 100%  Investment holding
Holdings Limited

EELREARERAA A LRARIBT REHER

Man Sang Innovations Limited Hong Kong Ordinary share of HK$5,000 - 100%  Dormant

REEIRBERAA &k LiBIR5 0008 TEY

Pro Art Jewellery Limited Hong Kong Ordinary share of HK$100 - 100%  Dormant

BEREARLAA &R LRRI00ET T

Tonnett Julis Holdings Limited The British Virgin Islands -~ USS1 - 100 Investment holding

Tonnett Julis Holdings Limited RBEIES (E REER

Wai Lun Affluent Jewellery Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary share of HK$2,000,000 - 51%  Trading of jewellery products

BREEREERLAEH  FA L% 2000000 T BENEER

Baijin Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Investment holding
(EeEAERAA)

BeREERAA &R 100007 RERRK

Bejjing Baijin Biotechnology the PRC RMB5,010,000 - 100 Sales of skincare products and
Company Limited ('Beijing Baijin") provision of skincare services
(ERBESEVHRERAT)

(Note 1)

tRBEeEMRRBRAA e ARES50100007C HESEmRRHEEE RS
(MexmEE ) (F1)

Hangzhou Qingda Kequi the PRC RMB2,614,379 = 66 Sales of skincare products
Biological Technology provision of skincare services
Company Limited and provision of research and
(MBEARRE MR development services
BRAR) (Notes 1)

RMBRREDHEBRAR PHE AR 26143797 HESER REEERBA

(BzE1)

RAR G B R
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40. SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

40. I & 2w (%)

Place of Nominal value Percentage of equity
establishment/ of issued attributable to the Company
principal share capital/ RAAEEERE AN
Name of subsidiary place of operation registered capital Directly Indirectly  Principal activities
R/ BRTRA/

WEAFER TELEHY AMEREE E& B IEXHB

Hangzhou Jiyun Health the PRC RMB100,000 - 100 Sales of skincare products and
Management Co, Ltd. provision of skincare services
(MMEEREER
BARAF) Note 1)

MMBEEREERARAA e AR 1000007 HEEEmRREERRY
(RfzE1)

Hangzhou Fantianou the PRC RMB1,000,000 - 100 Sales of skincare products and
Health Management Co, Ltd provision of skincare services
(RMERE R RER
BRAR) Note 1)

FNERBREERARAR ARE1,0000007C HEEEmRRHEERS
(RfzE1)

Xi'an Fanke Biological the PRC RMB1,000,000 - 100 Provision of skincare testing services
Technology Co, Ltd
(AR AR
ARAF) (Note 1)

BZAMANEMERAR  PE AR 10000007 REEE N RS
(1)

Shijiazhuang Baijin Warehouse the PRC RMB100,000 - 100 Provision of logistic services
Senvices Co, Ltd
(AFERERHERE
BRAT) (Note 1)

hFHAERRRBEARLR PE AR 1000007 AR R
(FtsE1)

Baijin (Hangzhou) Life Science the PRC Registered: - 51 Provision of skincare testing services
Co, Lid (A2 (M) RMB2,000,000 and brand marketing and
EnRERRA) Note1) Paid-up: RMB1,380,000 consulting services

B M) EaH2EaRe  PE i - AR 20000007 RUEENARE R mie e
(RtzE1) BR - AR¥13800007C Rk AR%

Note 1: BisET :

The English name of a subsidiary represents the best effort by the management of the

Company in translating its Chinese name as it does not have official English name.

As at 31 March 2024, none of the subsidiaries had issued any debt

securities (2023: Nil).

—HERRYEE S REXAE  EEXEETIA
ARAEEEERAZ N HERXAEEEMS -

R2024F3 8318 BENE QA B %
TEMEEES (20234 : £) -
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Ao o1 B B R T

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #(ZE2024F3 4318 IEFE

41. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH 41.

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Financial information of Hangzhou Qingda Kequi Biological Technology
Company Limited, which is a subsidiary of the Tonnett Group having a
material non-controlling-interest is summarised below. The amounts
disclosed are before any inter-company elimination:

B A7 B K I 1 B i G I A R
J& 2 v

A B KN FEHE BB 25 1O Tonnett £ [ B
BRBMIMNBAR IR ED R BERAF
WP BEERBAIT - fIRESREIIE
[ENCIPALEF L ok -2

2024

2024 F

HK$’000

FET

NCI percentage IEERER A DL 34%
Current assets MBEE 23,017
Non-current assets FEMBEE 15,271
Current liabilities mEIAaE (15,087)
Non-current liabilities FEmBEE 467
Net assets EEFAE 22,734
Carrying amount of NCl IR R REE 7,730
Revenue Was 1,642
Loss for the year RNEFRERE (784)
Loss allocated to NCI DEEFETRERNER (267)
Cash flows from operating activities KEEBMBHESRE 741

Cash flows from financing activities BEESMBHESRE (38)
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41. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH 41.

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(CONTINUED)

Financial information of Baijin (Hangzhou) Life Science Co., Ltd which is
registered in the PRC on 10 April 2023 and a subsidiary of the Tonnett
Group which has a material non-controlling interest is summarised
below. The amounts disclosed are before any inter-company elimination:

A7 B ORI 4 B R 4k Y 2 B
J& 2 v (#])

A B K IEVE PR %5 A9 Tonnett 52 & Y
BorfEe () ESaREERAF (R
2023F 44108 EHRRHFM) WE B E
BT - I ESEITMNARZ
T SH AT A & 58

2024

2024 &

HK$’000

FHExT

NCI percentage HIERERE DL 49%
Current assets MEEE 6,130
Non-current assets FEMBEE 1,558
Current liabilities mEIAE 3,293
Net assets EEFAE 4,395
Carrying amount of NCI JEE R EEREEE 2,154
Revenue Was 1,570
Loss for the year Kifgl’éﬂ% (32)
Profit allocated to NCI 7 BEE I AR R 2 008 (16)
Cash flows used in operating activities CETEBFARESRE (1,438)
Cash flows from financing activities RERFMEREME (218)

The total comprehensive (loss)/income after Tonnett Group
consolidation adjustments of the Hangzhou Qingda Kequi Biological
Technology Company Limited and Baijin (Hangzhou) Life Science Co.,
Ltd for the period from 9 February 2024 to 31 March 2024, were
amounted to approximately (HK$784,000) and (HK$32,000), respectively,
of which amounted to approximately (HK$267,000) and (HK$16,000)
respectively were allocated to the non-controlling interests.

The net assets/(liabilities) after non-controlling interests and group
consolidation adjustments of the Hangzhou Qingda Kequi Biological
Technology Company Limited and Baijin (Hangzhou) Life Science Co.,
Ltd as at 31 March 2024, amounted to approximately HK$22,734,000 and
HK$4,395,000 respectively. The non-controlling interests of the Tonnett
Group were amounted to approximately HK$7,730,000 and
HK$2,154,000, respectively.

MMBEARHR EMREER AR RES
() £ RIEBR AR 2024F2H9
BZE2024 3831 BEENE2®E (&
18),/ WA B85 (& Tonnett E@ & fF AR
%) D RI# A& (784,000 7T) K (32,00058
L) - HAF 55 Z’J (267,000 7T) &
(1600078 70) 7 BL = FE 1= P b 2 o

MMEREBHREYRIEER A AT
(M) £ RI2ER A RN 2024F 3 A
NNHMEE/(AE) F58 (KIEEME
= hEBEMHARRE) DDA
22,734,000 7T & 4,395,000 JT ° Tonnett
EE M IEIE RS D B4 57,730,000 74
JC % 2,154,000 78 JC °
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For the year ended 31 March 2024  #({Z2024F3A31 A ILFE

42. THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE 42, AR5\ 2 M EE R
COMPANY
A B AR DL A

Statement of financial position

As at 31 March 2024 7A2024%F3 HA31H

2024 2023
2024 F 20235
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
fisE FTAER FET
(restated Note 3)
(&5 - H&E3)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RIB AR ZIRE 11,198 11,198
Amounts due from subsidiaries A ENGTE G 134,534 53,640
145,732 64,838
Current assets REBEE
Cash and cash equivalents HEEERRS 345 2453
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables H e RR X 11,521 6,955
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEMHB AR FIE 45,303 34,846
56,824 41,801
Net current liabilities FEBEERE
Convertible bond P EH 39,712 -
Defined benefits plan obligations THEMNTEERFE 454 471
40,166 471
Net (liabilities)assets (BB EESH 49,087 25,019
EQUITY i
Equity attributable to equity KATBRRELER
holders of the Company
Share capital N 31 13,585 12,786
Reserves HiE (@) 35,502 12,233
Total equity B 49,087 25,019
The statement of financial position of the Company was approved by KNATBEARFTE R 202457 B 31

the Board of Directors on 31 July 2024 and is signed on its behalf.

Cheung Sze Ming Su Yaoyao
RS wIERE
Executive Director Executive Director
HITEF HITEF

BEZSHETHUTESRRES
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42. THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE
COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Note:

(a)

42, AT Z 8 E R (4])

Annual Report 2024 F

Statement of financial position (Continued) WBAR VLR ()
Bt 3
Reserves mov t of the Company (a) ARRREED
Share
Share option Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
B3 %E BRRERAE At E8 “@st
HKS$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET FAET FET
At 1 April 2022 R202F4/18 592,751 8,753 (613,091) (11,587)
Loss for the year (restated) REEFBE(KE]) - (2,559) (2,559)
Placing of new shares (Note 31(a)) B2 & 3% (MI=E31() 26,379 - 26,379
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 R2023F3A31H
&2023F 4818 619,130 8,753 (615,650) 12,233
Lapsed of Share Options B AR 2Rk - (8,753) 8,753 =
Loss for the year KEFEEFBRE - - (3,500) (3,500)
Issue of new shares (Note 31(b)) BITHRD (BIRE31() 26,769 = = 26,769
At 31 March 2024 A2024F3 A31H 645,899 - (610,397) 35,502
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43. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 43. #3045 J HE 5

(@) EFME

(a) Directors’ emoluments

BEFZMEEOT

The remuneration of every director is set out below:

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE2024F3A31BLEFE

EREE (TmARRHENE
RAEIER) cRBENTEEFRE

Aggregate emoluments paid to or receivable by directors in
respect of their services as directors, whether of the company or

its subsidiary undertaking:

FRK BT

Employers
Equity contribution
settled toa
share- retirement
based benefit
Fees Salary payments scheme Total
RELEN  EXHEHK
REeBEE  BIFEN
Name of director EEpg He #é DELE? Ha @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER THET TER TET
Executive directors HTES
Mr. Cheng Chi Kin (Chairman) HFEEE(FE)
(re-designated on 26 March (P 2024538268
2024) FE) - 392 - 18 410
Mr. Leung Alex (retired on R F & (R 03 F
30 August 2023) 8A30ARME) 50 - - - 50
Mr. Cheung Sze Ming RESHEAE - 884 - 18 902
Dr. Su Yaoyao (appointed on HERET (R 04F
26 March 2024) 3RBBEZA) 6 - - - 6
Mr. Dong Peng ) pes 413 - - - 413
469 1,276 - 36 1,781
Non-executive director FYTES
Mr. Zhu Yongjun REBLAE 240 = = = 240
Mr. Cheng ChiKin BFEREE (20245
(re-designated on 26 March 3R 26 RERT)
2024) 3 - - - 3
243 - - - 243
Independent BUFHTES
non-executive directors
Mr. Chiu Sin Nang, Kenny BEERLAE (P03 F
(resigned on 10 May 2023) 5SA10BEHT) 20 - - - 20
Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe BREE 192 - - - 192
Mr. Chang Chunyu FENLLE 192 - - - 192
Mr. Lee Ka Leung Daniel (appointed 5 4 4 (1722023 F
on 29 November 2023) 1NAVBEZA) 73 - - - 73
477 - - - 477
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For the year ended 31 March 2024  #(ZE2024F3A31HILFE

43. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 43, #=F 5 L HE R (4])

(CONTINUED)
(a) Directors emoluments (Continued) (a) HFEM4 ()
The remuneration of every director and the chief executive is set BEEZRITHEH 2Me5 &
out below: K
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BZE2023F3A31ALEFE
Aggregate emoluments paid to or receivable by directors in MERES (TwRARFILEMNMES
respect of their services as directors, whether of the company or RAEER) 2RBENTESHE
its subsidiary undertaking: ERKZHEME
Employers
Equity  contribution
settled toa
share- retirement
based benefit
Fees Salary payments scheme Total
FRIEEE LA EFHERIK
D REHR BRI 2
Name of director EENE we H& BEGE 3k it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FER TET TR THT THIL
Executive directors HTES
Mr. Cheng Chi Kin (Chairman) BFEREL (F5) - 390 - 18 408
Mr. Leung Alex R ILE 120 - - - 120
Mr. Cheung Sze Ming R E - 884 - 18 902
120 1,274 - 36 1430
Non-executive director FYTES
Mr. Zhu Yongjun (appointed REELE (R20nF
on 9 September 2022) ORIHEZRMT) 135 - - - 135
Independent BUFHTES
non-executive directors
Mr. Chiu Sin Nang, Kenny BEEEE (R0BF
(resigned on 10 May 2023) SAT0RET) 180 = = = 180
Mr. Dong Bo, Frederic EREE (R0
(resigned on 11 October2022) 10 A 11 B &HE) 95 = = = 95
Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe BNREE 180 = = - 180
Mr.Chang Chunyu (appointed ~ # &R £ (R 20226
on 17 November 2022) NA17REZA) 67 - - - 67

522 = = = 522
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Er o s R Bk

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #(ZE2024F3 4318 IEFE

43. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

(@

(b)

(©)

(d)

Directors emoluments (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2023 (Continued)

Notes:

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their services in
connection with the management of the affairs of the Company and the Group. The
non-executive director's emoluments shown above were mainly for their services as
directors of the Company or its subsidiaries. The independent non-executive
directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their services as directors of the

Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, no directors agreed to waive their partial
emoluments voluntarily (2023: Nil).

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, there is no Chief Executive Officer
(the "CEO") of the Group employed. In the absence of the CEO, the duties of the CEO
have been to be collectively undertaken by all executive directors of the Company.

Directors’ retirement benefits and termination
benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any retirement
benefits or termination benefits during the year (2023: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company did not pay
consideration to any third parties for making available directors’
services (2023: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled
bodies corporate by and connected entities with
such directors

During the year ended 31 March 2024, there were no loans, quasi-
loans and other dealing arrangements in favour of directors, or
controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities with such
directors (2023: Nil).

43. #HH kB HE ik (A)

(@

(b)

(©

(d)

wHEHEMWE (H)
HZ2023F3A31BLFE (&)

MEE

EXFRBITESEZBE T EANRERR
RUEEARFRAKEEHERABEZR
%o EXFRAFATER 2 ME T EMNE
SERRARARNEMBRARERMIBM
R - EXFRBELIFRITERT MEEE
MR REERARBTERARE R -

REZE204F383HIEFE  BEEER
BERERERS 2B S (2023F : &) -

HZE204F K2023F3831ALLFE  AE
EimEATRAR (THRAR] -BZ
TBBHENERT  THRESOBEEAA
RIZBMITEF LR AE -

o Z SR A A ) S e A A

AEEABEESC WA
ERUAE ] 2R R 4% 1) S Bl B 42 1) (2023
FE) -

U B2 A3t 3 = R 5 T e 58 =0
gt 2 AUf

REE2024F3A3HIEFE K
NEWEFERBEEFRE MM
ERE=ZFIARAE (2023 F - ) -

AR HES - E R 2%
Ak~ R AR 5 2 ERE

REZE204F3A31HILFE - #
BAIVANEERES 2 ZEH1E
BB EERASEAZER
EERREMR H % (2023 F -
) o
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For the year ended 31 March 2024  #(ZE2024F3A31HILFE

43. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 43, #=F 5 L HE R (4])

(CONTINUED)

(e) Directors’ material interests in transactions, () EHENRG RHEGHTZ
arrangements or contracts EPN £
Save as disclosed in these consolidated financial statements, no BRZERE MBS MERTIEEEIN
significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to ARG B RS AN [ A (] ]
the Company’s business to which the Company was a party and in RARWEEFTEMS RAR A
which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether ZEBMARGB cEESHEXHE
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time BEEEAREEAERIEER
during the year (2023: Nil). S B REH (2023F : #]&) -

44. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 44. bk B K
STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for FAMBBRN204FTANBEES

issued by the board of directors on 31 July 2024 GHOE R E -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024  #({Z2024F3A31 A ILFE

RESULTS B

For the year ended 31 March
BZE3A3MBLEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
2024 F 2023 F 2022 2021 4 20204
(restated)?
(FEE5))@
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET T T
Revenue WA 53,676 86,830 62,647 43324 111,978
(Loss)/profit before BRATISRLAT (B518),
income tax i ) (8,529) 8,676 (15,462) (52,077) (280,402)
Income tax (expense)/credit ~ FT{5H (FsZ), % (16) - - 292 (1,420)
(Loss) profit for the year FE(BE) &R (8,545) 8,676 (15,462) (51,785) (281,822)
(Loss)/profit for the year UTALTEREFE
attributable to: (BE),/&F
Owners of the Company ZiN/NIE SN (7,448) 8,676 (15,462) (51,785) (281,822)
Non-controlling interests FEFE IR A (1,097) - - - -
(8,545) 8,676 (15,462) (51,785) (281,822)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES & KA
At 31 March
MW3A31H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
2024 F 2023 F 2022 4F 2021 4F 20205
(restated)?
(K& E5))@
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHER FHET FHET FHET FHT
Total assets BB E 196,802 99,851 82,109 91,765 158,657
Total liabilities BvaE (84,010) (21,563) (46,242) (45,820) (73,525)
Net assets BEFAE 112,792 78,288 35,867 45,945 85,132
Non-controlling interests eI i = (16,484) = 7 > i
Equity attributable to owners AR &1 #E G A
of the Company el 96,308 78,288 35,867 45,945 85,132
Notes: fteE -

(1) The financial figures were extracted from the consolidated financial statements in the annual (1) HEE TR FRZIZEAEMBHRE -
report.

) Certain figures are restated as per note 3 to the consolidated financial statements. @) BT eBERBGRE M BHRE LM FAES -
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